
We Care for
Human
Wellness





Truth
in everything we do

We Care for
Human
Wellness

Trust
our people as adults who know

what needs to be done

Respect
for each other’s differences

Freedom
in work and personal lives
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THE MEGA
WAY

IS TO BUILD A THINKING ORGANIZATION WHICH
WILL CHANGE BEFORE IT IS FORCED TO AND LIVE AND

GROW BEYOND EACH OF US.
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PEOPLE 
FIRST

EACH ONE OF US IS DIFFERENT AND BRINGS HIS OR 
HER DISTINCT ABILITIES TO THE TEAM. A TEAM IS MADE 
UP OF PASSIONATE, COMMITTED AND CARING 

PEOPLE WHO BRING DIFFERENT VIEWS.
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IS TO PROVIDE QUALITY PRODUCTS AND  
SERVICES TO THE CUSTOMERS AND CONSUMERS THROUGH 
CONSTANT IMPROVEMENT AND INNOVATION.
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THE MEGA 
OBJECTIVE
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IS TO CREATE VALUE BY IMPROVING  
HEALTH IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES
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Our business segments

THB 3,558 mn 
44.8%

THB 3,907 mn 
49.2%

THB 480 mn 
6.0%

Mega 
We CareTM MaxxcareTM

OEM

Sales Contribution
FY2015 Total Sales: THB 7,945 mn

W M

EM

Gross Profit Contribution
FY2015 Gross Profit: THB 3,406 mn

THB 125 mn 
3.7%THB 2,532 mn 

74.3% THB 749 mn 
22.0%

 TM

MaxxcareTM distribution business

TM

Mega We CareTM branded products businessKey investment highlights
Market leading own consumer health and pharmaceutical brands in 
fast growing developing markets

Leading distributor of pharmaceutical and OTC products in select
frontier markets of Myanmar, Vietnam and Cambodia

Focused on fast growing markets including a unique established 
market leading presence in the Myanmar market

High quality products manufactured in world-class 4 manufacturing 
facilities accredited by international regulatory agencies

Strong product pipeline driven by an efficient and targeted
product development strategy 

Proven track record of delivering growth and profitability 

Experienced management team instrumental in building the business 
is significantly invested in the Company

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

2528
1985

2537
1994

2557
2014

2562
2019

We expect the Mega We CareTM Brands
revenue and profits to double in 5 years

The future of our past and present

Achieved leadership position in Indochina 
markets

Became leading international distribution 
company in Myanmar, Vietnam and Cambodia

Became the largest OEM supplier of 
soft gel caps out of Southeast Asia

OEM business

2558
2015

2557
2014

2556
2013

Revenue split by geography 

 

2557
2014 2,898 388 119 206

2556
2013 2,676 330 190 232

2558
2015 3,182 445 88 191

3,612

3,428

3,907

2558
2015

2557
2014

2556
2013

Others

25
59

16

33
7

59
.5

19
53

29

3,428

3,612
3,907

473

424

480

35 customers 
located in 8 countries

3,132

3,694
3,558

We are a leading distributor of pharmaceutical and 
OTC products in select frontier markets

MEGA is a leading participant in the health and wellness 
industry in developing countries. Our business may be 
categorized into three segments
  TM

   Mega We CareTM branded products business

2. TM

   MaxxcareTM  distribution business
     

   OEM business

2558
2015

2557
2014

2556
2013

2558
2015

2557
2014

2556
2013

 

Australia Thailand

SEA OthersAfrica CIS

OEM

Mega 
We CareTM

MaxxcareTM



PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

1
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2

3

1

mn
reTM

TM
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1
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3

1

2

3

2558
2015
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2014

2556
2013

7,034
7,730

7,945

2558
2015

2557
2014

2556
2013

624 548

696

2558
2015

2557
2014

2556
2013

466

614 609

mn

 7,945 mn

mn

mn

MAXXCARE OEMMEGA WE CARE

3,
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2
3,

42
8

3,
90

7

3,
69

4
3,

13
2

3,
55

8

42
4

47
3

48
0

mn

2556
2013

2557
2014

2558
2015
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MESSAGE FROM THE 
CHAIRMAN

2015 marks Mega Lifesciences’ second full year as 
a publicly-listed company on the Stock Exchange 
of Thailand (SET). It has been a year of success, 
expansion and innovation for Mega Lifesciences. 
I would like to open with the acknowledgement of 
the support from our shareholders over the past 
year, which allowed us to maintain our market 
reputation and consistent performance while in the 
spotlight of investors and analysts alike. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CEO AND 
CHIEF COACH

Following our establishment over three decades 
ago,  we are honored to say that today Mega 
Lifesciences remains  just as dedicated to our  
continuous efforts to cultivate passion and care for 
‘Human Wellness’ internationally. This is a journey 
that we have undertaken with the hard work of our 
people and support of our shareholders, customers 
and business partners. And for that we are and 
always will be grateful. 
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‘Megaveda’ 
 ‘Natural We Care’
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

01 03

04

05

06 07

08
09

10

02
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MR. MECHAI VIRAVAIDYA 

MR. ALAN KAM 

MR. MANU SAWANGJAENG 

MR. THOR SANTISIRI 

MR. KIRIT SHAH 

MR. ISHAAN SHAH 

MS. SAMEERA SHAH 

MR. SHIRAZ ERACH POONEVALA 

MR. VIVEK DHAWAN 

MR. THOMAS ABRAHAM 
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

 

 MR. VIVEK DHAWAN

     

    MR. THOMAS ABRAHAM

 MR. PARAMJIT SINGH SAWHNEY

 MS. DUANGNAPA TONGSIRI

 

 MR. GIRISH WADHWA

 

 MR. MANOJ GURBUXANI 

04

06
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03

05

02



THE MEGA JOURNEY

WE HAVE EVOLVED FROM AN OEM PLAYER INTO A LEADING INTERNATIONAL 
CONSUMER HEALTHCARE AND PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANY

1985-1986

1995-1996

 

•  Received approval from Thai FDA for   
    Samut Prakarn Facility in Thailand

•  Began manufacturing Nifedipine for 
     Berlin  Pharmaceutical Industry Co., Ltd.

Expanded into Vietnam, Myanmar and 
Cambodia to sell branded products and 
 operate distribution business

1982
Incorporated

1993-1934
 

Commenced branded products business 
Acquired Medicrafts branda



2012

 

• Market leading branded products in key 
 Southeast Asian markets

• Leading distributor of pharmaceutical and   
OTC products

• Announced acquisition of Eugica

 
 

(OEM)

STARTED AS AN OEM  
MANUFACTURER

 

ENTERED BRANDED PRODUCTS 
AND DISTRIBUTION BUSINESS; 
GEOGRAPHICAL EXPANSION

 

EMERGED AS A LEADING BRANDED 
AND DISTRIBUTION COMPANY

 

Relocated into new plant in Australia  
Expanded manufacturing capacity in  
Thailand IPO & Listing on Stock 
Exchange of Thailand

2002

Established manufacturing plant 
in Australia

2014-2015

 

• Africa focus
• Long term in the form of Share 

warrants compensation

2013



GLOBAL REACH

BRANDED PRODUCTS SALES 
IN 31 COUNTRIES

1. Azerbaijan
2. Belarus
3. Cambodia
4. Denmark
5. Ghana
6. Hong Kong
7. Indonesia
8. Kazakhstan
9. Kenya
10. Burundi
11. Malaysia
12. Mongolia
13. Myanmar 
14. Nigeria
15. Peru
16. Philippines

SOUTH  AMER ICA

17. Russia
18. Rwanda
19. Singapore
20. Sri Lanka
21. Tanzania
22. Thailand
23. Trinidad and Tobago 
24. Uganda
25. Ukraine
26. United Arab Emirates 
27. Uzbekistan
28. Vietnam
29. Yemen
30. Ethiopia 
31 Sudan

34 years
 

since Mega commenced 
operations in Thailand

More than 19 years

since Mega commenced operations  
in Myanmar, Vietnam and Cambodia



AFR ICA

AS IA

EUROPE

AUSTRAL I A

3,930 

Number of employees based in Indochina.

 

of 2015 total revenue from 
branded products accounted 
for in Thailand, Myanmar, 
Vietnam and Cambodia

70.8%
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NATURE OF BUSINESS

98.2
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Consumer Health
US$ 210.8 billion

OTC 
Healthcare
US$98.2 
billion

VDS
US$88.3 
billion

Weight 
Management

US$13.7 
billion

Sports 
Nutrition 
US$10.6 
billion

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The pharmaceutical market is commonly defined as the market for drugs or pharmaceuticals licensed for 
use as (prescription) medications. The consumer health market is commonly defined as the market for 
nutritionals (including non-prescription vitamins, supplements, minerals, and herbal products) and OTC 
pharmaceutical products (including cough & cold, allergy, analgesics, dermatological, gastrointestinal, 
and lifestyle drugs, such as smoking control, eye care, ear care etc).
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Asia-Pacific vs the Rest of the World 

7%

%

%

4%

%

%

%

%
4 47 7



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 29

Ov
er

vie
w

Ma
na

ge
m

en
t

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Go

ve
rn

an
ce

Fin
an

cia
l I

nf
or

m
at

ion
Ge

ne
ra

l I
nf

or
m

at
ion

THE NEW PROFILE OF THE CONSUMER 
IN HEALTH

A growing number of consumers suffering from 
metabolic syndrome are at an increased risk of  
developing non-communicable chronic diseases 
such as diabetes, cardiovascular problems and 
cancer.

%
%

%

Forecast Consumer Health Sales by Category 2013-2018

4%

Dietary Supplements and Vitamins at the Fore

4 %

Asia-Pacific vs the Rest of the World 
%

4 %

4 7

7

4

%

4 4

Total Global Supplement Sales and Growth, 2004-2017e

4

4

%

7%

%

%

4%

%

%

%

%
4 47 7
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TM

4

2010
101

+3.8%

2011
10 .

+4.1%

2012
10 .

+3.7%

2013
114.

+4.6%

2014
11 .1

+4.0%

2010-14
+4.1%

2015-19
+4.5%
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OTCs Outperforming Global Growth Indicators 
& Rx market

Future of Trends in Consumer Health Care Industry

Mega We CareTM branded products

1 s

2 s s

3 s

s
4

2010
101.4

+3.8%

2011
105.6

+4.1%

2012
109.5

+3.7%

2013
114.5

+4.6%

2014
119.1

+4.0%

2010-14
+4.1%

2015-19
+4.5%
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4

4

CAGR (‘08-’16) : 3.2%

4
7 777

4 4 4 4 4 4 4

4 7

19%

11%

7
44

4

77
7

7 4
4 7

4

 

4

7 4

2009 to 2018 Market Outlook :
16% CAGR to $4.8 Bn.
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Thailand :

%

Thailand pharmaceutical and consumer health market size 
(2008-2016) in USD million

4

Vietnam:

% 4 4

2009 to 2018 Market Outlook :
16% CAGR to $4.8 Bn.

4

4

CAGR (‘08-’16) : 3.2%

4
7 777

4 4 4 4 4 4 4

4 7

19%

11%

7
44

4

77
7

7 4
4 7

The following picture sets forth details of 10 of our top selling products as of Dec 31 ,2015

4
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4
7

4

4 4

 

4

4 4

7

TM
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% %

Over-the-counter market share (%) QTR 3 MAT 2015

Myanmar :

%

%

Africa :

4%

%
4

%

Our MaxxcareTM distribution business

4
7

4

4 4
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The following are pictures of our warehouses and operations in Myanmar.

 
The following are pictures of our warehouses and operations in Vietnam.

Our OEM business

s s s

s s
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POLICY AND OVERVIEW  
OF BUSINESS

 
 
 
 

7

4
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OUR HISTORY AND IMPORTANT DEVELOPMENTS 
1. Our history

an initial registered capital of Baht 5,000,000.  The founder of the Company was Mr 

capsules with our first manufacturing facility located in SamutPrakarn, Thailand. 
At that time, Thailand did not have any soft gel capsule manufacturer and was 
completely reliant on importing finished soft gel products from Germany, Australia 
and elsewhere. Our manufacturing facility started with two production lines and 
had an annual production capacity of 230 million soft gel capsules.    

4
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4

4

4

2525

2528

2529

2531
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2. Significant developments in our business

s ss s s

1982

1985

1986

1988
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2532

2533

2536-2537

2538-2539

2539

47

2540
47 4

7 7
4

2543

2544

2545

2546
7
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s ss s s

1989

1990

1993-1994

1995-1996

1996

47

1997

47 4

7 7

4

2000

2001

2002

2003

7
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2547

2548

2549

2551-2553

2551

2552

2553

2554

2555

7
4
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s ss s s

2004

2005

2006

2008-2010

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

4
4
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4

4

2556

4

2557-2558

4 4
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s ss s s

2013

4

2014-2015

4 4
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7
4 4

3

1

2

3
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

%

7 %
%

s ss s s

1 s s ss

2 s s ss

3 s ss
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31 2556 31 2557 31 2558

1 1 1

4 4 7 7 4 4 4 4

4 7 4

4 44 4 47 44

4 7 7 4 4 4

4 7 4

4 4 4 4

47 7 4 4 4

4 7 4

7,098.5 100.0 7,767.9 100.0 8,039.1 100.0

4 7 7
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BUSINESS SEGMENT REVENUE 

31, 2013 31, 2014 31, 2015

% 1 % 1 % 1

4 4 7 7 4 4 4 4

4 7 4

4 44 4 47 44

4 7 7 4 4 4

4 7 4

4 4 4 4

47 7 4 4 4

4 7 4

7,098.5 100.0 7,767.9 100.0 8,039.1 100.0

s

4 7 7
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31 2556 31 2557 31 2558

1 1 1

2

»

» 4 7 7 4 4

7 4 4 4

4 4

3,132.4 100.0 3,694.1 100.0 3,558.1 100.0

» 7 4

» 4 4 7 7 7 7

7 4 7

7 4 7

3,428.1 100.0 3,611.9 100.0 3,906.6 100.0

» 7

» 7 7 7 4 447

7 7 4 4 4 4

473.0 100.0 424.1 100.0 480.0 100

7,033.5 100.0 7,730.0 100.0 7,944.7 100
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31, 2013 31, 2014 31, 2015

% 1 % 1 % 1

s ss s

s s ss2

»

» 4 7 7 4 4

7 4 4 4

4 4

3,132.4 100.0 3,694.1 100.0 3,558.1 100.0

s s ss

» 7 4

» 4 4 7 7 7 7

7 4 7

7 4 7

3,428.1 100.0 3,611.9 100.0 3,906.6 100.0

s ss

» 7

» 7 7 7 4 447

7 7 4 4 4 4

473.0 100.0 424.1 100.0 480.0 100

7,033.5 100.0 7,730.0 100.0 7,944.7 100

s
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10

31 2556 31 2557 31 2558

1 1 1

7 4

7 7 7 4

7 7

4 7 4 4 4

4 7

4 4

4 7 7

4 4 7

7 4

4 7

44 4 4 4 7

7033.5 100.0 7,730.0 100.0 7,944.7 100
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10 s

31, 2013 31, 2014 31, 2015

% 1 % 1 % 1

7 4

7 7 7 4

7 7

4 7 4 4 4

4 7

4 4

4 7 7

4 4 7

7 4

4 7

44 4 4 4 7

7033.5 100.0 7,730.0 100.0 7,944.7 100
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1

4 4

-

2

7 7

7

7

»

»

99.99

3

4

44

4 74
4

4

»

»

99.99
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OUR GROUP STRUCTURE

s s ss s

s

1 s s

s 4 4

-

2 s s

s

7 7

ss
7

7

»

»

99.99

3 s s

s 4

4 74
4

ss
4

»

»

99.99
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4

4
4

7 4
7 4 44

99.96

5

7

7 4
7 4 44

99.99

6

7 4
7 4 44

99.99
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s s ss s

s

4

s 4

7 4
7 4 44

ss

99.96

5 s

s
4

7 4
7 4 44

ss

99.99

6 s s

s

7 4
7 4 44

ss

99.99
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7 -

4

7 4
7 4 44

99.96

8

4

7
7 7

99.99

9

4

4
4

99.99
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s s ss s

s

7 - s

s

7 4
7 4 44

ss

99.96

8 s s

s 4

7
7 7

ss

99.99

9 s s s
s

s
7

4
4

ss

99.99
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s s ss s

s

10 s s

s

4 7 444
4

ss

99.99

11 s s . .
s

s 7 7 4
4

7 4

ss

4

99.99

12 s s . . .

s

4

ss
4

99.99
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99.99 % 99.99 % 99.99 % 99.99 % 49.00 %

E-SENSE LIMITED 
(THAILAND)

OUR CURRENT GROUP STRUCTURE

NATURAL HEALTH FOODS 
LIMITED (THAILAND)

MEGA WE CARE LIMITED 
(THAILAND)

MEGA LIFESCIENCES
L.L.C. LIMITED (UKRAINE)

MEGA LIFESCIENCES 
LIMITED (MYANMAR)

MEGA LIFESCIENCES 
PTY. LIMITED  
(CAMBODIA)

MEGA LIFESCIENCES 
(VIETNAM) LIMITED 
(VIETNAM)

PT MEGA 
LIFESCIENCES  
(INDONESIA)

MEGA LIFESCIENCES  
SDN. BHD.  
(MALAYSIA)

MEGA LIFESCIENCES 
PTE. LTD. 
(SINGAPORE)

MEGA LIFESCIENCES 
PVT. LTD. (INDIA)

MEGA LIFESCIENCES 
(AUSTRALIA) PTY. LTD. 
(AUSTRALIA)

MEGA LIFESCIENCES 
NIGERIA LIMITED 
(NIGERIA)

MEGA PRODUCTS 
(YEMEN) LIMITED 
(YEMEN)

99.99 %

99.96 %

99.96 % 100.00 %

99.99 % 99.99 % 99.99 % 98.99 % 99.99%

MEGA PRODUCTS 
(MAURITIUS) LTD 
(MAURITIUS)

MEGA LIFESCIENCES 
PTY. PERU SAC  
(PERU)

99.99 % 99.99 %

MEGA LIFESCIENCES PTY. 
LTD. (THAILAND)

99.99 %

MEGA LIFESCIENCES PUBLIC COMPANY LIMITED  
(THAILAND)
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RISK FACTORS
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MaxxcareTM 
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Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited (Company) identifies its risks 
and manages them by building mitigation processes as a part of its 
business strategy. The Company continues to grow and by identifying 
and efficiently managing its risks in an ever changing competition and political 
landscape. The following text describes the key risks faced by the Company and 
which may have a significant impact on our operations:

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS OPERATIONS
1. Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be negatively 

affected if we are unable to compete effectively in our markets. 

h  h t  t   h h  t t    t t    t   t t  
t   t t   h t   h th  t    t   t  th 

 t   t t   h t  t   th  h th  t  
 h t  h h  t   

h     t   t t   t t  t    t   th t  
   t   t t   t  t h   t     th t   

t t   t   t    t  t h        th t 
    t   t  t h    t   t t  

 h   t  t     t t        t   

th   t t  t     t  t  h   t  t  h  
  h  t   t h  h  t  t  t t   

th   th     h    h   t  h t   t    
   t  h   t  t   t    

 t t    t   

2.  Our failure to maintain the principals of our MaxxcareTM distribution business 
segment could have a negative effect on our business.

  t t    t t  t t   t  t  t  th h 
 t t  t  th t t  t     t t  t t    t  

   



72

     

  
    

 
   

   
44   47   

   7   
    

  
    

  

     
 

    
  

   
   

   
     
  

   
 

   
 

  
 

  
     

  
  

  
    

  

   
   

  
  

   
  

TM 

 
   

  

     
  

   
  

  

 
   

    
    

   
  

  
 

   
 

        
    

 
  

t h    
 

  
   

   
 

 

    
   

   
  
   

  
  

   
 

   
   

   
   

 
 

    
  



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 73

Ov
er

vie
w

Ma
na

ge
m

en
t

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Go

ve
rn

an
ce

Fin
an

cia
l I

nf
or

m
at

ion
Ge

ne
ra

l I
nf

or
m

at
ion

 t  t  t t        
t   th  t    t t   

 t t  h th    t   t t  
h t   t t       

   t  t t  h h t   
44 %  47 %   t      

    4      
 t    t  t t  h t  t 

t  th  t  t  t  t  t  t  
  h   h h     
th    t   th  t t  t t  th  

t    

h  t  h h t   t t  
 t   t  h t t   t    
   th      t t   

 th  t   th  t

 t   th t th      

t t    t  t   t  t    
 t  t   t   th t h t t  
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   t  t h  t t  t h    
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 t   th t th   t  t  h  

  t h  th   t     
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t h   h   t  t h th   t t  
  t  t  h h   th   

 t   t  t t  th  t   

 t     t t  t  th  
   t t     t t   

t  t  t   t    th t    t   
 th  t  t t  t    

t   t    t   th t  
t t   t t  th  t t  ht   h t   

h     t  t    th    
  t t     th  t  

     t t    th   
t t    t t       

  t  t   t    
t t    t  t    t  

3.  If we are unable to operate our MaxxcareTM 

distribution business efficiently, our business 
may be negatively affected. 

 t  t  t th      th   
 t t     t    

  t  t  t    t t  

   th  t         
 h   t   h t     

   t  t  t    h t  
 t  h h  t     t  t  th 
t t t  

 t   t  t t  t t    
 th  t t  t      t  t   
t t  t  h h  t    h   

 t t     t  t  h  
t    h    t  t  t t  t  

  t  t  t   t t    
 t    t      
t t  

4.  We may not be successful in introducing new 
products. 

   t  t  th     
t  th       t  

   t  t    t   t  
t   t  t    t  th h 
 t   th h  t t  th   

t  th  t   t h     
  t   t    

 h  th      t t   h h  
t   t  t  t   t  

th t   t    th  t    
t   t   t   th      

t t   t    t   th  
 

 t  t t  t   t  
    th t   t     

t    th  th   t t    
 t  t t t  t    

t   h  t  t  
  th t    t     h h 

    

 t      t  th  t t    
    t  t  t  t   

  t t   t    
t    t   t t  
t   t   t   h t   t t  

th  t  h   t  h h   t   
t t   t h   t t  t t 

t    t t

 t   t t    h    
t t     th  t th t   t  

  t    t   t      
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t    t  h   t  t 
  t   t   t   

 t t    t   

h   t  h h  t th   t  
   t    t    th  

th  t    t  t   th  t  
 t   t  t  t  t  

t     th  t   th    h  
t     t   h   t  
t    t   t   t  

  t t    t  

5. We rely on our distributors for transacting sales 
of our Mega We CareTM branded products. 

th  th    t       
h  h   h  t    t t  t t  
  th  t  t t  t  t t      

 t   h t t

  th t  t     t h  t  
t  th h th t  t t  th h  h  

t h  t  t h  th   th   

 t      t t    th  
t  th   th  t  th    

t h  th  th      th t  t t  
 t  t t   th  t    th  t th t 

 t    t t   t t  t  
th   t h  th    t  t  
t t    t   t   t  

  t t    t  t   
t t    t t  t t  t  

  t   

6.  The continued success of our marketing and 
sales team is subject to a variety of risks.

h     t    t   t t  
t   

» t  t   t  t  t   
t    t  t  t  t 

h    th      t  
 

»  t  t t    th  t t   
 t  t t    th  t

» t  t   t  h       
t  

»  t  h  t    th   t   
  t  

»  t   th th  t   th  th  t  
 t  t      t  

 t t   t

h     h t   h   t  
t    t   t   t  
t t    t t    t   

7.  If our raw material costs increase, or if we are 
unable to procure raw materials at acceptable 
prices and quality, it may negatively affect 
our business. 

     t      
   h   th    4 t  

  t    t  t   t   
  4  t   

   th   h h      
   t  h   th  t  t  t  t  

        th  t   
t  t  t  t   t    

t     th  t   th  t   t  
 t   t   th t     t  

      t  t  t   t  
h h  t  t   t   t  

  t    t    

  t  t   t   t t  t 
t t   h h t   t  t  t  
    t    h   t   t t  

t  t   t  th  t   
   t   t   h t   
t t   t   h       

t   t t t    t    t  
t   th  t      t  t  t 

 t  h    t   t t    
     t  t   t   t 

 h     t    th t  t 
      th  t  th t 

 t   t  t  h   t  t 
 t    t  t   
t   t    t    t  

8.  We rely largely on our own manufacturing 
and storage facilities in the manufacturing 
and storage of our products.  Any disruption 
of our current facilities or in the development 
of new facilities could reduce or restrict sales 
and have a negative effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations in 
a material manner. 

      t   t  
t   th  t  t       

 t         h  
t  t  h  t    th   th  

t t  t t h  t    t t  
t  h t  t t tt       h   
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t  t   th    th  t  
 t    t  t  t  t   
t    h  t   t   
t t     t    t  t t h  

t    t   t   t t  
th   t  t  h    h  t 

 t   t  t   t  
 t   t    t t  
  t  

 t   t  t     
 t    th  t t  

t    t  t   t   
t  t  t    t  t 

 t  t   th  t th t  t  
  t    th th  t 

t t  t  h h    t   
 t   h      t  t     

  t t  t     th   
t  t       t  th  t  

t   t   t t    t  t  
h       t   t t  

 th  t t  th t

9.  The existence of counterfeit products in the 
pharmaceutical retail market may damage 
our brand and reputation and have a negative 
effect on our business, financial condition, results  
of operations and commercial opportunities.

t  t  t t     th  h t   
h th  t  t  t  t    t  

th t      t t   
t   th t t  th  t t  

t   h  t     t   t t 
t  h  t     t   th  

th t  t   t  th   t  t    
       t  th  th t  
t   th  t t t     t 

h  th   h  t t  th  th t  t t   

h  t t t t  t   t 
t    t t     t   t t  
  t  t  t  t    

 h t     t t t   th  
      t  t  t  
t    th  t t  t    t 

 t t  t   

 th  t  t   t t t   
 th  t    t t   t   

    h  th  t t    
      th    

 t t t  th t   t t t  th th  
t    t    t t   

      t     t  th  
t  t   t t h t  t  

  t  t   h   t  t   
 t   t   t   t t  

10.  If we are unable to protect our intellectual 
property, trademarks and trade secrets, our 
business, results of operations, financial  
condition and commercial opportunities could 
be negatively affected in a material manner. 

    t   t  t  t t  
t   t  t     t  t t 

 t   t  t t    h  
 th  t       th  t  

t t  t  

      h   h  ht 
 ht   7  t  t t   

th     t  t t    th  
    t   th t   

t  t    t  t    
  th  t   t  th  t   t   
 t   th t  t  t t    
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t      t t   
 t  t   t  t  

  h  t   t   th  t   

 t  t   t t      t h   
t t      t  t    

t t  h  t h   th  t   
t    h h    t t t  t  

  t  t   t t  t   t    t  
t t th  t  t   t  t  t   
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t  th  h     t  t  
 t  t  t  4  t t t  
 t t    th  th  t  
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th t    t   t  t   
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t t t  t  
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 t     t t    h   
ht t  t th    th t t h   t  
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t  t  th      t  t   t   
 t   t     t t   

t t  t  t    t   t  
  t t    t  t   

 t  

11.  There are certain risks associated with doing 
business in Myanmar.

 th      4  th    
   t  7%  %  %  

t    t t  t     
 

  7   h     th  
t t    t     th  
t t     t t    t t  

 th t      t   
7   h   t    

  th    t  th h t  
h  t t    t   

th h th  t   h   t  
t t t  t  t      
h  th    t t  t  h  th   

 t t t    t  t t  
t t     t t t   t     th h 

 t       h  t  
t t   t   th h  t   

tt  th  t   h  th   t h  
h   t  t t    t  

 t  t  t   th  t t t   
 tt  t  t  h h  h  
  th  t  t  

  t   t   th t t    
t       t   t h  

 t  t     t  t   
t    t t  h  h  

 th   t  th    h t  
 t  t   t   t   
t    t t    t  

12.  Vietnam’s inflation rate and the fluctuation in 
the value of the Vietnam Dong may lead to 
higher operating costs and expenses in respect 
of our Vietnam operations.

t  h    t t  h h t  t   
th  t t  4 %     

 t  th   t t t    t   
t  t   t t   th    th  t  

  th     th   th  
t   t  t th  t  t t   

 %     h     
t  t    h h     

   t   th  t t    th    
   4  th      

  ht 7 7 7     t  
 t   h h  t  t    th   

t   h    t   t   
t   t    t t   

 t   

13.  Our ability to set our prices solely in accordance 
with market forces is restricted in Vietnam by 
government price limits.

  h t  t   t   t 
t  th  t     th  t  t  

t   t    t  t   
t    h t  t   t  

 th     h t  t  t  
 h   t    t  t t   t 

     t  th   t t   
t    th      h    
  t    th   t  t t   

   t       t  
th      t  t  t  

  t    h    t  t   
   t   t  t  

 t  t   t  t    t  
 t t  t   t t  th  th    

t th t       t  

 h  th  t   t  t    t    
th t t     t   t t 

th  t     th t   t   th  t  
 th  t  t t  t   h   h  

 t  t     t  t   
t    t t    t    

14.  Changes in foreign currency exchange rates 
could negatively affect our business, results of 
operations financial condition, or commercial 
opportunities in a material manner.

  t  th   t t    t  
  th  th  th  h  ht h h  th   

 t  t  t   t    t  
   t t t   h     t  th  
  h h     h  t   th  
t th t  t t    th  t   h 

t     t   t
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15.  Our continued growth depends, in part, on 
increases in real disposable income and per 
capita spending across countries in which we 
operate, each of which may not grow as rapidly 
as it has in the past or may not grow at all.

          
t  t    t   h      
 h   t  t  t   th    

     h   t   t  
t  th     t  

h       t    t  
 t   h h  t  h     

t  h  t     t h   th  t 
  t  t  h h ht     

t  t   t    t t  t  
 t  t    t  

16.  We may not be able to fully comply with applicable 
regulatory and accounting requirements or 
renew our certifications and other permits 
and licenses which enable us to conduct our 
business.  Non-compliance with, changes in or 
amendments to these regulatory and accounting 
requirements could have a negative effect on 
our business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

 t   t t  t t    t  t  
t  t      t  th t  

 th  t   h h  t   t t

t t   h  t  t t    
t t    th  t   t t   
 t  h  t     t t   

  t  th  t t 
th t   t  t    th    th  t  

  t t  h      
  t    th  t   h  

 t  h   t  t  t  h   t 
  th t     t      

th  t    t t   t  t   
 t    t t  th t  t  t   

t    t     t   
t      t  t   

t   t   t    
t t    t   

th      t    t  t  
  t t    t t t   t t  

 th  t t t  h     t  
  t  t  t  t    t t  

 t   th t    t  th   th  
t th t   t  h t    t t  

th    t t  t     
 t      t t  t    

  th  t t  h h   t  
 t   t   t    

t t    t   

 t  t    t    t  
th     h t    

   t  h  t 
 t   th    t t  th   

t t t     t t  th t  
h  t   t t t t   t  th  
     t   t t   th  
h      t t t   th  

t   th  

17.  Failure to maintain adequate inventory levels 
could increase our operating costs or cause 
us to lose sales, either of which could have 
a negative effect on our business, results of 
operations, financial condition and commercial 
opportunities in a material manner. 

  t  t  t t   t  t   
    t      

t t       t  t t 
  t th   t     t  th     

t  t        

 t  

 t  th  t  t    t   
h   t   h     

t t     t h   t  
     th  t t   t  

 t   th t   t  t th  
t t   t    t   
t  t   th    

»   t   h  t  t  
th  t  t t     th  t  t  

  

» h    t  t    t t  th  t  
t  t  t t  t t   

t  

» th  h   t  t   t     
t  t  

t      t    t  
 tt      t  t   t  
 t      t  h  t   
  t t         

t   t    t      
t  h t  h h   t  t   

t    h   t  t  t  
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t h   h  th    h h  h   
t  t    t   t   
t    t t    t   

18.  The economic, political and social conditions 
and government policies in some of our major 
markets could affect our business, results of 
operations, financial condition and commercial 
opportunities. 

    4      t 
t    t       

    t  t   t  h  
 t        

 t  h h t   t  7%  
%   t      

 t   t   t     th  
th      t  t   t t t 

  t    t     th  
  t   h  t t  t   t 

t  t    th t  t  t  t   
t       

» tt  t  t    t  h t t  
  t    h   t    

t  t

»   t  

»  t t    t

» th  t  t

» t  t

»  t  t    h  t

» t  t  h  t   t   
t   t  t h  h  

t   th  t    t t  ht  

» t t    t t  t  t  

» h    t   h  t   
   th  t  t t   th  t

th h th    th    t  h   
t t   t ht  t t   t  

 t t   th  t   t  
t   h   t   t    th  

t  t   h  t   th    
t    t t   th   

th th h t   t  t  
  t  t  tt  t  

   t  t t t t  t  t  
   

 t  th  t   th    t  t  
   t t  h  h t   

h  th  t t   t   th   

 th  t   t t  h   t  t   
th  t h t   t     

t   h       t  
    t t   t  t  t  
  t   th  t     t    

th    t th    t  h  
 t  t   
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h  h t t t  th t  t th   t t  

 t   t  t t  t     
  t t t    th    t  

   t   t      
  t  t  h  h t t  

  t  t    t   t     

19.  We deal with hazardous materials and must 
comply with environmental laws and regulations, 
which can be expensive and restrict our business 
operation.

 t t   th  t  t      
h  t       
h    t    t t   t t  

    t   th   t  
t  h     th  h  t  
th h   th t  t    th  h  

   th  t   th th  t  
  th    t   t   

th t     t  t  th    t t   
  th  t

20.  Our Mega We CareTM branded products business 
is highly regulated, and future government 
regulations may place additional burdens on 
our business as well as have a negative effect 
on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and commercial opportunities in a 
material manner.  

     t   
t t  t  t t     

t  th  t     t   
 t    t    
t t  t       
 t  t t     t  
t    h t  t   t  
t t  

t   th     t    t t t  
     t  t    

h   t  t    t   t  
 t  t t       

t t    t    
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 t   t t  t   t   t   t  
t   t   h h  t     

h th     t  t  t  t t  
t  th  th  th  h t   h th  t  

 t   h  th t th  t t  
th t   t  t  t     t  
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t t    t    

21.  We may be subject to product liability, personal 
injury or wrongful death claims or product 
recalls in connection with our products and 
services. 

   t   h t  th  t   
t   t t   h t   t t  
t  h    t   t  t  

 t  t  4  t t  t    
 t    t   t   
 t      t   

7  t t  t t   t t   

 th  t        t  t   
   th  t t     ht 

t        t t  t  
  t t     t  

th h  t  t t   h h  
 t   t t th t  t   t t  

   t t     t    
 h   t   t    t t  

 t  t   t    
t t   

 th  t  t  th t    t   
h         

    t       
  th  t      th   

t   t    t   h   
t  t    t   t   
t  t t    t t    t  

 

22.  Our level of insurance coverage may not be 
adequate.

th h  t    th t     
 th t  t  t    t  

 t t    h   th  
t  t   t     

t   t    t    t  t  
  t   t    t  t  

t   th  t   t   h    
        t      

th  t  t    th  t t    th  
t  t   t   t    t   

    th    h t   h   
t  t     t   t  

 t    t  

23.  We may not be able to successfully identify, 
acquire or integrate future projects. 

    t t   t  t  t   th  
t  t   th  h h  t  h t  

t    t    t     
t  t t  h   t   th   

  t t  t   t t  t   
t  t  th  t  t   t t   th  

    h t  t t    
    t    t     

  t    t  t t  t   
t  t  t    t  t t  t  th    

 th  

»   t   th     t  t t  

»   t    th  t t  t    
 th  t   t  

»    t  t  th t t  th  
t   th  t h   t    

 th  t  

»     t t   t t  
 t   t  t  

»   t h   t  t t  t   
t t   t   t  t   

»   t   t  t      
        

 t h   t  th t   

 t   th t    t h  t  
t    t  th t t  t  t  

   t  t    h h  
 t  t    h  t t  th  t  

   t  th     

    t    t   t  
t    th  t t      

t   t t   t       th  
  t   th   t  t   
 t     t  t  h   t  

 t  th    h     
t   t  t  th  t  th t th  t   
t  t  t      t  t  
 t    t t    t  

 t  t
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24 . Our financial performance may be affected by 
fluctuations in interest rates.

    4       
 t   t t t   h    t  

 t t     t t t   th  t 
 ht     t  h h  

t t  t  t t t

    t t t   t t  
  t   t   t   h h  t t 
 h    t  h   t  t    
 t  t   t    t  

RISKS RELATING TO MANAGEMENT
1.  We depend substantially on the knowledge 

and proficiency of our key management  
personnel, and our business, cash flow, results of 
operations, financial condition and commercial 
opportunities may be negatively affected if we 
lose their services.

 t    h   th  t   
   t  

 t     th  t       
t   th  h t  t t  

  th     t   
 th  t t    t    th  t   

     t    t  t  tt t 
 t     t   t   

t t      t  
   t  t   t t  t t  

 th      t   h h  t  
 th  t    t  tt t  t  th  h h  

  t     t   t  
  t   t  t   
t  t   t    t t  

    t  tt t  t  th    
t  h    t    t     

 t    t  h     
      t   t 

t      t   
  h     t  

  t t       
 t t     th      

t    t   t  t  t    
t     t   t  t  

t    h h   t   
 t  

th      t     t t   
  t       t  

  t  h h  h   t  t   
 h  t  t   t   

 t t  

2.  Our Controlling Shareholders are able to 
exercise significant influence over us. 

 t  h h   t h  t   
 th  h h     th  t   t  

t t %   t   h  t   t  
  t  h h   h  th  t  

t   t      
t     t  th  t   th  t   
h h   t  t  th  t    t    th  

t  h h  t  t  t  th  tt  
h h  th  t   th  t  t  h h   

     t   t  h  t  
 t  th  h h  t  t  t    

t   h     tt  th t th  t  
h h  h  t  

RISKS RELATING TO THE OWNERSHIP 
OF OUR SHARES

s.

  t   t     th  t 
 t  th  %  t    t t t  

t   t   t   t t t   
 th  t  th   h   t   th    

th   t  h       
 t   t  t t   th  

   t    t    
   th  t t  

h   t    t t  h   
 th th  t t  t t   th  t  

 th    t    h  th  t  h   
  t  t t t    

t  h h t  t  h     
   t   th      t t 

t     t  h h  t   h  
 t   t   th  
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SECURITIES 
1. Registered Capital and Paid-up Capital

t t  th     7 7 4  h   
th    4 4  h    t  
t  th   t   th  t     4 4  

th        h   4  
  h   4 4  h   

 t  t  th   t

 t  th  t     t t   
 7    7   h  th  

      h  

 t   t   t   h h  
  h   7   th    

    t  7 4   h  th   
     h   t   

»  h   th  t   h   
t  th  t   t  

»  h   th  t  7 4  h  t   
   ht    t  t  h h  

 t  t  th   h h

  h    t  th   h    
t  h th th  t t   t  
t      7   t  th  t   

 t  th  ht    t  t  
h    7 7    77  h  
th        h  

  h  th       h     
 h  t     h  t   th    
 t t   h     77  

h  t  7 4  h  

    t  7 7 4   h  th  
       h    t  th   

th h th  t      t  
  t   th    t  th  

t t   t  t    
  7  

4     t  4 4  h  th  
      h  t  t th    

th   t     t  th   
  h h  t    t  

 th    t  th th  t t  
 t  t      7  

t t  th  t     7 7 4   
h       4 4  h  t  t 

th    th   t   t  t  
h  t     4 4  th      

   h   t  4    
h   4 4 h  t  t th    th  

 t  

2 Other Securities-ESOP Warrants
 t  t  th     h   t   t  

 th     t  t   th    
4 4  h  t     th    

   t    th th  

t  4 4 t

t     th    
 t   t

ht   ht

s t t  th   

s h h    t  t    
t t  t  t th  t t   

 h  t  th   th t 
th   ht    
 t   t    

  th  t   t  
 th  t

s s
s

t  4 4 h   
   ht   h

ss t  t  th    t   h  
t      th   

h h  t

   t   th  t  th  
   th  t  t    
t   t    
t   7    h h   

t     th  t  t   
  th     
  t   th  

t    h   th   

s  h  t t  h t  t   
   t  %  

th  t t  t  t    t 
th t t

 th  t   h th   
 th  t th  4    
th   th  t  t  

 t  th   ht   
    th     

  t  th    th    
t 
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1   1 456,930,132 52.809

2     2 57,948,416 6.697

3    43,175,900 4.990

4     34,076,540 3.938

5   18,300,000 2.115

6 , . 16,389,300 1.894

7 .   15,883,095 1.836

8  12,883,095 1.489

9 . . .    11 11,611,000 1.342

10   3 9,813,000 1.134

677,010,478 78.244

      

1    

1.1          433,311,400     
    30.76     19.23     

  40.00

1.2            177,448   
   99.998  

1.3          10,586,028 

1.4          10,586,028 

1.5          2,269,228 

2       45,982,716      2,440,000      3,400,000 

    3,000,000      3,125,700 .

3      8,268,200       1,544,800 .
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Sr. No Name of Shareholder No. Of shares %

1 h h  1 456,930,132 52.809

2 .  h    2 57,948,416 6.697

3   t t t 43,175,900 4.990

4 t t  t t   t 34,076,540 3.938

5   18,300,000 2.115

6 , . 16,389,300 1.894

7 . t h h 15,883,095 1.836

8    12,883,095 1.489

9 . . . t t     11 11,611,000 1.342

10 . h  h  3 9,813,000 1.134

Total 677,010,478 78.244

So r e  h  t  t  . t

1  h h  h h   

1.1 433,311,400 h       t  h   t t h t . t t h t  h  
 h   . h  h h, 19.23%, .  h h 30.76%   t  t  40.00%.

1.2 177,448 h       t  h    t  t ,    
t   h     . h t  h h t  th  t   99.998%.

1.3 10,586,028 h       t    . h  h h.

1.4 10,586,028 h       t    .  h h.

1.5 2,269,228 h       t    . h t  h h.

2   .  h  h  45,982,716 h   h  , h  , . h  h  h  2,440,000 h , h   

 .  h  h  3,400,000 h , h   . t h  h  3,000,000 h   h   .  h  
h  3,125,700 h .

3  . h  h  h  8,268,200 h   h  , h  ht ,  th h  h  1,544,800 h .                    



   30  . . 2558 

- 31  2557  + - 30  2558

  

   

   

   

 1   

 1 10,586,028 10,586,028

 1 10,586,028 10,586,028

  

 2   
 

58,106,516 158,100 57,948,416

 3  12,268,200 2,455,200 9,813,000

 12,883,095 12,883,095

  15,883,095 15,883,095

 4,773,420 4,773,420

 349,911 252,400 97,511

 

1          52.809   t   
 h     30  . .2558  

2         

         

        45,982,716

         2,440,000 

       18    3,400,000 

       18     3,000,000 

       18     3,125,700

     57,948,416    30  . . 2558

3        

         

      18    1,544,800

     9,813,000    30  . . 2558
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t   t  h h   th    t  30, 2015    

No. of equity shares held as on

Name-Surname Designation December 31, 2014 hanges +  - December 30, 2015

. h  t t ,  
h     t

.  t t ,  
h   t tt

.  t t ,  
h   t    

t  tt

. h  th t t ,  
  t tt

. t . h h 1 t ,  
  t    

t  tt

. h  h h 1 t 10,586,028 10,586,028

.  h h 1 t 10,586,028 10,586,028

. h  . t

.  h  2 t   ,  
  t    

t  tt

58,106,516 158,100 57,948,416

. h  h  3  t   12,268,200 2,455,200 9,813,000

.  t 12,883,095 12,883,095

. t h h t 15,883,095 15,883,095

. h h t 4,773,420 4,773,420

.  t 349,911 252,400 97,511

t  

1  . t h h, .  h h  . h  h h   t  th  h h  h h t   th h h    52.809%  th   
 t     30, 2015  t   t  t t .

2   t  t  .  h  h h   t   h    h   

 Name   Relationship  No. of shares held

 .  h      45,982,716

 . h  h        2,440,000

 .  h      18  3,400,000

 . t h      18  3,000,000

 .  h      18  3,125,700

 .  h   t t  h h ,  ,  57,948,416 h     30, 2015.

3    t  t  . h  h  h h   t   h    h   

 Name   Relationship  No. of shares held

  th h  ht    18  1,544,800 

 . h  h   t t  h h ,  ,  9,813,000 h     30, 2015.
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 »   2551  
 »   2550  
 »   2545   
 »   th  t   t  2542   
 »   2540  
 »     th  t  t  2538   th   th   

t    h
 »   2536    
 »   2535   
 »   2534  

 »   2532 h t   
 »   2532  
 »   2526  
 »    

 

 5 
2556     ,        

 
  ,    

  

 »     

 »     

 OD

 »   39 2004

 »   1 2006

 »   2 2008

 »   0 2014

 

 5 
2556      ,       

 
2558    ,     
2557    ,       

2555    ,     

2551    ,     

2543     ,      
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Chairman and ndependent Director

Education  »  t t   t  t 2008  h h  t , h
 »  t t     t  2007  h t t , h
 »  t t   t  2002  h  t  t t t  t  

t t  , h
 »   th  t   t  1999  h  t   , t
 »  t t   t  t 1997  h  t , h
 »    th  t  t  1995   th    

th   t    h
 »  t t    1993  h  t   , t
 »  t t   t   t 1992  h  t  t t t  t  

t t  , h
 »  t t     th t  1991  h t t , t, h
 »  t t    1989  h t , , t
 »  t t   t   1989  h  t , h
 »  t t     1983  h  t , h
 » h   ,  t , t  1964

Percent of Shareholding

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

2013  t  h   t t ,     t    
t t  t t   h t  t .

t  h   th  t , h   t   t t

Director, ndependent Director and Chairman of the udit Committee

Education  »   , , t   , . . .
OD Training 

 »  . 39 2004
 »  . 1 2006
 »  . 2 2008
 »  . 0 2014

Percent of Shareholding

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

2013  t  t , t t   h   th  t tt ,   
  t   t t   t t   h t  t

2015  t  t ,   .  , 

2014  t  t   h   th  t t tt ,   t   
t   th    t  ,   .

2012  t  t  t ,  t t ., t .  t    t  
,   t

2008  t  , t   ., t .   t  

2000  t  t t   h   th  t tt ,  t  
h    t  t  t



   

 »  

 »    

 »     th

 OD

 »   170 2013

 »   16 2013

 

 5 
2556        

,       
 

2555  ,       

2555  ,      

  

 » t t   h t h  t    t , 

 » h   t   h   t t. t  h   t, , .

 OD

 »   175 2013

 

 5 
2556      ,        

 

2554    ,      
 

2552  2554  ,       
 

2540  2551   ,         
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Drirector, ndependent Director, udit Committee, Chairman of Nomination  Remuneration Committee

Education  »  h  t ,   h  2003

 » ,   2002

 »   t , h t t   t  th th  t   1992

OD Trainiag

 »  . 170 2013

 »  . 16 2013

Percent of Shareholding

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

2012  t  t , t t ,   t tt   h   t  
 t  tt ,     t   t  
 t t  t t   h t  t

2006  2012      h ,  h  t   t   t t   
t t   h t  t

2006  2012  t    h   h ,  h  t   t  
 t t  t t   h t  t

Director, ndependent Director and udit Committee

Education  » t t   h t h  t    t , .

 » h   t   h   t t t  h   t, , .

OD Training

 »  . 175 2013

Percent of Shareholding

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

2013  t  t , t t     t tt ,     
t   t t  t t   h t  t

2011  t  t,  h .  t  ,  t    t  
 t  

2009  2011  t,  t  ., t .  t  ,  t   
 t   t

1997  2008  h   t  t ,  h  ., t .  t  ,  
 t    t   t



 

 » h   , . .   , 

 OD

 »   57 2005

 

 »   

 »  

 5 
2556      ,       

 

2554     ,  
     

2554    , t t  t   t  t , 

2550    ,        

2550    ,       

2550    ,        

2550    ,      

2550    ,      

2550    ,      

2550    ,      

2550    , th   t , 

 » h      t t , t   th  , . .

 OD

 »   145 2011

 30 . 2558  10,586,028  1.223%

 »
 »  

 5 
2556    ,       

 
2555     ,       

2554    ,        
2551    ,       
2551    ,        
2551    ,      
2551    ,       
2551    ,        
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Director and Member of Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Education  » t    . .   , , 

OD Training

 »  . 57  2005

Percent of Shareholding

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive  » th   .  h h

 » th   . h  h h

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

2013  t  t     t   t  tt ,     
t   t t  t t   h t  t

2011  t   h , t  t , t  tt  , t   
tt  , h t    h    t t   th  t t

2011  t  t , t t  t   t  t ,  

2007  t  t   t  tt  ,  h    t t  
t   h  

2007  t  t ,  t  t .  t t   t  

2007  t  t  t , t  t .     t t

2007  t  t , t t h t .  t t   t  

2007  t  t ,   t .  t  

2007  t  t , th  t t   t .  t  

2007  t  t , t  t  t .   t  

2007  t  t , th   t , 

Director

Education  » h      t t , t   th  , . .

OD Training

 »  . 145 2011

Percent of Shareholding   .30, 2015  10,586,028 h   
t  1.223 %  th      t

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive  »   . t h h

 » th   .  h h

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

2013  t  t ,   t   t t  t t   
h t  t

2012  t  t , t  t , h t   h    t t   th   
t t  

2011  t  t ,  h    t t  t   h  

2008  t  t ,  t  t .  t t   t  

2008  t  t , t  t .     t t

2008  t  t , t t h t .  t t   t  

2008  t  t ,    t .   t t   

2008  t  t ,    h  t .    t  t t  



 » h    t , h  t , . .
 » h  t t t     h , . .
 »   ,  t t t   , . .

 30 . 2558  10,586,028  1.223%

 »
 »  

 5 
2556    ,       

 

2550    ,       

2550    ,       

2550    ,      

2550    ,      

2550    ,      

2557    ,       

2557    ,       

 » h   , h    ,  

 » t   , h    , 

 » t  h t  t t, t t t   h t  t t   

 

 5 
2556    ,        

 

2548     ,           

2547     ,       

   

 » h   , h    

 » , th   t , . .

 OD

 »   159 2012

 30 . 2558  57,948,416   6.697

 5 
2556      ,   

     

2531  2556  ,       
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Director

Education  » h    t , h  t , . .
 » h  t t t     h , . .
 »   ,  t t t   , . .

Percent of Shareholding    30,  2015  10,586,028 h   
t  1.223 %  th      t

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive  » ht   . t h h
 » t   . h  h h

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

2013  t  t ,     t   t t  t t   
h t  t

2007  t  t ,  t   t .  t t   t  
2007  t  t , t  t .     t t
2007  t  t , t t h t .  t t   t  
2007  t  t ,   t .  t  
2007  t  t , th  t t  t .  t  
2014  t  t , t  t  t .   t  
2014  t  t ,  h  h  t

Director

Education  » h   , h    ,  
 » t   , h    , 
 » t  h t  t t, t t t   h t  t t   

Percent of Shareholding

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

2013  t  t ,     t   t t  t t    
h t  t

2005  t  t t t , . .    t .  t t 
2004  t  t   t tt ,  h    t   

t t  

Director, Member of Remuneration and Nomination Committee and Chief Executive Officer

Education  » h   , h    
 » , th   t , . .

OD Training
 »  . 159 2012

Percent of Shareholding    30,  2015  57,948,416 h   
t  6.697 %  th      t

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

2013  t  t ,   t   t  tt   h  t  
,     t   t t   t t    

h t  t
1988  2013  h  t  ,   ., t .  t   t t   

t t   h t  t



  

 » h   

 » h t  t t, t t t   h t  t t   

 OD

 »   103 2008

 30 . 2558  9,813,000   1.134

 5 
2541     ,       

 

2540  ,      
 

 

 » h   , h  t , 

 »  , th  t ,  

 OD

 »   159 2012

 30 . . 2558  15,883,095   1.835

 5 
 »    h        

 

 »     

 OD

 »   161 2012

 30 . . 2558  12,883,095   1.489

 5 
2539           

 

2536  2539       t     
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Director and Chief Financial Officer

Education  » h   

 » h t  t t, t t t   h t  t t   

OD Training

 »  . 103 2008

Percent of Shareholding   .30, 2015  9,813,000 h  
t  1.134 %  th      t

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

1998  t  t   h   ,     t   
t t  t t   h t  t

1997   ,   ., t .  t   t t  
t t   h t  t

President, nternational

Education  » h   , h  t , 

 » , th  t ,  

OD Training

 »  . 159 2012

Percent of Shareholding    30, 2015  15,883,095 h   
t  1.835%  th      t

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

 » t t t    h,     t   t t    
 t   h t  t

President, Thailand Mega We Care

Education  » h   h , h  t , h  

OD Training

 »  . 161 2012

Percent of Shareholding    30, 2015 h  12,883,095 h   
t  1.489%  th      t

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

1996  t   t   h   ,     t  
 t t  t t   h t  t  

1993  1996       t   t   t t,   ., t .  
t   t t  t t   h t  t



  

 » h   , tt  t , 

 » h t  t t, t t t   h t  t t   

 OD

 »   182 2013

 30 . . 2558  4,773,420   0.551

 5 
 »    h         

 

 

 » h   ,  t ,  

 » h t  t t, t t t   h t  t t   

 OD

 »  . 196 2014

 30 . . 2558  97,511   0.011

 5 
2553            

 

2549  2553         
 

 »     

 »   

 OD

 »   50 2013

 »   161 2012

 30 . 2558  319,540   0.04

 5 
2543     ,       
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President, Myanmar 

Education  » h   , tt  t ,  

 » h t  t t, t t t   h t  t t    

OD Training

 »  . 182 2013

Percent of Shareholding    30, 2015  4,773,420 h   
t  0.551%  th      t

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

 » t   h,  ,     t   t t  
  t  h t  t

Finance Director 

Education  » h   ,  t ,  

 » h t  t t, t t t   h t  t t   

OD Training

 »  . 196 2014

Percent of Shareholding    30, 2015  97.511 h   
t  0.011%  th      t

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

2010  t   t ,     t   t t    
t   h t  t  

2006  2010     t t,   ., t .  t   
t t    t   h t  t

Company Secretary

Education  » , h h  t

 » h   , t  ,  t

OD Training

 »  . 50 2013

 »  . 161 2012

Percent of Shareholding    30,  2015  319,540 h   
t  0.04 %  th      t

Family Relationship between the Director or Other Executive

Experiences in the 
past 5 ears

2000  t  t     , h ,    t    
t t    t   h t  t  
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 . . 2558    
 

   4    . . 2558 
 3    . . 2557

  100%  . . 2557  2558  2 
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h       th h h t  t  th    
th , t   t t . h   h   t    t  , 

 th     t   t . h    t th th   
 th  t  h   h .

     t  t  t  t t     2015  
 t   th  t t   th   t .

h   t   t   t   h  t     t   
t   t   2015  t  h  t     2014.

h   h      100%   t    t  h   2014  2015. 
h   h     t   .

h       t     th , t , t      h t 
   t t    th    th  t  h  t    t  th  

    t  t  , t   th     
2%  t  t  t     t t  t  t t .

 

h  I t t t   t  t  
   h  h, .  

h    t  th  t  
t   h    

18, 2015. 
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(www.megawecare.com)   30 
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4  . . 2558    
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h   h  t  t  h  th    
  t  

h    t   t  th   
 t   h h t t  t  t t  h  th  

h h  ht  t   th    th  h h  
  th  t   th  ht    th    
 th   t t t  t    t  t t t  

  th  t .

h   t   t  h  th   ht  
h h  t  t t   h h  t , th  ht 

t  t   t  t t   t  t th  h h  
t , th  ht t  t   t t      

I  t , th  ht t  t   t t  t
t t t  t    th  t   ht 

t  t     t  tt   th  . 
h    t  th  h h   ht t  

   th  ht t   t   t  
t . 

I   2015, th   h    t   
th   10, 2015     100%   th  
h  I t  t   th    

  th    th  I t  h   
 th  h  I t  t    2014.

h   h  th  t t  t   th   
  t t    21    

 h  t   t t . h  t t  
t    t   h     h   

h t   th    t  (www.megawecare.com) 
 30   .

h    t   t  t  t   
t  h h  t  h h  t  tt    

t   h     t t   h h h 
   th  t t      th  

tt  h h .

h  t  t    th     t  h  
h    t t      t  

 , h .

    t   th  t . h h  
 t t  t   t    h .

h  h   t  h h  t  t t  
 th  t .

h   h    t   04, 
2015  th  t  h   h ,  th  t  
h h  t     t  t   

t  t t     20, 2016. 
h   h   h t     

h    t   t   t  . .  
www.megawecare.com  h  h  . h  

  t   t   t  t   
th  I t  t  t   th  t.

h   t  t   h  h   
 th  t  t  t  t th    

 t .

 th   t   th      h 
   h  .

h   t   th       
t  t th    t  t .

 t t t ,  t     t   
 t   th    t .

h    t   t t  t  h h  
   t  t  t t   t  th   

  t . It  t t   th    
t h   th  h  t  t   t   
   t t t  .

Photo shows .  h  4th t , 
    h  h, th  

.  th  3  t , h , h  
I t  t , . h t t t  t , 
. h t t t 2  t ,  . t  t  

ht ,  h   th  h  I t   
t
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h    t h   t  th t  h h  
 h   t t t t   h    
t t . I  t , th    t h    

h h  t t  th  th  t    .

a) Appointment and Reappointment of Directors

h  t  h   t   h h   th  
 t   01, 2013. h  t  h  h  

 th t  h   t   th  h h  
 th    t  t h . h  t   

th  t   t  t ,  
, t  h   th  t ,  

   t    t , t  h   
 h   t .

h  t   t  tt  t  th  
  th  t   th    th  t  

 t  t  t  t   t    
 th t  th    th   tt   

th  .

  th   th  t  t   t t    
th  tt   t h h  h   t  th  t  

tt . h  t     t  
 th  t   t  tt   th   

t  t   th    t t 
 h h   th    t . 

I  th  t th     t  t  t  
t  th  th  tt      

h   I  t    t  t .

h   h   t t     t  
 th  . h  t t     
 t ,    t  th th  

t t    t   th  .

ndependent Directors shall be those who are

 » t   th    t  

 » t   th  t    t  h h th   
 th  .

 »       t  th th  
  t   h h   th  

t t   th    t  h h

h  I t t  h     tt  
 h     t t  t t . h   
   t  t  th  I t t , 

h , th  h     th  t  
 th   t th   t  th t th  

I t t  .

Qualifications of Independent Directors

h  t t h  h   th   th  t  
 t   0.75%  th    t   th  

.

h  t t    th   t   t  
th     t      t   

 t  .

h  t t  t  t   t  t    th  
th  t .

h  t t h   t   t t  th  
t   th  t   h    

 t     t  t   th  
t t  th  t    th  , 

t  , t     h h .

h  t t  t   th    t t  
  t ,  h h , t   h 

h h   th  .

h    th     t    
09    . ,  th  I t t  

 th  t  th  t  tt  h  t  
   th  t   t h h   
t  th   t  th   t t  t t t.

b) Directors’ remuneration

h  t   I t t   th  
t  t  h     th    

  t  h   th  t    th  
 t. t  t  h  t   
t   t   th   t t  t   

  th  t    th th  
t  t t .

h  t   I t  t  
t ,   th  t   t  
t    t t  h    
t   th    t  t  th  t   
t  tt  h h h   I t t  

  h . h  tt  h   t  
t  th    t   th  .

h  t  t    th th  I t , 
  th   th  t t t . 

h    t  t    
h   tt .
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0.10   86.5   
   28  . . 2557   

. . 2557

10  . . 
2558 

 0.25   216.3  
  . . 2558

. . 2557   0.35   
302.8 

  13  . . 
2558 

 0.16   138.44  
 . . 2558

5) 

 

  
  

    
  

 
 

  
 

   
  

 59 

  

  

1     
  

2    
  

 
  

3     
     

    

  
 
   

 

  
 1   2 

  24  
   



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 11�

Ov
er

vie
w

Ma
na

ge
m

en
t

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Go

ve
rn

an
ce

Fin
an

cia
l I

nf
or

m
at

ion
Ge

ne
ra

l I
nf

or
m

at
ion

c) Appointing external auditor and approving the audit fee

h  t tt     t t   
t  t   th      

th   th th  t .  t  t  
h  th  t  t  h     th  

t tt . h  t  t   th  , 
h    th   t , t  

 t  th  t   th   t  
h h   . 

h  t  t  h   t t   th   
h h   th   h    10, 2015  t  

h    th  t   th  t   
 03 ,   th   t , 

t , t   th  t  t t  
   th    t  h    
 t  th  h h   th th  t t  t .

d) Payment of Dividend

Dividend Policy

h    th    t     t  
th  25 t  th    t t t  

t   t   t   t t t  . 
, th   t  h    

  th   t   th  , 
 t , t t   th    
 t    t      

 th  t t ,  th    t   
th  h h   th    t .

Dividend during year 2015

t th  t   th    t   th   h  
 t 13, 2014, th  t   th  t  
 t    ht 0.10  h , t  t  
ht 86.5 . h     t  h h  
  t 28, 2014  t  2014.

t th    t   th  h h   th  
 h    10, 2015, th  h h   

th  t   t   t     
ht 0.25  h , t  t  ht 216.3 . h  

   t  h h    2015. 

I   th  , t t     
 2014  0.35  h , t  t  ht 302.8 

.

t th  t   th    t   th   h  
 t 13, 2015, th  t   th  t  
 t    ht 0.16  h , t  t  ht 

138.44 . h      t  2015.

e) Internal information and Insider trading

h   h   tt      t  
th    t   t  t    t  

t   . h   h   t  t  th  
  th   h   t   t  

t    t  th   t th  
.

 t ,  t t    
h  h   t   t t t   th  t  
t  t    t   th  t  

h   th    t  h  th  
t  th  , t   h    
t  h   h . h  t  h  

  t  h   th    th  
   h   t     

h  th   t   t  t  th    t  
h    t  59  th  t  
h  t. 

h  h h    t  th    
th        th    t .

h  t   th    I  t   
th     

  t , t     th   
h   t   t ,  t   

th   t  th    th  t  
 th   

  t , t     th   
h  t  t   t  t  
 th   th th   t   t   
  th   th  t   t   
 h th   t h t  t    

  t , t     th   
h  t , h , t   t  th  t 
 t   th     t  
 t  t   th      

th t     t  th   
th  t   t . h   h   

 t     h   th  t , 
t     th  . t  

 th  t  h       
. 

h   t  th t th  t   t   
th   h   t   t  t  
h   t  , t  t   th  t  
 t   th   th   th   
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t   t  th  t    th t  h   
h    th  t     
t t t . , th  24 h  t  h   

t  h    t  th  , h th  
t t   t t , th    t  t  

t    t  h  t  t  th  
. I  th  ,  t  h   t t   

  t  t  th  , th  t    
t   th   t t,   t,  

  th   t  t   .

f) Business Ethics and Code of Conduct for Directors, 
Management and Employees

h   h    th     t 
  ,  t  t  

h h  th     t t  t   
   ,   th th .

h   h   t t       
 t   t  h    t   th  

300 . h   h   t  t  
          th  
 h   h t     t   h 

 h  .

g) Conflict of Interest

    t t    
  th  t  I t t  h h t  th  t t 

 th  . t    th  
t  t t t   h h 

 th  t  t  th  t tt . h  t t   
t  h  t t    tt  t  t  th   

t  t  h  th    t  
I t t.

h) Marketing Ethics and Code of Conduct

h  t tt   th    t   
th    t  t  t   

 th h th  . h  t    
t h   t   t  t    

2015  th   t  t  t t t  
t t   t   .

i) Anticorruption and Bribery

h   h       t t  
 t . h   h   th   t  

 t     h  t t  t  
 ,   t.

   t   t th    th 
   th   t .   

,   h  t t  th , t , 
3  t  t t , t   t t t  

 th   t  t  th  t t  th  .

a) Dealing with Suppliers

 h   th        
 th t th    t  t t t t  
  t  . It    t t t  
 th t th       t 

  t   t t   th   t  
   t  t . t  h  , t , 

t  t t , t h   t  t , 
t   t t  h      t   
.    t   h    

 t     t t  th   th  
th  th  tt  t   th  t t.

  t  t    h h  h   
t   t  t   th   t t t .  

th    th h  h   .

b) Dealing with Customers

  h   th t   t  
t    h    t  t   

 h  t  t  t  th h t t t 
th  t   .

h   h  t   t h  th 
t     t    th     

th    th  t .   h   th 
t  t          
th  t   th  t  t  t   h th  .

 t  t  t    h h  h  
 t   t  t   th   t t t .  
th    th h t  h   .

c) Government Agencies and compliance with laws

  t  t   t    
th       t t    th 

t .  t    t  t   
th  t .  h    t  

t    t t .   t    
t   t     th th   
 th    h h th    t t .
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d) Dealing with Customer’s customers

  t  t   t   th  
t t     t    th    
  t t  t . h   h  

t   h th       t  th h 
  t   .

e) Employment policies

  h    h  t  
t . h     t   t   

th  tt    h   h  h   
 t      th    th  t . 
  t  t  t t   th t th  ht 
t , t   th t t    t  

    t.  
     t t t 

th   t    t  
.

   t    t 
t t  t   th  th    th     

 h h t  t .    , , t , 
  t t  h     t 

 t t    t . t  h  
t th    t .  h   t  

 th   h   t t   h t   t  
t t  h   t . h   t  

     t  t  t 
h th   h t th  .

f) Health, Safety and Environment

  h   th t   t t  
t  t t   t  t  
  h th  t , t , t    

   t    t . 

The areas of focus are

 »  th t    th  t  
t  t   h th    t

 » I   t   t t

 » I t  t h  h h t  t t   
t

 » t   h     h   t  
t

 » t  t t   t    t   
th   t t

 »  t  h  ht , t , h th , 
t   th  t

g) Intellectual Property

h   t   t   t  t t  
t   th      th  t . h  

 t    t t  t    
t  th  t   t t , t .

h) Whistle blower policy

h   h  t t t   h t    h h 
  t  t t  th  t tt   

,    t     th  h h 
  . h      t t  

t h   t t   h  
t   t . h    th  t  

t   t  t  Audit.Committee@megawecare.com.

h  h    t    2015. h  t 
tt  h  h  th  h  t  t t   t  

t t    th  t     t  h  
th  t.

 , th   t   t  t t  
  t h  

   t  t  th   
t  th   , , t , 

h h , t  t  t .

 t    t .

 t t  t.

      t     
  t  t  t  .

i) Competitors

    t   h  t  th  
th     th t t   
h   t t      th  

t t   h  t  t  t  t t   th  
t  t  t . h   t  t   

t   t   t    t  .

h      t   t   
 t  t  t  th  ,     

,    t t  th  h h    
th  . h  t     th   

t    th    t   t  t  t   
th   t . h   h  t   th  t  

 th     t ,  56 1, ,  
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I t   t  t  th   t investor@megawecare.com 
  t 66 02  7694222   th   h   .

h    t   t    th  
 t t t    th   t  t  

  t   th t th  t     
t  t   th   t t t   t  

 t  h   t  th  t   th  . 

h   h        h  
 h      t .

Related Party Transactions

h   h    t    t  t  
t t   t t   th  . h    

t  t  t t  h   t    3  t   
I t  t    2013    t   t   

 th th      th  t  
  th  . h  t tt    

 th    t  t  t t    
t  . h  t  t    th   

 t  t  t  t t   th    
  th  h h   th    t  

th  th  t   . h  t  t  t   
  th   t   t t  t t t.

a) Board Structure, size and diversity

 h    t    10 t   t t  
 04 I t t , 04  t   

t   02 t  t  h h  th  
  th  .

 h  h   th    t    I t 
t .

 01 t  10 t      th     
   h        t  
 t  . h  t   t  
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 t  t   t t  t   t  
t   th  ,   t t    th  
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 Executive Directors shall not take a position as a Director 
in more than 3 listed companies. The above positions do 
not include the positions as Directors in group companies 
including but not limited to Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures.

 In case any of the Directors exceeds the number of positions 
as stated above, then the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee shall review the respective Director’s performance 
and shall state its view in the Corporate Governance report.

 The Company discloses on its website and in its Annual report 
as well as form 56-1, the profile of the Directors, discloses 
the name of the Directors, educational qualifications, past 
experience and shareholding of the Directors and whether 
the Director is Executive, Non Executive or Independent 
Director. The profile mentions the Directorships held in other 
companies.

 The position of the Chairman and the CEO has been separated. 
The Chairman is an Independent Director. The Chairman’s 
responsibilities are as per the law.

 The Company’s Internal Audit function is outsourced to 
independent companies of international repute andreports 
to and is accountable to the Audit Committee Chairman. 

 One third of the Directors retire by rotation at every Annual 
General Meeting as specified in the Articles of Association 
of the Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-election. 
Voting for re-election of Directors is done on an individual 
basis.

 The Company has appointed a Corporate Secretary to  
discharge the responsibilities to undertake the duties as laid 
down under the Securities Exchange Act, B.E. 2535. 

b) Committees

1. Audit Committee

 The Audit Committee was constituted by the Board in its 
meeting held on January 17, 2013 and approved by the EGM 
01/2013 held on February 01, 2013. The Audit Committee 
comprises of three members, all of whom are Independent  
Directors. The Committee includes Mr. Alan Kam, Chairman and 
Mr. Manu Sawangjaeng and Mr. Thor Santhisiri as members.  
The Chairman and Members have the required qualifications 
and experience to discharge the functions of an Audit 
Committee. Each person forming a part of the Committee 
fulfills the requirements as set out in the notifications and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the 
Capital Market Supervisory Board, the Board of Governors 
of the Stock Exchange of Thailand, and the Stock Exchange 
of Thailand.

 The Committee held 05 meetings during the year and several 
other meetings with the management team.

 In addition, the Chairman of the Committee, Mr. Alan Kam, 
met with the external auditors and Internal Auditors on a 
regular basis

 The Committee has conducted self-assessment during the 
year based on the Principles recommended by the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand.

 The Committee has conducted a review of the Company’s 
Corporate Governance policy and Practice.

 The Committee members meet from time to time without 
inviting the Management team.

 The Audit Committee visited the Company’s subsidiary 
in Myanmar on November 16, 2015 and met with the  
Management, Internal Auditors and also went for a facility 
visit and field visit.

 

 The attendance of the members was as below:

Name Designation Meetings 
attended

Mr. Alan Kam Independent  
Director, 
Chairman of the 
Committee

5/5 100%

Mr. Manu Sawanjaeng Independent  
Director

5/5 100%

Mr. Thor Santhisiri Independent  
Director

5/5 100%

 The main responsibilities of the Committee include:

 » Appoint External Auditors based on the selection criteria 
decided by the Audit Committee.

 » Appoint Internal Auditor and discuss as well as decide 
with the Internal Auditor the scope and nature of  
engagement adopting a risk based approach.

 » Review and approve the financial statements and propose 
to Board of Directors.
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 » Review significant accounting and reporting issues 
including complex or unusual transactions and highly 
judgmental areas. 

 » Discuss with Mega’s management and external auditor 
regarding to the audit results, relevant risks and  
management action to decrease the identified risks. 

 » Review the effectiveness of internal control over the 
financial reporting process.

 » Review whether management is setting appropriate 
internal control practices and processes are in place. 

 » Review whether management has implemented  
recommendations on internal control from internal and 
external auditors.

 » Review and approve the internal audit charter, annual 
audit plan, staffing and resources required of internal 
audit. 

 » Review the activities of the internal audit, ensuring 
independence from Mega’s management, and that no 
unjustified restrictions or limitations are made.

 » Review and approve the compliance charter, annual 
plan, staffing and resources required of compliance and 
control function. 

 » Obtain regular updates from the audit and compliance 
group regarding compliance matters affecting Mega’s 
operations. 

 » Review the non-compliance issues raised by regulatory 
agencies and the rectification of those issues. The audit 
committee shall report these non-compliance issues to 
the board of directors. 

 » Review the effectiveness of the system for monitoring 
compliance with laws and regulations and the results of 
follow-up of any instances of non-compliance.

 » Review the adequacy of Mega’s risk management  
process and policies. 

 » Review the effectiveness of the implementation of Mega’s 
risk management systems.

 » Ensure that the Code of Conduct and conflict of interest 
policy is in writing and arrangements are made for all 
management and employee to be aware of it. 

 » Promote the compliance with the code of conduct and 
conflicts of interest policy.

 » To prepare and to disclose in the company’s annual 
report, the Audit Committee report which must be signed 
by the Chairman of the Audit Committee

 » Perform other assignments as requested by the Board 
of Directors. 

 » Review and assess the adequacy of the audit committee 
charter on regular basis, requesting board of director’s 
approval for proposed changes.

 » Perform self-assessment at least annually and present 
results to the board of directors.

 » Review the internal control manuals and fraud prevention 
measures by the Management.

 » Review the Corporate Governance policy and practice 
of the company.

2. Remuneration and Nomination Committee

 The Remuneration and Nomination Committee was constituted 
by the Board in its meeting held on May 22, 2013 and 
approved in the Shareholders’ meeting held thereafter. The 
Committee comprises of three members. The Committee 
includes Mr. Manu Sawangjaeng, Independent Director  
nominated as the Chairman of the Committee and 
Mr. Kirit C. Shah and Mr. VivekDhawan as members. 

 The Committee held 02 meetings during the year and all 
members were present during the meeting.

Name Designation Meetings 
attended

Mr. Manu Sawanjaeng Independent 
Director and 
Chairman of the 
Committee

2/2 100%

Mr. Kirit Shah Director 2/2 100%

Mr. Vivek Dhawan Director and 
CEO

2/2 100%

 The Committee reviewed the compensation to the Management 
team including Chief Executive Officer CEO  and Chief 
Financial Officer CFO . The Committee also reviewed the 
compensation of the senior management team members.

 The Committee members meet from time to time without 
inviting the Management team.

 The Committee also conducted CEO’s performance appraisal 
and CEO’s succession plan.

 The main responsibilities of the Committee include:

 » To evaluate and recommend the appropriate organi ation 
structure for the Company, qualifications of directors and 
the Chief Executive Officer CEO



1��

 »  
 

 
 /  

 »
 

 

 »
 

 »   
  

 

 »
 

 »  
 

3. 

    
 

 . . 2535 

  

 »

 

  

 

 

 »  
/   

 89/14 
  7 

 »
 . . 2535  

 »
 

 »
  

 »
 

4. 

     
   

 

 »     
  

  

 »   
    

  

 »   
  

  

 »    

 »  

 »    

 »  /   
   

 
   

 »  /  

 » /  
 

 »
 



��������������2�1� 1�1

��
��
���
�

��
��
��
�
��
�

��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��

���
��
���
���
��
��
�
��
���

��
��
��
���
��
��
�
��
���

 » To identify potential new directors and the CEO candidates 
through a transparent process and to nominate such 
persons to the Board of Directors and/or shareholders

 » To evaluate and recommend appropriate procedures and 
criteria to set fair and reasonable remuneration and other 
benefits, to be granted and awarded to the Company’s 
directors and the CEO  

 » To prepare and report the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee’s self-evaluation report to the Board of Directors. 
The report must be signed by the chairman of the  
Remuneration and Nomination Committee  and

 » To perform any other activities as designated by 
the Board of Directors in respect of nominating the 
Company’s directors and the CEO for the Company and 
considering their remuneration.

 » Evaluated the Compensation policy and practice for 
Key executives in the Company and guidelines for  
compensation to employees.

 » To Conduct a self-appraisal and submit the results to 
the Chairman.

3. Corporate Secretary

 The Board of Directors appointed Ms. Sujintana Boonworapat 
as a Corporate Secretary to undertake duties as laid down 
in the Securities Exchange Act B.E. 2535. 

 The authorities, duties and responsibilities of the corporate 
secretary are as below:

 » To prepare and keep the following documents:

 Director register

 Notice to the Board’s meetings, minutes of the Board’s 
meetings and Company’s annual reports

 Notice to meeting of shareholders and minutes of the 
shareholders’ meetings  and

 Company’s annual reports.

 » To keep the records on the conflict of interest reported 
by the directors and/or executives of the Company and 
submit the conflict of interest report form pursuant to 
Section 89/14 to the Chairman of the Board and the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee within 7 business days 
from the date of receipt.

 » To perform any other tasks as required by the Securities 
and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 1992  as amended  and 
the Capital Market Supervisory Board.

 » To primarily advise the Board of Directors on the  
applicable law and regulations that the Board needs to 
comply with and to regularly report to the Board on any 
material change on such applicable laws and regulations.

 » To arrange the meetings of the Board of Directors and the 
shareholders in accordance with the applicable laws, the 
Company’s articles of association and relevant guidelines.

 » To monitor the Company’s disclosures to the Stock 
Exchange of Thailand and other relevant authorities in 
order to ensure the Company’s compliance with the 
applicable laws and regulations.

4. Chief Executive Officer

The Company has appointed Mr. Vivek Dhawan as the Chief 
Executive Officer with the following key responsibilities in 
addition to the special responsibilities which the Board may 
confer as and when necessary:

 » To monitor, manage, operate, and perform day-to-day 
business for the benefit of the Company in accordance 
with the policies, vision, objectives, business plan, and 
budget, as approved by the Board of Directors.

 » To manage the business operations of the Company in 
compliance with the mission determined by 

 » the Board of Directors and in accordance with the  
Company’s business plan, budget, and respective  
business strategy, as approved by the Board of Directors.

 » To govern overall operations in connection with financial, 
marketing, human resources, and other matters, in 
compliance with the policies and business plan of the 
Company, as approved by the Board of Directors.

 » To employ, appoint, transfer, or dismiss the Company’s 
senior management.

 » To determine annual overall compensation policy for the 
Company and its subsidiaries.

 » To determine awards, salary adjustments, remuneration, 
and special bonuses, in addition to any annual bonus, 
for the senior management of the Company. 

 » To negotiate and enter into agreements and/or any 
transactions in the Company’s normal course of business 
such as investing in machinery and other assets  
according to the investment budget or other budgets 
approved by the Board of Directors, stocking inventory, 
or selling products  up to the limit of each transaction 
as authori ed and approved by the Board of Directors.

 » To consider and approve the opening of a new branch 
and/or representative office and the establishment of any 
new subsidiary company, subject to requirements of the 
applicable laws and regulations. 

 » To consider and approve the lending/borrowing between 
the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance with the 
authori ation level as approved by the Board of Directors.
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 » To consider and approve the entering into the loan 
between the Company and any commercial bank in 
accordance with the authori ation level as approved by 
the Board of Directors.

 » To consider and approve the opening of new bank 
accounts with any commercial bank.

 » To issue internal orders, criteria, notifications, and  
memoranda for the Company’s operations which are in 
line with the Company’s policies and in the Company’s 
interests, as well as to maintain good order within the 
organi ation.

 » To consider and approve the proceeding, filing and/or 
settling a lawsuit whether in or out of court and/or trial. 

 » To perform any other acts, as assigned and authori ed 
by the Board of Directors.

 » To summari e and report any material decisions made 
under the scope of authority of the CEO to the Board 
of Directors.

 » To sub-authori e and/or delegate any other persons to 
perform certain tasks on behalf of the CEO, provided 
that such sub-authori ation and/or delegation shall be 
within the scope of authority specified in the respective 
power of attorney and/or rules, regulations or resolutions 
of the Board of Directors. owever, in a transaction, the 
delegation within the scope of duties and responsibilities 
of the CEO shall not be a sub-authori ation or delegation 
that allows the CEO or any authori ed person who has 
a conflict of interests or a conflict of any kind with the 
Company or its subsidiaries to approve such a transaction. 
In such cases, the CEO shall have no authori ation to 
approve such transactions, and it shall be proposed that 
the transactions be considered and approved by the 
Board of Directors and/or the meeting of shareholders 
as the case may be , unless such transactions are in 
the normal course of the Company’s business and are 
at arm’s length.

5. Internal Auditor

The Audit Committee appoints the Internal Auditors. Any 
recommendation to change the external auditors shall need 
approval from the Audit Committee. The Company has outsourced 
its function of Internal Audit and has appointed M/s Ma ars, 
Thailand as its Internal auditor for Thailand operations, Ma ars 
Vietnam for Vietnam operations and Grant Thornton for its 
operations in Myanmar. The Internal Auditor reports to the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee. The plan as well as the 
scope of the Internal Audit is proposed by the Auditors and 
approved by the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Audit 
Committee meetings are attended by the Internal Auditor 
and the Internal Audit reports are reviewed by the Audit 

Committee members, the CFO and the Finance Director. The 
Chief Risk and Compliance Officer is the Secretary to the 
Audit Committee and isprimarily responsible for follow up 
and coordination of the management action plans resulting 
from Internal Auditors recommendations. 

6. Chairman

The Chairman among others has the following responsibilities:

a  Attending and presiding over the Board meetings and 
ensuring that the Invitation notice and sufficient related 
information is sent to the Board Members accurately 
and in time

b  Attending and conducting the Annual General Meeting 
and/or Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders

c  Creating communication platforms between shareholders 
and Board members

d  Determining along with the Board members, the structure, 
si e composition and diversity of the Board

e  Discharging functions as required and laid down by the 
Stock Exchange of Thailand and Securities Exchange 
Commission of Thailand

f  Appointing Committees of the Board of Directors and 
the Company Secretary

g  Facilitating the self-assessment of the Board of Directors

h  Ensuring that the Board, its committees and management 
function as per standards of Corporate Governance

i  Approving along with Board, the strategy and objectives 
of the Company

j  Ensuring the participation of Directors in the meetings 
and decision making

k  Ensuring a fair chance to all Directors to vote and 
inquire about the subject matter under discussion

l  Facilitating the Induction of Directors and ensuring that 
the Company has an induction process

m  Succession planning for the Board members and key 
executives

7. Compliance and Risk management

The Company has appointed a Chief Risk and Compliance 
Officer who heads the Compliance function and is present in 
the Audit Committee meetings on a regular basis. The officer 
updates and reports the Committee on areas related to status 
of compliance with regulatory and legal requirements and 
Corporate Governance policy and practice in the Company.
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a) Board Performance

The Board of Directors held 05 meetings during the year. 

The following are the details of attendance of the Board of 
Directors meeting during year 2015:

Name – Surname Attendance/ 
Total  

meetings

Attendance 
(%)

Mr. Meechai Viravaidya 5/5 100%

Mr. Alan Kam 5/5 100%

Mr. Manu Sawangjaeng 5/5 100%

Mr. Thor Santhisiri 5/5 100%

Mr. Kirit C. Shah 5/5 100%

Mr. Ishaan Shah 4/5 80%

Ms. Sameera Shah 4/5 80%

Mr. Shiraz E. Poonevala 5/5 100%

Mr. Vivek Dhawan 5/5 100%

Mr. Thomas Abraham 5/5 100%

The CEOs office along with the Corporate Secretary sets the 
Agenda for the meetings. The Agenda is sent to the Board 
members with required attachments/enclosures minimum 07 
days or 05 working days in advance unless if the meeting 
is called for a special purpose.

Schedule for Board meetings for the year is set before 
the commencement of the year and circulated for Board  
members’ approval and planning in advance.

Attendance is recorded and detailed minutes are prepared 
for circulation to the Board. The Company also arranges 
to provide the meeting minutes for the year copied on a 
computer storage device on a yearly basis for Directors’ 
ready reference.

The Company requires that the Quorum of at least 2/3 of 
the total number of directors for board decisions.

The Independent Directors regularly held discussions/ meeting 
in the absence of Executive Directors and other Non-Executive 
Directors who are not Independent Directors.

b) Remuneration of Directors

Independent Directors and Non Executive Directors are 
paid remuneration on a quarterly basis. There is no other 
bonus or other entitlement for the Independent Directors 
and Non Executive Directors apart from the remuneration 
mentioned below.

Name of Directors Remuneration

Mr. Mechai Viravaidya THB 2,000,000 per annum

Mr. Alan Kam THB 1,200,000 per annum

Mr. Manu Sawangjaeng THB 1,040,000 per annum

Mr. Thor Santhisiri THB 800,000 per annum

Mr. Kirit C Shah THB 600,000 per annum

Ms. Ishaan Shah THB 600,000 per annum

Ms. Sameera Shah THB 600,000 per annum

Mr. Shiraz Poonawala THB 600,000 per annum

Mr. Vivek Dhawan No remuneration for this director

Mr. Thomas Abraham No remuneration for this director

The Directors are paid their remuneration in 4 equal  
installments at the end of each quarter.

Mr. Mechai Viravaidya’ remuneration is paid to Mechai Pattana 
School founded by Mr. Mechai Viravaidya.

Remuneration paid to the Directors is approved by  
shareholders in the Annual General meeting.

Directors are paid a base remuneration of Thai Baht 600,000 
for board membership. Further, Independent Directors 
who are members of any Committee are paid additional  
compensation of Thai Baht 200,000. In addition to the above, 
Independent Directors holding positions of Chairman of a 
Committee are paid additional remuneration considering the 
number of meetings and the responsibility in the Committee.

c) Professional development of Directors and Management.

The Company has a policy to encourage the Board  
members, Management team, Corporate Secretary and certain 
other senior managers to attend trainings from time to time. 

All the Board members, except Mr. Mechai Viravaidya, have 
attended and passed the Directors’ Certification Program 
conducted by the Institute of Directors. 

All members of the Management team have attended and 
passed Directors Certification Program conducted by the 
Institute of Directors, Thailand. Mr. Manoj Gurbuxani passed 
attended the program and passed in year 2014.

The Corporate Secretary has attended and passed the  
Directors Certification Program and the Corporate Secretarial 
Certification programs, both conducted by the Institute of 
Directors, Thailand.

The Management has extended the training under certification 
program to other senior managers in the Company as well.
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Mr. Manu Sawangjaeng, Independent Director, Chairman 
of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee has also 
attended and passed a Certification Program for Nomination 
 Remuneration Committee conducted by the Institute of 

Directors, Thailand.

Mr. Manu Sawangjaeng, Independent Director, Audit Committee 
Member and Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee has attended a Directors Program for updat 
DCP  No. 3/2015.

The Company has encouraged several key executives to 
attend the Directors’ Certification Program.

The Chief Risk  Compliance Officer, Mr. Deepak Panjwani 
has attended the Chartered Directors’ class held by IOD in 
year 2015.

d) Self-evaluation

The Board has conducted a self-evaluation based on the 
principles laid down by the Stock Exchange of Thailand 
which includes the following criteria:

a. Structure and characteristics of Board

b. Roles and Responsibilities of Board

c. Board meetings

d. Board’s performance of duties

e. Board’s relationship with Company’s management

f. Self-development

e) Succession Planning

The Company has a succession plan for the Directors and 
key executives and the plan has been reviewed and approved 
by the Board of Directors.

The succession plan for other employees is being handled by 
the Key executives and senior managers along with Human 
capital development department.

f) Vision Mission and Objectives

The Board has reviewed and approved the Vision, Mission 
and ong term objectives of the Company and shall remain  
responsible for ongoing review and monitoring.

g) Health Safety and Environment

The Company has a policy on Health, Safety and Environment 
practices which has been displayed on the website. 

The Company has its long term and short term objectives 
for Environmental improvement and carbon footprint set out 
in the sustainability report.

h) Labor Disputes

The Company has not had any labor disputes or any 
non-compliance on record with labor law.

The Board of Directors feels that the Internal Control system of 
the Company is and its Subsidiaries is sufficient for the business 
of the Company and its Subsidiaries. The Board recognizes the 
importance of a sound control system considering the nature of 
the Company’s business, the risk factors and the environment 
in which the Company operates.

The Company has set up policies including the Corporate 
Governance and Business Ethics and has employed internal 
controls commensurate with the size of its business and the 
complexity of its operations. The Company sets measurable 
goals and clear strategy for its business. The Company 
believes that this environment will promote efficiency and 
continuity in the long run.

 The Company identifies key risks faced by it and monitors 
the risks as well as the mitigation processes identified by 
the management. The Company believes in taking calculated 
risks with duly planned mitigation processes.

 The Company has drawn an authorization table which is 
approved by the Board of Directors and has been provided 
to the Company’s management team. The Company has 
also drawn and communicated the scope of authorities and 
responsibilities for key positions and also the Board Committees.

 The Company assigns importance and works continuously 
towards building an accurate, reliable and prompt information 
system suitable for its business. The Company has adopted 
and implemented an Information Technology policy and has 
set up an Internal and External Communication system. The 
infrastructure is sufficient to enable the Company to compile 
its financial results on a timely basis. 

 The Company sends all information to the Board on a timely 
basis and with reasonable details. The minutes of meetings 
are drafted and circulated to the Directors in reasonable 
details.

 The Company sets measurable goals and compiles the 
financial performance and the position and compares the 
same with the goals. The Company takes necessary cor-
rection actions as may be required. The Board of Directors 
takes note of the Audit Committee’s report on evaluation 
of Internal Control systems and is reasonably satisfied with 
the sustainability and performance of the Internal Control 
systems. Moreover, there have been no significant findings by 
the external auditor concerning the Internal Control systems 
of the Company.
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During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, the Company appointed three 03  auditors from KPMG Phoomchai Audit limited, 
Thailand and the auditors proposed as auditors of the Company and some of its subsidiaries in Thailand have no relationships or 
interest whatsoever with the Company or its subsidiaries, executives, major shareholders or related persons, in a way that it would 
create any limitation in their ability to work independently. The Company’s subsidiaries which are also audited by the same auditors are:

a  Mega ifesciences PT  imited, a 99.99% owned subsidiary of the Company.

b  Natural Health Foods imited, a 99.99% owned subsidiary of the Company.

c  Mega e Care imited, a 99.96% owned subsidiary of the Company.

d  E-Sense limited, an associate and 99.96% owned by Mega ifesciences PT  imited, covered under a  above.

The Auditors are selected by the Audit Committee and proposed for appointment by the Audit Committee and presented by the 
Board of Directors for approval by the shareholders along with all the details including Names of Auditors minimum 03 three , 
comment on the appropriateness of Audit Fees and conflict of interest.

For year 2016, the proposed auditors of the Company and subsidiaries are as below:

Name-Surname CPA Registration number

Khun Orawan Chunhakitpaisan 6105

Khun Vairoj Jindamaneepitak 3565

Khun Natthaphong Tantichattanon 8829

The Auditors remuneration for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 is as below:

Types of Fees 2016 2015 2014

The Company

1. Audit Fee
 Annual audit fee and quarterly review fee
 Other expenses 

 
4.13 

-

 
4.02 

-

 
3.94 

-

2. Non-Audit Fee - - 1.12

Subsidiaries

1. Audit Fee
 Annual audit fee and quarterly review fee
 Other expenses 

 
4.37 

-

 
4.07 

-

 
4.14 

-

2. Non-Audit Fee - - -

Total Audit Fee 8.50 8.08 8.08

Increase 5% - -

��������������

The company checks the most efficient quotation for this purpose before appointing consultants for any agreed upon procedures 
unless if the same have to be necessarily performed by the External auditors as per the requirements of law.
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Central to the Mega ay in all of the 31 countries where we 
operate is the concept of Creating Shared Value.

To us, that means going beyond the traditional parameters of 
Corporate Social Responsibility. It means embracing an entire 
philosophy of generating economic value while achieving social 
value. Simultaneously it means connecting our success to the 
success of the communities where we operate. It means practicing 
what we preach in terms of caring for Human ellness - economic 
wellness, physical wellness, and social wellness.

From building talent and creating jobs in the markets where 
we work, to spreading the wisdom of self-care, to successfully 
pursuing ISO 14000 certification and green level certifications 
for our production facilities, Creating Shared Value is not just at 
the periphery of what we do: it is at the center of it.

Part of Mega’s unique contribution to Shared Value is our ability 
to empower people to take care of their own health and wellness. 
Self - care is at the heart of our thinking on health - reducing 
the burden on national healthcare systems in the countries that 
can least afford it.

ith our resources for analysis and diagnostics and our ability 
to build knowledge and capacity, we are in a uniquely privileged 
position to inspire and enable both our team and our communities 
to actively pursue good health. Hence the Good Health By 
ourself program.

For our employees, we focus on increasing physical activity,  
encouraging a healthy diet and lifestyle, improving health  
knowledge and encouraging appropriate preventive care. e offer 
comprehensive medical coverage to employees in markets where 
this is often unheard of, with annual check-ups and individualized 
advice on healthy living along with incentives for pursuing healthy 
ways of life.

Mega shares this with our communities by regularly conducting 
knowledge-building workshops and detection and diagnostic 
camps for health conditions often endemic to developing societies. 
These include:

 » Anemia detection camps, to identify iron deficiency in many 
of the impoverished communities where we work

 » Bone health detection camps, to help in early detection of 
osteoporosis

 » Diabetes and blood pressure awareness, through educating  
healthcare providers and reaching the wider public through 
activities such as diagnostic camps

 » Mother and child care in high infant mortality environments, 
through workshops on healthy pregnancy and child development

����������
Sustainability is also a cornerstone of our approach to Creating 
Shared Value. In Thailand, we have achieved Green Industry 
Certification evel 2 Green Activity  for both our Soi 6 and Soi 
8 plants in SamutPrakan under the Green Industry Initiative of 
the Ministry of Industry and we have set a goal to pursue evel 
3 certification Green Activity  in 2016. e have received the 
ISO 14001 certification in April 2015 and shall be re-audited in 
April 2018 for renewal.

In all of our production and storage processes we work to effectively  
utilize resources, reduce pollution, and reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions. To this end, we have implemented a number of  
practical initiatives in our manufacturing facilities, such as  
building an underground waste water treatment plant, converting 
to natural gas boilers and dehumidifiers, energy-saving T5 lighting 
and non-CFC air conditioning and saving energy through variable 
speed drive motors.

Our recently-built Australia plant has also been designed to the 
most rigorous environmental standards, with 400 photovoltaic 
solar panels generating 100 k  of renewable energy, approximately 
one third of total peak demand. Factory lighting consists of over 
300 high-efficiency, low-energy demand ED lights.

Creating Shared Value is not just philanthropy. Nevertheless, it 
makes us proud to be able to plow a significant proportion of 
our profits back into the communities where we work to achieve 
sustainable growth benefiting all. To this end, the Mega e Care 

ellness Foundation set aside two percent of our profits after 
tax to sustainable development initiatives leveraging not only our 
funding but our healthcare expertise as well.

CEO and Chief Coach 
Vivek Dhawan
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Sustainability at Mega ifesciences means delivering a sustainably growing operation with long term existence, an Organization that 
lives and grows beyond each of us, to be achieved by balancing the objective of profitable growth, human development, Environmental 
protection as well as conservation and Social Responsibilities.

Sustainability through CSV at Mega ifesciences is lead and guided by the CEO and Chief Coach, Mr. Vivek Dhawan. The Company’s 
objective since the inception has been to create an organization that lives and grows beyond each one of us and one that changes 
before it is forced to change.

Creating Shared Value includes proposing strategy, processes and implementation of initiatives for a sustainable organization and it 
is the responsibility of the Directors, Management and employees to implement sustainability through CSV.

The Company has a ‘Change by Design’ framework which builds Products, Markets, Customer Experience and People on a 
foundation of Operational excellence and Enabling systems by installing in place policies, Key Performance Indicators KPIs , ong 
term, Medium term and Short term reward systems, procedures, processes and finance.

�����������

Mega’s Vision is to ‘Create a Thinking Organisation which will change before it is forced to Chage. 
An Organisation which will live and grow beyond each one of us’

Mega’s Objective is to create value by marketing and selling medicines and medicinal supplements 
in developing countries.

���������������
 » Maintaining our current market share.

 » Double Mega e CareTM brands business in 5 years ending in year 2019

 » Growth in sub-saharan Africa termed as ‘Build Africa’

 » Penetrating deeper in the natural herbal products business

 » Enter complimentary health care businesses in 2016 and consolidate position as a health care company

The Company has developed a detailed succession plan for the Board of Directors including CEO and 
CFO. The succession planning has also been done in respect of Key executives and senior managers 
too. The plan has been documented and approved by the Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

The Company has developed Business Continuity Plans for its key operational units and is working 
towards achieving an integrated business continuity plan.

The corporate strategy approved by the Board of Directors is then passed on to the Management and staff as KPIs. These KPIs 
are then monitored periodically and rewards are disbursed based on actual achievements against the KPIs.
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Stakeholder engagement is a part of Mega ifesciences’ policies, processes, procedures and reporting. It is embedded in the Business  
Ethics and Code of Conduct. Stakeholder engagement manifests in various forms.

Stakeholders Engagment Expected outcomes

Shareholders, Analysts  
and Financial Institutions

 » Annual General Meetings

 » Quarterly Financial Statements

 » Annual Report

 » Earnings Calls

 » Roadshows

 » Questions and Answers

 » Complaints

 » Factory Visits

 » Sustainable Return on Investment

 » ong term sustainable strategy

 » Good Governance

Customers  » Regular visits

 » Knowledge building programs through keynote 
speakers and other programs

 » Training and Development

 » Good Quality Products/ Services

 » Consumer education

 » Consumer feedback and reporting related 
training.

Suppliers  » Regular meetings

 » Supplier Code

 » Supplier audits

 » Fair relationships

 » ong terms

Employees  » Newsletters Mega Views News

 » Minds we Share meets

 » Annual Trips/ picnics

 » Appraisal meetings

 » Good remuneration

 » Decent working conditions

 » Career path, security, benefits and training.

Society  » Regular Involvement with communities  » ong term community and social development

Government  » Filing reports and returns

 » Responding to directives, queries, etc

 » Payment of taxes

 » Compliance with laws

Competitors  » Membership and Participating in Industry/ 
trade bodies

 » Participate in industry surveys

 » Marketing Code of Ethics

 » Industry news

 » Representation to government and regulatory  
bodies.

 » Fair Competition and business practices

The Company has a Board of Directors from Diverse areas of 
expertise and carrying high level experience in their areas of 
expertise. The Board of the Company comprises of 10 Directors 
out of which 4 are Independent Directors. The Directors meeting 
details and roles and responsibilities are covered in the Annual 
Report under the section Corporate Governance.

The Board has constituted

a) Audit Committee which oversees Corporate Governance, 
Risk Management, Compliance, External Auditors and Internal 
Audits. The External Auditors’ and Internal Auditors’ scope 
and appointment is approved by the Audit Committee.

b) Remuneration and Nomination Committee which oversees 
the Nomination of Directors including Independent Directors 
and also reviews the remuneration of the Management Board 
and other senior executives.

Risk Management

The Company has a Risk Management Policy which requires the 
company to prepare the Risk Registers and highlight the Risks 
in Operations at least once annually in the Annual Report. The 
Audit Committee is responsible for the oversight and approval 
of Risk Management practices of the Company.
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improve their own lives as they are improving lives of their 
customers and partners.

Every member of the Mega team is an owner of a way of life. 
Our daily lives are driven by a simple cause: To improve lives, 
to care for human wellness and to help people stay healthy as 
long as they live. It’s a cause that unites our 4,300-plus strong 
team across the world, sparking ingenuity, passion and a zest 
for life. They have created a learning organization that believes 
in Thinking, Changing and Growing.

 » Respect  for each other’s differences

 » Freedom  in work and personal lives

 » Trust  our people as adults who know what needs to 
be done.

 » Truth  in everything we do.

 
Mega Academy arranges a variety of training programs and 
workshops for the people at Mega ifesciences. 

MINDS WE SHARE at Mega ifesciences, is an approach to 
organize hands-on meets with the purpose of exchanging knowledge 
and gain wisdom, a conclave where we invite world - renowned 
speakers to offer new perspectives, which participants then 
cascade to their worldwide teams. Recent world - renowned  
facilitators have included Dr. Park, Partner of Blue Ocean Strategy,  
Dr. Clotaire Rapaille, author of The Culture Code’, Jason Jennings, 
Curt  Coffman, Dr. Eric De Smet, Fredrik Haren, Dr. Jody Hoffer 
Gittell and Robert Spector.

These forums were the genesis of our passion for Employee 
Evangelism  Ownership’, and Creating Owners, Improving ives’.

e engage our teams by enlisting their participation in workshops 
with management gurus and best-selling authors like Marshall 
Goldsmith, Ram Charan and Paco nderhill, marketing gurus 
like AlRies and Jack Trout, strengths coach Marcus Buckingham 
and The ean Start up by Eric Ries.

Compliance

The Company has a full time and dedicated unit for Compliance 
and Risk Management. The Company has a Compliance policy 
and a Compliance Manual. The Compliance manual along with the 
related policies has been communicated to operations covering 
more than 90% of the businesses. The key policies have been 
translated in local languages and governance related forms have 
been implemented for signatures from employees.

Anti-Corruption, Anti-Bribery and Marketing Code of Ethics

The Company has implemented an Anti - Corruption Policy to 
ensure that the business is conducted with ethics, integrity, 
and transparency and as responsible corporate citizens. Mega 
ifesciences or any of its employees, managers or Board 

Members acting on behalf of Mega shall not make, provide, 
offer or authorize any payments, gifts of any kind or anything 
of value, directly or indirectly, to any official or employee of any 
country, state, provincial or local government or any government 
controlled or owned agency or entity.

Mega ifesciences further extends this policy to such dealings 
with health care professionals and private hospitals which shall be 
done as per limits and approval procedures as specified by Mega.

Mega ifesciences shall not make any facilitating payments to 
any government agencies, employees, department, government, 
political parties to expedite or secure the performance of  
routine services like tax assessments, customs clearances, utility 
connections, gas, telephone, internet, etc.

Mega ifesciences has ensured effective implementation by laying 
down the rules, Formats, procedures and training employees on 
the Business Ethics and code of conduct and also signatures 
from employees for adherence to the Code of Conduct. All new 
employees are provided a training for Business Ethics and Code 
of Conduct and are required to sign as agreed and understand.

The Company also has a practice of circulating and obtaining 
confirmation from management and employees on the Conflict 
of Interest’ form which ensures fair dealings.

The Company conducts training on all aspects of the  
Anti-Corruption policy regularly for key employees.

 
MEGA is a people centric organization which believes in goodness 
of people and gives an opportunity to people to make careers, 
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Mega Academy has designed and implemented the Mega Master 
Management MMM  program in collaboration with leading  
university of Thailand, The Mahidol niversity, to provide tools to 
managers, to improve skills, knowledge and methods for enabling 
them to successfully lead a team towards Mega’s goals and  
aims at delivering enhanced employee engagement, empowerment, 
commitment, retention and productivity improvement. The program 
extends over a period of 12 months and includes classroom 
training for at least one day per month. The program includes 
conception, discussion and implementation of projects and 
concludes with a certificate from Mahidol niversity’s Centre 
for Management.

The program is also offered in shorter version under a  
‘MMM – Mini’ which mainly facilitates induction.

Skill and knowledge development programs are designed to 
deliver leadership, behavioral and technical skills making Mega’s 
human capital ready to meet business challenges and reach 
organizational goals.

Executive education and leadership development at mega  
is a one on one approach driven by the immediate coach. Colleagues 
undergo various trainings in the organization as well as with 
external bodies and universities. Few to name are Minds e 
Share at Mega, SASIN Thailand, IIM-Ahmedabad India, Institute 
Of Directors IOD , Thailand, Mahidol niversityThailand and more. 
The executive education and leadership development interventions 
aims at developing future leaders by bring them knowledge, skills 
and experience to lead influentially and enhance business results.

����������������������������������

 » Allowances  » Awards based on years of service

 » Bonuses  » Benevolent funds

 » Incentives  » Protective equipment

 » Share based payments  » Overtime payments

 » Provident Fund  » Support for employee and family 
bereavement

 » Social Security  » Diet planning and healthy living

 » Employee education  » Accident Insurance

The Company respects Human rights and provides healthy and 
hygienic working conditions. Mega ifesciences respects and 
observes the labour laws of the country of its operations and 
files the reports as required by law within due dates. The Company’s 
Business Ethics and Code of Conduct bars discrimination on 
any grounds.

Mega ifesciences wants to creates good health ambassadors by 
promoting good health among all the employees and desires that 
each of the 4,300 plus employees is an evangelist for prevention 
of disease achieved through healthy life.

The company encourages regular health checkups and counseling 
for all employees. The company conducted various activities 
across its locations:

���������������2�1�����������
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Mega ifesciences maintains safety records for reporting to the 
Ministry of abour and also to the Management and Board of 
Directors of Mega ifesciences.

The Company has a dedicated Safety team for its manufacturing 
locations and has safety code for its manufacturing as well as 
logistics facilities which mandates the employees to adhere to 
strict standards of safety.

�

�

������������������������

Mega ifesciences encourages its offices worldwide to identify 
means of engagement with the society. The Company has a 
policy to set aside 2% of its Profits After Tax for various activities 
under its Creating Shared Value’ drive.

Mega Cambodia

 » Started of a program to donate 3,000 kilograms of rice to 
Orphans centre

Mega Myanmar

 » Donated Kyat 22.69 million approximately nited States 
Dollars 17,400  for flood relief.

Mega Cambodia

 » Stay healthy with Mega Family - Mega e Care’ Football event 
for our people to stay healthy, live happily and improve life.

Mega Indonesia

 » Field force badminton matches once a month.

 » Pre-Medical checkup for all employees

 » oga Class on Fridays.

Mega Malaysia

 » Blood Check for all employees to study the ipid profile and 
Glucose profile of all employees.

Mega Thailand

 » Football tournament for employees.

 » Sports Day

 » Health Checkup and counselling for 1,000  employees

Mega Ukraine

80% of employees go in for physical activities fitness, water-pool, 
gym, table-tennis, tennis, skiing . e sent employees short  
information with recommendations of HO about physical activities 
and its positive influence on cholesterol level and diabetes, 
heart diseases prevention. 50% of employee use healthy food. 

e also sent recommendation about healthy food. In office we 
have green tea with ginger. On meetings we propose healthy 
sandwiches, fruits and nuts.

Mega Myanmar

 » Sports Day

�
�

�

�
�
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 “Happy and Healthy Family trip” 
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  KAM   Nataliya Prisyazhnaya 
 Pharmacy   
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  Kravchina Tatyana 
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 Terry Fox Run  
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  ‘Run for Children’  17   
 Nam Thang ongresidential Area
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Mega Vietnam

 » Blood donation camp arranged arranged on November 13, 2015 

 » Started off a program to donate Vietnam dong 500,000 per 
child per month to Que Hong house

 
Mega Ghana

Donations to Disabled children’s home.

Mega Corporate

Donated Thai Baht 500,000 to Mechai Pattana School along with 
t-shirts for students. The Company also accepted 2 students as 
apprentices in the Manufacturing operations.

Mega Cambodia

Awareness program for Joint and Bone health.

Arranged a staff Soccer tournament for staff and partners.

Mega Myanmar

Arranged various Health talks on Iron deficiency, health checks 
and counseling on a personal basis for many individuals.

Mega Nigeria

orld Hepatitis Day celebration was organized across Nigeria 
to create awareness among consumers in the teaching hospital, 
retail pharmacies. To get better mileage we clubbed the Diabetes 
Detection, Neuropathy and Hypertension screening in the retail 
pharmacies.

Also celebrated orld Diabetes Day in 2014.

Free health screening held on June 12, 2015.

Mega Thailand

Happy and Healthy family trip

“MEGA We care Thailand as the leader of Family Health 
Expert created campaign “Happy and Healthy Family trip”. 
In episode 1, 23 lucky families joined this car rally trip. It was 
a trip themed on happiness through good health and all the  
participating families were engaged through many healthy  
activities.

 
Mega Ukraine

Ms. Nataliya Prisyazhnaya, Key Account Manager KAM  with  
our team and drug store chain Pharmacy  organized Health 
Day in drug store in the town Petropavlovka. Ophthalmologist, 
Dr. Kravchina Tatyana examined 62 customers of pharmacy during 
the day. Ms. Nataliya our KAM, checked the fasting glucose of 
the patients. It was an effective activity to create awareness 
among elderly population and also helped in increasing sales 
from pharmacy.

Mega Vietnam

Terry Fox Run is an annual event to help build awareness in 
the fight against cancer and raise fund for cancer research. The 
activity was held in District 7, Ho Chi Minh City on 29th November. 
In Hanoi, it took place on 17th November in Nam Thang ong 
Residential Area under the name ‘Run for Children’
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Mega UAE

Free health screening held for community.

Mega Ghana

Conducted oga workshop for key managers.

Green Industry

The Company maintained the evel 2 Green Industry Certification 
awarded by the Ministry of Industry for both the manufacturing 
locations in Thailand.

The Company achieved ISO 14001 in April 2015 and the  
certification shall be subject to renewal in April 2018.

The team prepared for this in 2014 and the Company went 
through audits during year 2014 for the certification.

The Company has achieved 95% of lighting through T5 28 att  
fluorescent lamp from the previous T8 lamps.

The Company has started using ED lamps 20 att  to save 
energy and protect environment.

The Company continues to use chilled water for air conditioning 
system non CFC  to reduce the green house gas emission.

The insulation material of ducts has been changed from fiber 
glass to polyethylene foam to help reduce the reinstallation and 
also prevent spread of small glass particles in the environment.

The Company has installed video conference facilities to reduce 
carbon footprint.

The Company has started a practice to send print copies of 
annual report only to shareholders who request by return letter 
and has reduced printing by 50%.

Solar power usage to be increasedPrepare improving Green 
Industry Certification from Ministry of Industry to level 3  
compared to level 2.

Investors’ Choice Award 
from the Thai Investors’ 
Association.

evel 2 Green Industry 
Certification from the 
Ministry of Industry.
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2.  MaxxcareTM    
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3.   
  

 »   7,945   2558  10.3  1  
 2,282   4  2558  9.1  
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  368   4  2558   9.9 
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Mega ifesciences PC  MEGA  is a leading participant in the health and wellness industry in developing 
countries. Our business may be categorized into three segments:

1. Mega We CareTM branded products business   e develop, manufacture, market and sell our 
own brand of market leading nutraceutical products, prescription pharmaceutical products and OTC 
products which are sold in 31 developing countries,

2. MaxxcareTM distribution business  e market, sell and distribute various branded prescription 
pharmaceutical products, OTC and FMCG products. e operate our MaxxcareTM distribution business 
in three countries, namely, Myanmar, Vietnam and Cambodia. Our clients for this business segment 
include leading domestic and international pharmaceutical and FMCG companies, and

3. OEM business  In addition to manufacturing our own branded products, our manufacturing facilities 
in Thailand and Australia accept various production orders from third-party customers.

�����������������������������
 » Overall operating revenue of THB 7,945mn in F 15, up by 10.3% o  normalized1 basis  and THB 

2,282mn in 4Q15, up by 9.1% o .

 » Gross profit of THB 3,406mn in F 15 up 9.7% o  and THB 1,001mn in 4Q15 up 8.9% o . 

 » EBITDA of THB 986mn in F 15 up 25.3% o  and THB 368mn in 4Q15 up 9.9% o .

 » Net profit of THB 696mn in F 15 up 27.0% o  and THB 271mn in 4Q15 up 8.1% o .

1 MaxxcareTM distribution business revenue growth is normalized in F 14 by excluding the revenue attributable to one of our principal whose business was 
discontinued since 4Q14 as reported in our 3Q14 and 4Q14 MD As’ . 
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 »   7,945  2558  10.3    2.8  
  4  2558  2,282   9.1 

  Mega e CareTM  3,907  2558   8.2  
 4  2558  1,168   7.4   31.7 

  MaxxcareTM  3,558  2558  12.3    
 3.7    4  2558   966   7.9  
  9.8  

  480  2558  13.2   4  
2558  148   35.5   24.4 

 »   42.9  2558  40.2   4  2558 
 43.8   43.9   2558 

 Mega e CareTM 

 »   33.5  2558  34.9  
 2558  32   4  2558  29.9  

 30.3 

 2558  28  
 

 »   2558  696   27   4  2558  271   8.1 
  77.9    2558  

  Mega e CareTM 
  

  2558  651.5   564.3  2557  585.2  
 2556

   
 31   
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 : 
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4/58

o  %  2557  2558 o  %

2,092.4 1,885.5 2,282.0 9.1% 7,730.0 7,944.7 2.8%

918.6 806.8 1,000.6 8.9% 3,105.1 3,406.4 9.7%

    43.9% 42.8% 43.8% 40.2% 42.9%
3 633.1 681.0 683.1 7.9% 2,471.3 2,660.2 7.6%

    30.3% 36.1% 29.9% 32.0% 33.5%

  334.5 212.8 367.6 9.9% 786.7 985.8 25.3%

296.9 175.3 324.5 9.3% 638.1 828.0 29.8%

250.9 152.5 271.3 8.1% 547.9 695.7 27.0%

2   
 

3   2558  57.7 
  /
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 » Overall operating revenue in F 15 was THB 7,945mn, up 10.3% o  normalized basis  and 2.8% o  reported basis , while 

4Q15 revenue came in at THB 2,282mn, up 9.1% o . 

 Mega e CareTM revenue was THB 3,907mn in F 15 up 8.2% o , while 4Q15 revenue came in at THB 1,168mn up 7.4% 
o  and 31.7% QoQ .

 MaxxcareTM revenue was THB 3,558mn in F 15 up by 12.3% o  normalized basis  but down by 3.7% o  reported basis .  
4Q15 revenue came in at THB 966mn up 7.9% o  and 9.8% QoQ . 

 OEM revenue was THB 480mn in F 15 up 13.2% o . 4Q15 revenue came in at THB  148mn up 35.5% o  and 24.4% QoQ

 » Overall gross margins in F 15 improved to 42.9% from 40.2% in F 14  while gross margins in 4Q15 came in at 43.8%  
compared to 43.9% of 4Q14. Improvement in the overall gross margin in F 15 was mainly led by improvement in gross margins 
of Mega e CareTM business and better revenue mix.

 » Selling and administrative expenses (SG A) was 33.5% of operating revenue in F 15 as compared to 34.9% in 9M15 and 
32% in F 14. SGA in 4Q15 stood at 29.9% of operating revenue compared to 30.3% in 4Q14.  

SG A in F 15 included a one-time charge of THB 28mn towards trade receivables mainly arising from Thailand and kraine.  

 » Net profit in F 15 came in at THB 696mn, up 27% o . 4Q15 net profit was THB 271mn, an increase of 8.1% o  and 
77.9% QoQ. Increase in net profits in F 15 was mainly driven by improvement in overall gross margins a result of increase in  
Mega e CareTM gross margins and better revenue mix  and net forex gains driven by THB depreciation. 

Net profits without net forex gain or loss for F 15 was THB 651.5mn compared to THB 564.3mn in F 14 and THB 585.2mn in F 13. 

MEGA remains focused on further cementing our leadership position in Indochina and deepening our presence in the Sub-Saharan 
African countries. ith a healthy pipeline of new products and operations in 31 growth markets, MEGA is concentrating all efforts 
towards doubling our revenue and net profit over the next 5 years.

����������������
Figures in THBmn

4Q14 3Q15 4Q15 o  Gr. FY14 FY15 YoY Gr.

Operating revenue 2,092.4 1,885.5 2,282.0 9.1% 7,730.0 7,944.7 2.8%

Gross profits 918.6 806.8 1,000.6 8.9% 3,105.1 3,406.4 9.7%

   r  arg  43.9% 42.8% 43.8% 40.2% 42.9%

Selling and Admin. Exp SGA 3 633.1 681.0 683.1 7.9% 2,471.3 2,660.2 7.6%

     t  erat g reve ue 30.3% 36.1% 29.9% 32.0% 33.5%

EBITDA 334.5 212.8 367.6 9.9% 786.7 985.8 25.3%

Profit before tax 296.9 175.3 324.5 9.3% 638.1 828.0 29.8%

Net profit 250.9 152.5 271.3 8.1% 547.9 695.7 27.0%

2  Certain previous year cost elements between cost of goods sold and SG A have been re-classified in our audited financial statement resulting in difference 
between the  numbers reported in this MDA and our earlier MD As’.

3  THB 57.7mn attributable to forex loss in F 15 has been classified as SG A expenses in audited financial statements per TFRS guidance. Given the nature 
of this charge, the amount has been classified in MD A under forex gain/loss.
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Mega e CareTM

1,088.2 887.2 1,168.4 7.4% 3,611.9 3,906.6 8.2% 8.2%

 MaxxcareTM

895.3 879.5 966.0 7.9% 3,694.1 3,558.1 3.7% 12.3%

109.0 118.8 147.7 35.5% 424.1 480.0 13.2% 13.2%
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Reported basis  Overall operating revenue in F 15 was THB 7,944.7mn, up 2.8% o . Decline in MaxxcareTM  distribution business 
of 3.7% o  was offset by growth of 8.2% o  in Mega e CareTM  branded products business . OEM was up by 13.2%  o .  

Overall operating revenue in 4Q15 was at THB 2,282.0mn, higher by 9.1% o . Mega e CareTM  and MaxxcareTM  revenue were up 
by 7.4% o  and 7.9% o , respectively, while OEM was higher by 35.5% o .

Normalized basis  Overall operating revenue of F 15 was up by 10.3% o  with MaxxcareTM  distribution business growing at 
12.3% o . 

Southeast Asia4 and Indochina5 contributed 85.5% and 80.0% of our operating revenues in F 15, respectively.

The following table represents the revenue generated under each operating segments.

Revenue  by Business Segment

Figures in THBmn

4Q14 3Q15 4Q15 YoY Gr. FY14 FY15 Reported 
YoY Gr.

Normlzd. 
YoY Gr.

Mega e CareTM 1,088.2 887.2 1,168.4 7.4% 3,611.9 3,906.6 8.2% 8.2%

MaxxcareTM 895.3 879.5 966.0 7.9% 3,694.1 3,558.1 3.7% 12.3%

OEM 109.0 118.8 147.7 35.5% 424.1 480.0 13.2% 13.2%

Total 2,092.4 1,885.5 2,282.0 9.1% 7,730.0 7,944.7 2.8% 10.3%

 Revenue is net of inter segment charges  eliminations relating to consolidation.

���������������������������

 » Mega e CareTM revenue as a % to total operating revenue 
was 49.2% in F 15 compared to 46.7% in F 14  while 
MaxxcareTM  revenue was 44.8% of the total operating revenue 
in F 15 compared to 47.8% in F 14. 

 » Proportion of Mega e CareTM and MaxxcareTM revenue to 
total operating revenue remained almost same in 4Q15 and 
4Q14, respectively.

Mega We CareTM Branded Products Revenue

Revenue from sale of products under Mega e CareTM branded products business was THB 3,906.6mn in F 15, up by 8.2% o . 
Revenue growth in F 15 was mainly driven by Southeast Asia which was up by 9.8% despite slowdown in Thailand. Africa was up 
by 14.7% o . 

Revenue from sale of products under Mega e CareTM branded products business was THB 1,168.4mn in 4Q15, up by 7.4% o .  
Growth was driven by Southeast Asia which was higher by 9.5% o  while Africa was up by 17.1% o .

Though not a significant contributor to the overall revenue of the company, continuing social un-rest in kraine classified under CIS 
and emen classified under Others, impacted revenue growth in F 15.

4Q14 4Q15 F 14 F 15

Mege e Care 

OEM

Maxxcare

5%

43%

52%

6%

42%

51%

5%

48%

47%

6%

45%

49%

4  Thailand, Myanmar, Vietnam, Cambodia, Malaysia, Philippines, Indonesia and Singapore. 

5  Thailand, Myanmar, Vietnam and Cambodia.
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 Mega We CareTM 

: 

 
4/57

 
3/58

 
4/58

YoY %  2557  2558 YoY %

902.7 679.1 988.3 9.5% 2,898.3 3,181.6 9.8%

97.8 133.4 114.6 17.1% 388.2 445.3 14.7%

  CIS 31.6 21.2 24.5 22.4% 119.1 88.3 25.9%

56.0 53.5 41.0 26.8% 206.3 191.4 7.2%

1,088.2 887.2 1,168.4 7.4% 3,611.9 3,906.6 8.2%

���

 »
 81.4  

 Mega e CareTM 

 70.8  
 Mega e CareTM

 »   2 
 11.4 

 Mega e CareTM

 MaxxcareTM

 MaxxcareTM  3,558.1  2558  3.7   4  
2558  7.9 

 2558   
 3  4  2557   

 MaxxcareTM   2558  12.3

���

 MaxxcareTM  59 
 MaxxcareTM 

 2558

  480  2558  13.2   147.7  
 4  2558   35.5   2558 

81.4%

4.9%

 CIS

2.3%

11.4%

59.4%

31.1%

9.5%
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Mega We CareTM Branded Products Revenue by Geography

Figures in THBmn

4Q14 3Q15 4Q15 YoY Gr. FY14 FY15 YoY Gr.

Southeast Asia 902.7 679.1 988.3 9.5% 2,898.3 3,181.6 9.8%

Africa 97.8 133.4 114.6 17.1% 388.2 445.3 14.7%

CIS 31.6 21.2 24.5 22.4% 119.1 88.3 25.9%

Others 56.0 53.5 41.0 26.8% 206.3 191.4 7.2%

Total 1,088.2 887.2 1,168.4 7.4% 3,611.9 3,906.6 8.2%

��

 » Southeast Asia contributed 81.4%, while Indochina 
contributed 70.8% of the Mega e CareTM branded 
products business revenue.   

 » Africa, the second largest market contributed 
11.4% of the Mega e CareTM branded products 
business revenue. 

MaxxcareTM Distribution Revenue

MaxxcareTM distribution business revenue was THB 3,558.1mn in F 15, a decrease of 3.7% o , but was up by 7.9% o  in 4Q15.  

Decline in F 15 revenue was mainly led by the discontinuance of one of our principal in Myanmar as reported in our 3Q14 and 
4Q14 MD As .

Normalizing for the business loss from such principal, MaxxcareTM revenue growth for F 15 was 12.3%. 

�����������

 
Myanmar continues to be the largest market for 
MaxxcareTM distribution business, contributing over 
59% of the total MaxxcareTM revenue in F 15.

OEM Business Revenue

OEM revenue was THB 480.0mn in F 15, up by 13.2% o  and THB 147.7mn in 4Q15 up by 35.5% o . F 15 growth was mainly 
led by demand from overseas customers and growth in Australia.

81.4%

4.9%

SEA

Africa

CIS

Others

2.3%

11.4%

59.4%

31.1%

9.5%

Myanmar

Cambodia

Vietnam



 3,406.4  2558  301.3   9.7   2558 
 42.9  40.2    4  2558  43.8  43.9 

 2558  Mega e CareTM 

 2558  64.8  62.1  2557 
 Mega e CareTM  2558  8.2  

 

 40.2  2557  
 42.9  2558

 
 Mega We CareTM

 Mega e CareTM  64.8  2558  62.1  2557 
 2558    

 Mega e CareTM  2558  2,532.4   289.4   
12.9  

 MaxxcareTM

 MaxxcareTM  21  2558  21.5  
 

 2558  748.9   793.6    2558  
 

 26.1  2558  16.2   
2558   

 2558  125.2   68.6   2557

OEMMaxxcare

Mega e Care

9  57  2557  4/589  58 4/57  2558

61.3%

38.8%
43.9%

40.2%
42.5% 43.8% 42.9%

21.2%

14.7%
20.5%

16.2%
21.0% 21.1% 21.0%

22.4% 21.5% 24.1%
30.5%

26.1%

63.9% 62.1%
65.0% 64.3% 64.8%

9  57  4/57  2557

32.6%

20.5%

12.1%

34.9%

21.5%

13.4%

30.3%

19.6%

10.7%

29.9%

19.3%

10.7%

32.0%

20.2%

11.7%

33.5%

20.9%

12.6%

9  58  4/58  2558
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Consolidated Gross Margin and Gross Profits

Consolidated gross profits were THB 3,406.4mn in F 15, an increase of THB 301.3mn or 9.7% o . Overall gross margins in F 15 
improved to 42.9% from 40.2% in F 14. Gross margins in 4Q15 were 43.8% compared to 43.9% in 4Q14. 

Improvement in overall gross margin in F 15 was mainly led by, improvement in Mega e CareTM gross margins of 64.8% in 
F 15 compared to 62.1% in F 14, better revenue mix, given growth of 8.2% o  in Mega e CareTM revenue in F 15 and stable 
segmental gross margins. 

���������������������������������������������������������

Overall gross margins improved 
from 40.2% in F 14 to 42.9% in 
F 15 

 
Mega We CareTM Branded Products Business Gross Profit

Mega e CareTM branded products gross margin was 64.8% in F 15 compared to 62.1% in F 14. Gross margin improvement in 
F 15 was mainly driven by improved efficiencies due to higher output, savings in material cost and better realization per product 
due to THB depreciation. 

F 15 Mega e CareTM branded products gross profit was THB 2,532.4mn, an increase of THB 289.4mn or 12.9% o , driven by 
better gross margins and growth in revenue.

MaxxcareTM Distribution Business Gross Profit

MaxxcareTM distribution business gross margin remained largely maintained at 21.0% in F 15 compared to 21.5% in F 14. Gross 
margins are influenced by change in principal and service mix. 

Gross profit in F 15 was THB 748.9mn compared to THB 793.6mn in F 14. Decline in gross profits was mainly due to decline in 
reported revenue caused by the discontinuance of one of our principal in Myanmar and slightly lower gross margin owing to change 
in principal and service mix.

OEM Business Gross Profit

OEM business gross margin was 26.1% in F 15 compared to 16.2% in F 14. Improvement in gross margins was driven by better 
customer-mix and benefits from certain cost optimisation measures implemented in Australia coupled with growth in revenue.  Gross 
profit increased in F 15 to THB 125.2mn, from THB 68.6mn in F 14.

����������������������������������������������������������
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Admin exp

Overall SGA

Selling exp
32.6%

20.5%

12.1%

34.9%

21.5%

13.4%

30.3%

19.6%

10.7%

29.9%

19.3%

10.7%

32.0%

20.2%

11.7%

33.5%

20.9%

12.6%

OEMMaxxcare

Mega e CareOverall

9M14 F 14 4Q159M154Q14 F 15

61.3%

38.8%
43.9%

40.2%
42.5% 43.8% 42.9%

21.2%

14.7%
20.5%

16.2%
21.0% 21.1% 21.0%

22.4% 21.5% 24.1%
30.5%

26.1%

63.9% 62.1%
65.0% 64.3% 64.8%

9M14 F 14 4Q159M154Q14 F 15
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 33.5  2558  34.9  
 2558  32   2558  28  

  2558 

 2558   695.7   27    4  2558  271.3    8.1 
  2558  

 Mega e CareTM  
 44.3   2558   28  

 2558   651.5   564.3   2557  585.2  
 2556

�

:  

   609.1   2558  614.2   2557

. . 56 . . 57 . . 58 . . 58 . . 58

 78 88 106 102 97

 138 130 138 153 147

 86 96 114 121 115

 ( ) 130 121 130 134 129

  2558  129   134  2558  121 
 2557   

 147  2558  32 

 2558  173.6   
 37.6   26.8  ellness e Care 

 3  2558     
 53.8  

 15.2   12.2 

  94.1  2559   
    ellness e Care 

 43    

614 609

174
260

 2557  2558

247

189

202

671

6     31  2558  31  2557 

      /  
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SG A was 33.5% of operating revenue in F 15 as compared to 34.9% in 9M15 and 32.0% in F 14.  SGA in F 15 included a charge 
of THB 28mn towards trade receivables mainly arising from kraine and Thailand. In absolute terms SG A in F 15 remained stable, 
growing at moderate rate.

Charge towards trade receivables are a result of MEGA’s judgment of their recoverability from select few parties in kraine and Thailand. 

��������������������������
Net profit in F 15 was THB 695.7mn, up 27% o . 4Q15 net profit was THB 271.3mn, an increase of 8.1% o . Increase in net 
profits in F 15 was mainly driven by improvement in overall gross margins a result of increase in Mega e CareTM gross margins 
and better revenue mix  and net forex gains driven by THB depreciation amounting to THB 44.3mn. Net Profit in F 15 was also 
impacted by one time charge towards trade receivables of THB 28mn. 

Net profits without net forex gain or loss for F 15 was THB 651.5mn compared to THB 564.3mn in F 14 and THB 585.2mn in F 13.

�

Figures in THBmn

Operating Activities

Operating activities generated THB 609.1mn of cash in F 15 compared to THB 614.2mn in F 14.

Working Capital

For the Period Ending

Dec’13 Dec’14 une’15 Sep’15 Dec’15

Average receivable days 78 88 106 102 97

Average inventory days 138 130 138 153 147

Average payable days 86 96 114 121 115

Cash cycle (days) 130 121 130 134 129

Cash cycle as at Dec’15 was 129 days compared to 134 days as at Sep’15 and 121 days as at Dec’14. Increase in inventory days 
were partially offset by higher payable days.   

Out of 147 days of Inventory as at Dec’15, inventory of finished goods and raw material at factory accounted for 32 days. 

Investing Activities

In F 15, net cash used in investing activities was THB 173.6mn. Investing mainly comprised of, acquisition of land as part of overall 
investment plan for future expansion, in Australia of THB 37.6mn and THB 26.8mn in Thailand for our ellness e Care project 
indicated in 3Q15 MD A  THB 53.8mn towards maintenance and improvement capex for Thailand manufacturing facility.  
e acquired trucks on financial lease in Myanmar to support our distribution business resulting in an outflow of THB 15.2mn. THB 

12.2mn was spent towards improvement in information systems. 

e expect an outflow of THB 94.1mn during F 16 towards part payment for the acquisition of land in Bangpoo Industrial Estate, 
Bangkok, as part of future expansion plan. As reported earlier an amount of THB 43mn is expected to be incurred towards creation 
of necessary infrastructure for ellness e Care project. These capex will be in addition to the normal maintenance and improvement 
capex required for the year.  

Operating cash flow

Net cash from used in  investing activities

Net cash from used in  financing activities

Net change in cash

614 609

174
260

FY14 FY15

247

189

202

671

6 a  Cash and bank balances as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 includes term deposits with banks.

   b  Movement investments/redemption  in non-restricted term deposits with banks has not been considered as investing activity in the above cash flow graph.  
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MEGA is exploring opportunities to construct its own warehouse and office space on leased land in Myanmar. The proposal is 
subject to clearance from respective regulatory authorities. Once the approval is available the capex would be spent in 2 years. e 
would share more details in due course.  

Financing Activities

In F 15, net cash outflow from financing activities was THB 246.7mn mainly arising from payment of dividends of THB 353.6mn and 
repayment of long term loans  these outflows were partially offset by increase in short term loans of THB 188.8mn.

����������������

Current Assets

Cash and bank balance including cash and cash equivalents and term deposits with bank  was THB 1,466.8mn as at 31 December 
2015, an increase of THB 185.8mn from 31 December 2014, increase was a result of F 15 net profits,  adjusted with impact for 
changes in working capital, investing and financing activities during the year.

Trade receivables were THB 2,253.4mn as at 31 December 2015, an increase of THB 229.6mn or 11.3% compared to THB 2,023.8mn 
as at 31 December 2014. Inventories were THB 2,066.6mn as at 31 December 2015, an increase of THB 417.1mn over 
31 December 2014 level.  

As at 31 December 2015, Current ratio was at 2.0 times.

Non-current Assets

Non-current assets were THB 1,443.3mn as at 31 December 2015, an increase of THB 68.2mn or 5.0% from 31 December 2014. 
The increase was driven by investment in property plant and equipment and deferred tax assets.

Current Liabilities

Current liabilities were THB 3,095.2mn as at 31 December 2015, an increase of THB 574.4mn or 22.8%  compared to 31 December 
2014. Increase driven by trade payables, short term loans and year-end accruals. 

Trade payables were THB 1,604.2mn as at 31 December 2015, an increase of THB 298.3mn or 22.8%  from 31 December 2014. 
The increase was in line with business requirements. 

Non-current Liabilities

Non-current liabilities were THB 182.6mn as at 31 December 2015, a decrease of THB 50.1mn or 21.5%, compared to 31 December 
2014, as long term loans declined following the debt repayment.

As at 31 December 2015, Interest-bearing debt to Equity ratio was stable at 0.17 times, while Debt to Equity ratio was 0.76 times.

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ equity was THB 4,334.7mn as at 31 December 2015, an increase of THB 356.4mn compared to 31 December 2014, 
mainly driven by F 15 net profits and dividend payouts.

Global burden of disease has shifted to chronic disease. More than 60% of the deaths globally are occurring due to chronic disease 
as per HO. Emerging nations are the worst affected. As per HO 80% of chronic disease deaths are occurring in emerging nations. 

Modern lifestyle and rapid urbanization has bought lot of changes in society such as sedentary lifestyle, easy access to food, food 
advertising etc which has had a direct impact on Human health. 

e want to extend our commitment to human health and wellness by investing in building a holistic center for human health based 
on natural and traditional methods of healing. This holistic center will focus on bringing knowledge and expertise in the field of 
Ayurveda, Diet  Nutrition based healing to the general population of Thailand  Southeast Asia. 



: 

31 . . 58 31 . . 57
% % %

7 1,466.8 19.3 1,281.0 19.0 185.8 14.5

2,253.4 29.6 2,023.8 30.1 229.6 11.3

2,066.6 27.1 1,649.5 24.5 417.1 25.3

382.5 5.0 402.5 6.0 20.1 5.0

6,169.2 81.0 5,356.8 79.6 812.5 15.2

  1,031.5 13.5 980.1 14.6 51.4 5.2

232.7 3.1 230.2 3.4 2.5 1.1

105.7 1.4 93.4 1.4 12.3 13.2

73.4 1.0 71.3 1.1 2.1 2.9

1,443.3 19.0 1,375.1 20.4 68.2 5.0

7,612.5 100.0 6,731.8 100.0 880.7 13.1

543.3 7.1 354.2 5.3 189.1 53.4

1,604.2 21.1 1,305.9 19.4 298.3 22.8

331.0 4.3 363.4 5.4 32.4 8.9

82.5 1.1 75.4 1.1 7.2 9.5

8.4 0.1 0.2 0.0 8.2 4,158.2

80.1 1.1 55.5 0.8 24.6 44.4

445.6 5.9 366.2 5.4 79.4 21.7

3,095.2 40.7 2,520.8 37.4 574.4 22.8

68.0 0.9 137.2 2.0 69.2 50.5

16.3 0.2 0.2 0.0 16.1 8,700.9

1.3 0.0 2.9 0.0 1.5 53.1

94.4 1.2 90.1 1.3 4.3 4.8

2.6 0.0 2.4 0.0 0.2 7.9

182.6 2.4 232.8 3.5 (50.1) (21.5)

3,277.9 43.1 2,753.6 40.9 524.3 19.0

432.6 5.7 432.6 6.4 - 0.0

2,138.1 28.1 2,138.1 31.8 - 0.0

-

   92.5 1.2 67.5 1.0 25.0 37.0

   1,839.8 24.2 1,507.2 22.4 332.5 22.1

168.3 2.2 167.2  2.5 1.1  0.7

4,334.7 56.9 3,978.3 59.1 356.4 9.0

0.0  0.0 0.0  0.0 0.0  20.4

4,334.7 56.9 3,978.3 59.1 356.4 9.0

7,612.5 100.0 6,731.8 100.0 880.7 13.1
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Figures in THB mn

31-Dec-15 31-Dec-14 Change
Amount % Amount % Amount %

Current Assets

Cash and bank balances7 1,466.8 19.3 1,281.0 19.0 185.8 14.5
Trade accounts receivable 2,253.4 29.6 2,023.8 30.1 229.6 11.3
Inventories 2,066.6 27.1 1,649.5 24.5 417.1 25.3
Other current assets 382.5 5.0 402.5 6.0 20.1 5.0
Total Current Assets 6,169.2 81.0 5,356.8 79.6 812.5 15.2
Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 1,031.5 13.5 980.1 14.6 51.4 5.2
Intangible assets 232.7 3.1 230.2 3.4 2.5 1.1
Deferred tax assets 105.7 1.4 93.4 1.4 12.3 13.2
Other non- current assets 73.4 1.0 71.3 1.1 2.1 2.9

Total non-current assets 1,443.3 19.0 1,375.1 20.4 68.2 5.0
Total Assets 7,612.5 100.0 6,731.8 100.0 880.7 13.1

Current Liabilities

Bank overdrafts  short-term loans 543.3 7.1 354.2 5.3 189.1 53.4
Trade accounts payable 1,604.2 21.1 1,305.9 19.4 298.3 22.8
Other payables 331.0 4.3 363.4 5.4 32.4 8.9
Current portion of long-term loans 82.5 1.1 75.4 1.1 7.2 9.5
Current portion of finance lease liability 8.4 0.1 0.2 0.0 8.2 4,158.2
Income tax payable 80.1 1.1 55.5 0.8 24.6 44.4
Accrued expenses 445.6 5.9 366.2 5.4 79.4 21.7
Total Current Liabilities 3,095.2 40.7 2,520.8 37.4 574.4 22.8
Non-Current Liabilities

ong-term loans 68.0 0.9 137.2 2.0 69.2 50.5
Finance lease liabilities 16.3 0.2 0.2 0.0 16.1 8,700.9
Deferred tax liabilities 1.3 0.0 2.9 0.0 1.5 53.1
Employees benefits obligation 94.4 1.2 90.1 1.3 4.3 4.8
Other non-current liabilities 2.6 0.0 2.4 0.0 0.2 7.9
Total Non-Current Liabilities 182.6 2.4 232.8 3.5 (50.1) (21.5)
Total Liabilities 3,277.9 43.1 2,753.6 40.9 524.3 19.0

Equity

Issued and paid-up share capital 432.6 5.7 432.6 6.4 - 0.0
Premium on ordinary shares 2,138.1 28.1 2,138.1 31.8 - 0.0
Retained earnings:

Appropriated 92.5 1.2 67.5 1.0 25.0 37.0
nappropriated 1,839.8 24.2 1,507.2 22.4 332.5 22.1

Other components of equity 168.3 2.2 167.2  2.5 1.1  0.7
Owners Equity 4,334.7 56.9 3,978.3 59.1 356.4 9.0
Non-controlling interests 0.0  0.0 0.0  0.0 0.0  20.4
Total Equity 4,334.7 56.9 3,978.3 59.1 356.4 9.0
Total Liabilities and Equity 7,612.5 100.0 6,731.8 100.0 880.7 13.1



 : 

 
4/57

 
3/58

 
4/58

YoY %  2557  2558 YoY %

2,092.4 1,885.5 2,282.0 9.1% 7,730.0 7,944.7 2.8%

9.8 13.6 10.7 8.6% 37.9 50.1 32.2%

2,102.2 1,899.1 2,292.7 9.1% 7,767.9 7,994.8 2.9%

1,173.8 1,078.7 1,281.4 9.2% 4,624.9 4,538.3 1.9%

918.6 806.8 1,000.6 8.9% 3,105.1 3,406.4 9.7%

 43.9% 42.8% 43.8% 40.2% 42.9%
3 410.1 423.6 439.8 7.2% 1,564.2 1,659.5 6.1%

223.1 257.4 243.3 9.1% 907.2 1,000.8 10.3%

633.1 681.0 683.1 7.9% 2,471.3 2,660.2 7.6%

 30.3% 36.1% 29.9% 32.0% 33.5%

 5.2  39.3 0.5 16.4 44.3

 334.5 212.8 367.6 9.9% 786.7 985.8 25.3%

  
 

16.0% 11.3% 16.1% 10.2% 12.4%

34.0 34.1 39.8 17.1% 131.4 145.2 10.5%

300.5 178.7 327.8 9.1% 655.3 840.5 28.3%

3.6 3.5 3.3 9.1% 17.1 12.5 26.8%

296.9 175.3 324.5 9.3% 638.1 828.0 29.8%

46.0 22.7 53.2 15.8% 90.3 132.2 46.5%

250.9 152.5 271.3 8.1% 547.9 695.7 27.0%

 12.0% 8.1% 11.9% 7.1% 8.8%

0.29 0.18 0.31 8.1% 0.63 0.80 27.0%
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Figures in THB mn

4Q14 3Q15 4Q15 YoY Gr. FY14 FY15 YoY Gr.

Operating revenue 2,092.4 1,885.5 2,282.0 9.1% 7,730.0 7,944.7 2.8%

Other income 9.8 13.6 10.7 8.6% 37.9 50.1 32.2%

Total income 2,102.2 1,899.1 2,292.7 9.1% 7,767.9 7,994.8 2.9%

Cost of goods sold 1,173.8 1,078.7 1,281.4 9.2% 4,624.9 4,538.3 (1.9%)

Gross profits 918.6 806.8 1,000.6 8.9% 3,105.1 3,406.4 9.7%

Gross margin (%) 43.9% 42.8% 43.8% 40.2% 42.9%

Selling expenses3 410.1 423.6 439.8 7.2% 1,564.2 1,659.5 6.1%

Administrative expenses 223.1 257.4 243.3 9.1% 907.2 1,000.8 10.3%

Selling & Administrative exp (SGA) 633.1 681.0 683.1 7.9% 2,471.3 2,660.2 7.6%

SGA (% to operating revenue) 30.3% 36.1% 29.9% 32.0% 33.5%

Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) (5.2) (39.3) 0.5 16.4 (44.3)

EBITDA 334.5 212.8 367.6 9.9% 786.7 985.8 25.3%

% of EBITDA to operating revernue 16.0% 11.3% 16.1% 10.2% 12.4%

Depreciation & Amortization 34.0 34.1 39.8 17.1% 131.4 145.2 10.5%

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 300.5 178.7 327.8 9.1% 655.3 840.5 28.3%

Finance cost 3.6 3.5 3.3 (9.1%) 17.1 12.5 (26.8%)

Profit before tax 296.9 175.3 324.5 9.3% 638.1 828.0 29.8%

Tax expense 46.0 22.7 53.2 15.8% 90.3 132.2 46.5%

Net Profit 250.9 152.5 271.3 8.1% 547.9 695.7 27.0%

% of Net profit to operating revernue 12.0% 8.1% 11.9% 7.1% 8.8%

Earning per share 0.29 0.18 0.31 8.1% 0.63 0.80 27.0%

3 THB 57.7mn attributable to forex loss in FY15 has been classified as SG&A expenses in audited financial statement per TFRS guidance. Given the 
nature of this charge, the amount has been classified in MD&A under forex gain/loss.

Disclaimer

The information contained in our analysis is intended solely for your personal reference only. In addition, such forward-looking 
statements reflect our current views with respect to future events and financial performance.

These views are based on assumptions subject to various risks and uncertainties. No assurance is given that future events will occur 
or that our assumptions are correct. Actual results may differ materially from those projected.  
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The Audit Committee has 3 independent directors. They are:

1. Alan Kam  Chairman & Independent Director
2. Manu Sawangjaeng Independent Director
3. Thor Santisiri  Independent Director 

The Audit Committee had Five (05) meetings in 2015 plusother meetings with external auditors, management and internal auditors.  
All the members attended all the meetings thereby recording 100% attendance for the year.

The Audit Committee performed the following duties in the 2015 financial year:

Financial Statements – The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the Reviewed and Audited statements of the company on a 
regular basis before submitting to the Board of.  Consultations were made with management of the company on various occasions 
to assure that committee members are satisfied with the reporting of the statements.  The Committee also reviewed the statements 
of its subsidiaries and affiliates.  The Committee is satisfied that the financial presentation is accurate and they are in conformity 
with the regulations of the Stock Exchange of Thailand and Securities Exchange Commission of Thailand.

Internal Audit and Internal Control – The Internal Audit function has been outsourced to Mazars imited in Thailand, Mazars imited 
in Vietnam and Grant Thornton in Myanmar. Aside from approving the annual internal audit plan of the Internal Audit Department, the 
committee also held regular meetings with internal auditors,to discuss any outstanding issues related to the department’s function.  

e are confident that the Internal Auditors showed independence and diligence in reviewing various audit issues of the company. 
The committee is satisfied with the work of the outsourced Internal Auditor.

External Auditors – The Audit Committee met with KPMG Phoomchai Audit imited, Thailand, the company’s external auditor on 
the Reviewed and Audited financial statements regularly.  The committee also discussed the annual audit plan, matters of concern 
with external auditors

Risk Management – The Company continues to remain risk averse while maintaining a policy of growth. The Audit Committee 
has ensured that senior and middle management continue to have sound financial practice in managing foreign currency exposure, 
capital budgeting, material cost control, labor issues as well as safety measures.

Related Party Transaction – The Audit Committee has reviewed the connected party transactions of the Company, its subsidiaries 
and affiliates.  It is satisfied that transactions are reasonable in the normal course of business.

The Audit Committee members have over the course of the 2015 year visited the company’s  office and operations in Myanmar.  
The Audit Committee is pleased with the operational processes in overseas offices especially Myanmar, continued improvement in 
the areas of factory management including those of safety standards, administration, Internal Controls and financial management. 
The Audit Committee is satisfied that MEGA’s business unitshave been working hard to maintain the high standard of production, 
administration and financial discipline as its headquarters in Thailand.

The Audit Committeewishes to thank the management team, internal audit staff and external auditors for their support in making the 
Committee’s job pleasant and efficient throughout the 2015 year.
 
 
 

Alan am
Independent Director
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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The Committee comprises of 3 Directors and the composition is as below:

Mr. Manu Sawangjaeng Independent Director and Chairman of Remuneration and Nomination Committee

Mr. Kirit Shah Director

Mr. Vivek Dhawan Director, Chief Executive Officer

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee held Two (02) meetings in 2015.  All the members attended all the meetings thereby 
recording 100% attendance for the year for each member.

The Committee performed the following duties in the 2015 financial year:

Board of Directors – The Committee reviewed the structure of the Board including its Committees and also their roles and  
responsibilities. The Board’s orientation programs for new Directors and the policy of retirement by rotation was discussed. The 
Directors due for retirement by rotation and appointment in the Annual General Meeting were identified and recommended for  
appointment by vote in the coming Shareholders’ meeting.

Diversity – The Committee reviewed the diversity in the Board of Directors and employees of the Company. The Company  
employed 54% female and 46% male employees as on December 31, 2015. The Committee continues to encourage employment 
for merit, talent and skills required.

Remuneration  The Committee reviewed the Company’s Remuneration levels and practices in respect of Directors and Employees.

Succession Planning – The Committee reviewed the succession planning by the Company’s Management and Board of Directors 
as well as its Committees.

Talent management and training – Company firmly believes that a talent pipeline is essential for ensuring the Company’s long 
term success and over the past few years the Human Capital Development’s training processes have been embedded across the 
Company to assist in training, retaining and developing existing employees while attracting new personnel to the organization. The 
Committee has reviewed and discussed the training programs for employees and Directors.

Manu Sawangjaeng

Independent Director 
Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee
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The financial statements have been audited by independent and qualified independent auditors who are satisfied that financial 
statements fairly present in all material respects the financial position as at December 31, 2015 and the financial performance and 
cash flows for the year ended on that date.

The Board of Directors has provided and maintained an effective internal controls system to enable the preparation of consolidated 
and separate financial statements and to reasonably ensure that financial statements and accounting records are accurate, complete 
and adequate to protect its interests.

To accomplish this task, the Board of Directors has appointed an Audit Committee, which consists of Independent Directors and 
is responsible for the quality of financial statements, Internal controls system and disclosure of related party transactions, whose 
comments on these issues are readily included in the Audit Committee Report in this Annual report.

The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the Company’s overall internal controls system is adequate and suitable and has 
rendered reasonable credibility to the reliability of the consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the 
year ended December 31, 2015.

Mr. Vivek Dhawan      Mr. Thomas Abraham 
Chief Executive Officer     Chief Financial Officer
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 31  2558

31 31 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

5 515,679 340,634 81,870 95,521 

6 951,111 433,832 951,111 432,775 

4, 7 2,253,362 2,023,762 1,268,257 1,173,501 

4, 8 232,598 273,884 55,327 92,733 

4 - - - 30,000 

 9 2,066,616 1,649,471 625,518 438,213 

149,878 128,665 53,799 40,095 

6,169,244 4,850,248 3,035,882 2,302,838 

10 - - - - 

11 - - 71,574 59,923 

6 - 506,539 - 506,539 

  12 1,031,495 980,141 629,961 620,959 

13 232,700 230,211 191,429 187,912 

14 105,716 93,416 37,910 21,302 

 73,392 71,295 64,504 62,720 

1,443,303 1,881,602 995,378 1,459,355 

7,612,547 6,731,850 4,031,260 3,762,193 
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31 31 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

 
15 543,270 354,188 264,041 262,865 

4, 16 1,604,214 1,305,884 170,516 154,488 

4, 17 331,033 363,438 75,612 12,089 

4, 15 - - - 2,543 

 
15 82,543 75,392 48,435 44,239 

15 8,421 198 69 75 

80,143 55,497 30,116 13,720 

445,617 366,240 74,819 50,901 

3,095,241 2,520,837 663,608 540,920 

15 67,954 137,173 48,000 87,795 

15 16,318 185 - 69 

14 1,349 2,877 - - 

18 94,422 90,111 52,740 56,783 

2,595 2,405 - - 

182,638 232,751 100,740 144,647 

3,277,879 2,753,588 764,348 685,567 
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31 31 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

19

436,951 436,951 436,951 436,951 

432,625 432,625 432,625 432,625 

19 2,138,104 2,138,104 2,138,104 2,138,104 

20 20,004 8,431 20,004 8,431 

 21 49,088 49,088 43,695 43,695 

 21 23,400 10,000 23,400 10,000 

1,839,761 1,507,232 609,084 443,771 

21 (168,292) (167,200) - - 

4,334,690 3,978,280 3,266,912 3,076,626 

(22) (18) - - 

4,334,668 3,978,262 3,266,912 3,076,626 

7,612,547 6,731,850 4,031,260 3,762,193 
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31 31 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

22, 27 7,944,741 7,730,049 2,538,691 2,262,166

28,098 17,416 27,761 321,839

101,918 - 81,452 6,673

21,973 20,447 11,694 8,002

8,096,730 7,767,912 2,659,598 2,598,680

9, 22, 24 4,538,300 4,624,910 1,355,419 1,429,865

24 1,717,121 1,564,170 418,258 263,425

24 1,000,777 907,154 315,304 243,488

- 16,407 - -

25 12,542 17,134 6,741 11,317

7,268,740 7,129,775 2,095,722 1,948,095

827,990 638,137 563,876 650,585

26 (132,249) (90,289) (37,118) (18,916)

22 695,741 547,848 526,758 631,669

 

( )   
18 5,434 (823) 7,207 (4,300)

 

 
(1,090) (27,217) - -

 ( )  - 4,344 (28,040) 7,207 (4,300)

700,085 519,808 533,965 627,369
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31 31 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

695,747 547,880 526,758 631,669

(6) (32) - -

695,741 547,848 526,758 631,669

 ( ) 

700,089 519,838 533,965 627,369

(4) (30) - -

 ( ) 700,085 519,808 533,965 627,369

 ( ) 28 0.80 0.63 0.61 0.73
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31 31 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

695,741 547,848 526,758 631,669

145,243 131,432 72,646 65,857

16,740 16,818 3,418 2,923

(28,098) (17,416) (27,761) (321,839)

12,542 17,134 6,741 11,317

29,839 1,887 16,928 -

( ) (39,048) 46,804 (48,124) 7,470

 (513) (1,850) - -

15,547 11,948 7,716 9,201

11,573 8,431 1,431 835

132,249 90,289 37,118 18,916

991,815 853,325 596,871 426,349

(172,805) (361,068) (63,907) (656,304)

32,185 (99,198) 52,240 (43,244)

(427,490) 8,078 (190,723) 62,104

(22,727) (27,869) (13,516) (11,143)

- 10,626 - 196

(1,978) 2,460 (1,784) -

275,903 162,429 15,959 4,227

(24,243) 171,766 62,326 (20,300)

79,493 5,415 23,918 (28,061)

112 - - -

(500) - (500) -

(4,065) (490) (2,750) (238)

 ( ) 725,700 725,474 478,134 (266,414)

(116,578) (111,257) (39,132) (15,567)

 ( ) 609,122 614,217 439,002 (281,981)

    ( ) 

 31  2558
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31 31 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

13,417 14,033 13,080 18,344

- - - 300,000

 (181,067) (159,892) (80,594) (79,346)

- - (1,509) (165)

- - - (300,000)

- - 30,000 670,000

- (35,280) - (35,280)

(12,154) (23,500) (4,571) -

 6,172 2,210 - -

433,932 - 432,775 -

(444,572) (433,832) (444,572) (432,775)

- (506,539) - (506,539)

(184,272) (1,142,800) (55,391) (365,761)

(12,524) (17,313) (6,766) (11,550)

(353,576) (242,551) (353,576) (242,529)

(2,720) (299) (75) (99)

  
( ) 188,768 (338,032) 2,767 (78,030)

(66,651) (73,212) (37,069) (43,652)

- - (2,543) -

(246,703) (671,407) (397,262) (375,860)

 ( ) 178,147 (1,199,990) (13,651) (1,023,602)

   1 340,634 1,540,309 95,521 1,119,123

  
(3,102) 315 - -

   31 5 515,679 340,634 81,870 95,521

39,736 - - -

    ( ) 

 31  2558
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 31  2558

 25  2559

    ( )    384  4  
    

      
   ( )          

   

      

 19  2556

   
     

   31  2558  2557  4, 10  11

  (
)  

  
 1  2558   

  

  
  1  2558  
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    ( ) 

 31  2558
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10 - 20 
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  10  11 
 

/

  

Al-Mayoni For Trading Services td.

Magnus Pharmaceuticals td.

   

    

   ( ) 

   (
) 
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

 31   

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

- - 1,063,760 1,059,199

- - 71,149 62,720

- - 34,762 20,748

- - 24 43

- - 113 4,826

- - 822 1,254

- - 18,005 19,183

- - 33,465 -

126,391 79,503 16,740 15,668

1,131 1,227 721 859

286 167 286 167

127,808 80,897 17,747 16,694

7,440 7,440 7,440 7,440

14,341 41,038 14,341 41,038

13,742 20,419 7,826 8,331

19,421 - 19,421 -

500 - 500 -
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

   31  

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

- - 527,424 549,563

36,626 62,524 36,626 62,524

36,626 62,524 564,050 612,087

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

- - 12,120 33,932

106 450 - -

106 450 12,120 33,932

 

2558 2557 2558 2557 2558 2557

( ) ( )

- 1.65 - - - 30,000

- - - 30,000

 31  

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

  1 - - 30,000 400,000

- - - 300,000

- - (30,000) (670,000)

  31 - - - 30,000
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 31  2558

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

- - 17,668 21,108

- - 17,668 21,108

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

- - 13,616 -

244 481 - -

244 481 13,616 -

 

2558 2557 2558 2557 2558 2557

( ) ( )

- 1.70 - - - 2,543

- - - 2,543

 31  

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

  1 - - 2,543 2,603

- - 724 43

- - (3,267) (103)

  31 - - - 2,543

  31  2558  
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 Mega ifesciences (Australia) Pty. imited   Mega ifesciences (Australia) 
Pty. imited       

 25   1  2558 
  

 28  2557   300  
 

 2558

       
  GMP 

 30 

 1  2558  Mega ifesciences Private imited   Mega ifesciences 
Private imited     

 Mega ifesciences Private imited  
13 

 90 

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

15,593 29,262 4,728 18,539

454,826 241,147 76,042 76,982

37,753 70,101 1,100 -

7,507 124 - -

515,679 340,634 81,870 95,521



21�

��
��
���
�

��
��
��
�
��
�

��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��
��

���
��
���
���
��
��
�
��
���

��
��
��
���
��
��
�
��
���

    ( ) 

 31  2558

   31  

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

285,767 159,695 81,857 95,500

100,229 75,999 13 21

32,082 54,229 - -

61,919 16,284 - -

11,675 13,144 - -

5 11,170 - -

24,002 10,113 - -

515,679 340,634 81,870 95,521

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

951,111 433,832 951,111 432,775

951,111 433,832 951,111 432,775

- 506,539 - 506,539

- 506,539 - 506,539

951,111 940,371 951,111 939,314

   31  2558  444.57   1.73   
506.54   3  (2557   3)  7   1  

 31  2558  1.16 
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

   31  

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

951,111 939,314 951,111 939,314

- 1,057 - -

951,111 940,371 951,111 939,314

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

4 36,626 62,524 564,050 612,087

2,243,911 1,970,555 721,135 561,414

2,280,537 2,033,079 1,285,185 1,173,501

 (27,175) (9,317) (16,928) -

2,253,362 2,023,762 1,268,257 1,173,501

29,839 1,887 16,928 -
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 31  2558

 

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

19,247 33,314 384,309 531,189

 :

 3 8,380 6,285 142,275 33,221

3 - 6 7,434 7,457 28,916 19,891

6 - 12 1,565 12,552 6,423 19,643

 12 - 2,916 2,127 8,143

36,626 62,524 564,050 612,087

1,640,695 1,496,552 503,796 388,931

 :

 3 384,509 352,791 116,460 150,974

3 - 6 132,854 65,695 68,049 17,872

6 - 12 60,817 25,572 25,918 3,130

 12 25,036 29,945 6,912 507

2,243,911 1,970,555 721,135 561,414

 (27,175) (9,317) (16,928) -

2,216,736 1,961,238 704,207 561,414

2,253,362 2,023,762 1,268,257 1,173,501

  30   360 
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

   31  

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

1,451,911 1,290,445 892,012 709,997

460,856 462,112 340,000 419,131

145,664 109,007 - -

77,549 55,183 - 26,094

62,433 56,407 - -

43,854 18,279 43,854 18,279

38,270 41,646 9,319 -

2,280,537 2,033,079 1,285,185 1,173,501

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

4 106 450 12,120 33,932

85,540 92,289 - -

38,460 41,166 7,449 5,621

 23,513 30,134 448 2,279

22,230 17,631 2,113 2,390

18,591 3,910 18,591 3,910

9,781 7,117 9,143 6,992

 
5,101 8,561 2,536 3,020

4,408 40,107 1,623 33,367

24,868 32,519 1,304 1,222

232,492 273,434 43,207 58,801

232,598 273,884 55,327 92,733
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

1,699,497 1,369,117 380,793 235,336

189,212 138,486 147,116 106,290

54,342 52,184 46,823 44,718

51,905 46,090 43,814 38,396

1,741 1,239 - -

85,579 53,094 16,249 19,332

2,082,276 1,660,210 634,795 444,072

 (15,660) (10,739) (9,277) (5,859)

2,066,616 1,649,471 625,518 438,213

  

- 4,521,560 4,608,092 1,352,001 1,426,941

-  16,740 16,818 3,418 2,924

4,538,300 4,624,910 1,355,419 1,429,865
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

  

31 

2558 2557

( )

30,835 54,331

4,110 3,752

34,945 58,083

45,364 67,153

45,364 67,153

43,833 84,561

44,297 83,825

( ) (464) 736

2558 2557

( )

  1 59,923 52,162

11,651 7,761

  31 71,574 59,923
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2��

    ( ) 

 31  2558

( )

  1  2557 185,399 38,846 1,962 226,207

- 7,257 16,244 23,501

- 1,437 (1,437) -

- (48) - (48)

- (789) - (789)

  31  2557  1  2558 185,399 46,703 16,769 248,871

- 6,984 5,169 12,153

- 14,245 (14,245) -

- (100) - (100)

 - (2,627) - (2,627)

  31  2558 185,399 65,205 7,693 258,297

  1  2557 - 13,191 - 13,191

- 5,689 - 5,689

- (46) - (46)

 - (174) - (174)

  31  2557  1  2558 - 18,660 - 18,660

- 7,555 - 7,555

- (100) - (100)

 - (518) - (518)

  31  2558 - 25,597 - 25,597

  1  2557 185,399 25,655 1,962 213,016

  31  2557  1  2558 185,399 28,043 16,769 230,211

  31  2558 185,399 39,608 7,693 232,700
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

( )

  1  2557 185,399 8,823 194,222

  31  2557  1  2558 185,399 8,823 194,222

- 4,571 4,571

  31  2558 185,399 13,394 198,793

  1  2557 - 5,470 5,470

- 840 840

  31  2557  1  2558 - 6,310 6,310

- 1,054 1,054

  31  2558 - 7,364 7,364

  1  2557 185,399 3,353 188,752

  31  2557  1  2558 185,399 2,513 187,912

  31  2558 185,399 6,030 191,429

 12  2555  DHG Phamaceutical Joint Stock Company 
    
 Eugica   6   9  2556 

  Eugica 
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

   31   

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

342,269 283,875 (237,902) (193,336)

(236,553) (190,459) 236,553 190,459

 ( ) 105,716 93,416 (1,349) (2,877)

 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

56,437 29,983 (18,527) (8,681)

(18,527) (8,681) 18,527 8,681

37,910 21,302 - -
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

( ) / 

  1 
 

2558
 

( 26)
 

  31 
  

2558

( )

243,339 59,587 - 13 302,939

15,872 5,724 (1,358) (113) 20,125

22,157 (3,639) - (510) 18,008

2,507 (1,272) - (38) 1,197

283,875 60,400 (1,358) (648) 342,269

189,920 44,478 - - 234,398

 3,416 422 - (334) 3,504

193,336 44,900 - (334) 237,902

 90,539 15,500 (1,358) (314) 104,367
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

( ) / 

  1 
 

2557
 

( 26)
 

  31 
  

2557

( )

245,138 (1,803) - 4 243,339

14,989 1,109 - (226) 15,872

25,826 (1,715) - (1,954) 22,157

2,614 37 - (144) 2,507

288,567 (2,372) - (2,320) 283,875

204,658 (14,738) - - 189,920

 7,621 (4,214) - 9 3,416

212,279 (18,952) - 9 193,336

76,288 16,580 - (2,329) 90,539

( ) / 

  1 
 

2558
 

( 26)

  31 
  

2558

( )

21,234 24,406 - 45,730

8,539 3,811 (1,802) 10,548

120 39 - 159

29,983 28,256 (1,802) 56,437

8,681 9,846 - 18,527

8,681 9,846 - 18,527

21,302 18,410 (1,802) 37,910
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

( ) / 

  1  
 

2557
 

( 26)
 

  31 
  

2557

( )

20,224 1,100 - 21,324

7,727 812 - 8,539

185 (65) - 120

28,136 1,847 - 29,983

10,149 (1,468) - 8,681

10,149 (1,468) - 8,681

17,987 3,315 - 21,302
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

- 4,341 3,753 - 3,753

 

- 

262,267 239,094 260,579 195,202

 - 276,662 111,341 3,462 63,910

 
543,270 354,188 264,041 262,865

- 82,543 75,392 48,435 44,239

4 - - - 2,543

8,421 198 69 75

634,234 429,778 312,545 309,722

- 67,954 137,173 48,000 87,795

16,318 185 - 69

84,272 137,358 48,000 87,864
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

    31 

 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

 634,234 429,778 312,545 309,722

84,272 137,358 48,000 87,864

718,506 567,136 360,545 397,586

 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

 6  
 3   334,000  

 2556  SD 
IBOR  2.15  (2557 : USD LIBOR 
  2 15 ) 96,435 132,034 96,435 132,034

 4  
  78,400  

 2556  SD IBOR 1 
 1.90  (2557 : USD LIBOR 

  1 90 ) 54,062 80,531 - -

150,497 212,565 96,435 132,034

   Eugica 
 

  31  2558  1,228  (2557: 1,685 ) 
 1,009  (2557: 1,331 )



2��

    ( ) 

 31  2558

   31  

2558 2557

  

( )

11,101 2,680 8,421 210 12 198

 
18,210 1,892 16,318 189 4 185

29,311 4,572 24,739 399 16 383

2558 2557

  

( )

73 4 69 87 12 75

 
- - - 73 4 69

73 4 69 160 16 144

   31  

 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

689,425 558,587 360,476 386,733

 186 8,549 69 10,853

4,341 - - -

24,554 - - -

718,506 567,136 360,545 397,586
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

4 - - 17,668 21,108

1,604,214 1,305,884 152,848 133,380

1,604,214 1,305,884 170,516 154,488

   31  

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

1,202,485 1,058,289 88,820 39,046

 317,590 208,791 42,056 84,757

1,319 321 - -

29,930 13,204 20,000 9,523

32,344 17,017 - -

14,860 7,810 17,668 21,108

5,686 452 1,972 54

1,604,214 1,305,884 170,516 154,488

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

4 244 481 13,616 -

200,419 150,578 13,643 -

55,494 163,044 16,544 1,883

16,932 16,330 - -

57,944 33,005 31,809 10,206

330,789 362,957 61,996 12,089

331,033 363,438 75,612 12,089
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

81,270 79,088 52,740 56,783

13,152 11,023 - -

94,422 90,111 52,740 56,783

13,009 13,259 7,716 9,201

2,538 (1,311) - -

15,547 11,948 7,716 9,201

( )  
(6,792) 823 (9,009) 4,300

(379) (756) - -

(7,171) 67 (9,009) 4,300

 . . 
2541 
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

94,422 90,111 52,740 56,783

94,422 90,111 52,740 56,783

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

  
  1 90,111 78,586 56,783 43,520

23

13,713 9,436 6,413 7,238

1,834 2,512 1,303 1,963

15,547 11,948 7,716 9,201

( )  
(6,792) 823 (9,009) 4,300

(379) (756) - -

(7,171) 67 (9,009) 4,300

(4,065) (490) (2,750) (238)

(4,065) (490) (2,750) (238)

  
  31 94,422 90,111 52,740 56,783
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

( ) 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

(2,778) 4,526 (5,873) 6,508

(4,014) (3,703) (3,136) (2,208)

(6,792) 823 (9,009) 4,300

   ( ) 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

 0.93 - 2.94 3.92 - 4.28 2.89 4.11

 4.44 - 5.00 1.50 - 7.00 5.00 7.00

 

  31  2558  27.2  (2557: 28 2 )

   
   

  

  
  31  2558

( )

 (  1) (8,712) 10,547 (6,161) 7,395

 (  1) 10,702 (8,988) 7,490 (6,364)
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

2558 2557

( ) (   )

  1 

- 0.5 873,901 436,951 873,901 436,951

  31 

- 0.5 873,901 436,951 873,901 436,951

  1 

- 0.5 865,249 432,625 865,249 432,625

  31 

- 0.5 865,249 432,625 865,249 432,625

 

 . . 2535  51  
 ( ) 

  7  2556 
  

 2557
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

  /    
   

 
  /  

 

 5  

6  2557

8,652,400 

0 

 1   1  

17.50  

 6   
4  6  

8.35 

 Black-Scholes Model 
  3   12 

   ( ) 22.25

 ( ) 17.50

28.25%

 ( ) 5

 ( ) 0.18

3.09%
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

- - 17,738 7,596

(20,004) (8,431) (20,004) (8,431)

11,573 8,431 1,431 835

 

 . . 2535  116  ( ) 
 5  ( )  10  
 

 

 2  
    31  2558  13.9  (2557 : 10 0 )  

  31  2558  0.5  (2557 : )  
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

 1 
 2 
 3 

   

   

   

  
 

 

   ( ) 
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58
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05

1,
90

0
3,
73
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53
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41
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82

9
3,
56
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44
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48
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01

2
42
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07
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74

1
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73
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04

9
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) 

(1
45

,2
95

)
(1
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 31  2558

2558 2557

( )

1,089,157 925,365

(138,216) (162,378)

(145,243) (131,431)

(12,542) (17,134)

34,834 23,715

(132,249) (90,289)

695,741 547,848

4,505,377 3,858,631

3,107,170 2,873,219

7,612,547 6,731,850

1,564,584 1,230,758

1,713,295 1,522,830

3,277,879 2,753,588
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 31  2558

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

  126,391 79,503 16,740 15,668

413 409 268 266

718 818 453 593

286 167 286 167

127,808 80,897 17,747 16,694

  1,213,918 1,168,710 399,024 342,932

39,291 19,956 5,809 5,704

14,829 11,131 7,263 8,608

11,287 8,264 1,145 668

1,279,325 1,208,061 413,241 357,912

 
 3   3 
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 31  2558

 
 

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

(332,539) (5,066) (147,562) 23,271

4,126,827 3,895,583 962,693 887,865

410,933 397,521 290,669 267,901

87,648 80,602 67,456 61,130

245,431 256,270 182,163 189,698

4,538,300 4,624,910 1,385,419 1,429,865

989,551 910,372 313,573 206,118

495,879 442,333 6,186 (7,409)

109,974 105,237 47,459 35,610

2,701 4,557 37,463 25,305

1,558 1,669 - -

117,458 100,002 13,577 3,801

1,717,121 1,564,170 418,258 263,425

500,321 449,104 134,133 114,114

122,152 133,546 27,710 25,839

56,037 49,160 5,190 4,727

48,649 46,880 2,728 2,951

29,839 1,887 16,928 -

29,108 24,598 19,935 13,516

26,152 32,672 10,715 15,814

- - 33,465 -

188,519 169,307 64,500 66,527

1,000,777 907,154 315,304 243,488
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

4 - - - 43

11,329 17,116 6,729 11,256

11,329 17,116 6,729 11,299

1,213 18 12 18

12,542 17,134 6,741 11,317

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

 141,341 112,546 55,528 27,838

 6,408 (5,677) - (5,607)

147,749 106,869 55,528 22,231

 14 (15,500) (16,580) (18,410) (3,315)

132,249 90,289 37,118 18,916
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

2558 2557

( ) ( ) ( ) ( )

827,990 638,137

20 165,598 20 127,627

 
30,107 8,775

- (75,851) (45,668)

5,987 5,232

 6,408 (5,677)

16 132,249 14 90,289

2558 2557

( ) ( ) ( ) ( )

563,876 650,585

20 112,775 20 130,117

- - (60,000)

- (75,851) (45,668)

194 74

 - (5,607)

7 37,118 3 18,916

  577 . . 2557  10  2557 
 20  2558  1  2558

 22  2559  30 
 20   1  2559 

 20    31  2558  2557 
 2555
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

 
 . . 2520  31  2555  

( ) 

( )  
 

 

2558 2557

( )

1,013,677 926,878 1,940,555 865,225 679,213 1,544,438

383,297 214,839 598,136 454,078 263,650 717,728

1,396,974 1,141,717 2,538,691 1,319,303 942,863 2,262,166

 31  2558  2557 
 

  

2558 2557 2558 2557

(   )

695,747 547,880 526,758 631,669

865,249 865,249 865,249 865,249

 ( ) 0.80 0.63 0.61 0.73
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 2557  (  20) 
 

 

  13  2558  0.16  
 138.4   2558

  10  2558  
 0.25   216.3   2558

  13  2557   
 0.10   86.5   2557

  11  2557   
 0.18   156.0   2557
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 31  2558

  
  

 (  15) 

  
  1  7  (2557:  

6 )

   31  

 

  1  1  
 5 

( ) ( )

1.73 - 3.00 951,111 - 951,111

951,111 - 951,111

3.00 433,832 - 433,832

3.00 - 506,539 506,539

433,832 506,539 940,371
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 1  1  
 5 

( ) ( )

1.73 - 3.00 951,111 - 951,111

951,111 - 951,111

3.00 432,775 - 432,775

1.65 30,000 - 30,000

3.00 - 506,539 506,539

462,775 506,539 969,314
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 31  2558

   31  

 

  1  1 
 5 

( ) ( )

 
1.12 - 6.85 543,270 - 543,270

 
2.09  2.73 82,543 - 82,543

 
3.10 - 12.83 8,421 - 8,421

2.09 - 2.73 - 67,954 67,954

3.10 - 12.83 - 16,318 16,318

634,234 84,272 718,506

 
1.10 - 1.51 354,188 - 354,188

 
2.05 - 2.44 75,392 - 75,392

 
3.63 - 10.97 198 - 198

2.05 - 2.44 - 137,173 137,173

3.63 - 10.97 - 185 185

429,778 137,358 567,136
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  1  1 
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( ) ( )

 
1.31 264,041 - 264,041

 
2.73 48,435 - 48,435

 
10.97 69 - 69

2.73 - 48,000 48,000

312,545 48,000 360,545

  
1.49 262,865 - 262,865

 
2.44 44,239 - 44,239

 
10.97 75 - 75

1.70 2,543 - 2,543

2.44 - 87,795 87,795

10.97 - 69 69

309,722 87,864 397,586
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

    
 

  31   

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

5 100,229 75,999 13 21

6 - 1,057 - -

7 1,451,911 1,290,445 892,012 709,997

15 (689,425) (558,587) (360,476) (386,733)

16 (1,202,485) (1,058,289) (88,820) (39,046)

 (339,770) (249,375) 442,729 284,239

5 5 11,170 - -

7 77,549 55,183 - 26,094

15 (4,341) - - -

16 (14,860) (7,810) (17,668) (21,108)

 58,353 58,543 (17,668) 4,986

7 43,854 18,279 43,854 18,279

16 (29,930) (13,204) (20,000) (9,523)

 13,924 5,075 23,854 8,756

5 61,919 16,284 - -

7 62,433 56,407 - -

124,352 72,691 - -
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

5 11,675 13,144 - -

7 145,664 109,007 - -

16 (32,344) (17,017) - -

 124,995 105,134 - -

5 32,082 54,229 - -

15 (24,554) - - -

16 (1,319) (321) - -

 6,209 53,908 - -

5 24,002 10,113 - -

7 38,270 41,646 9,319 -

16 (5,686) (452) (1,972) (54)

 56,586 51,307 7,347 (54)
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 31  2558

     
   

    
    

    
31  2558 

( )

24,739 23,512 69 69
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 31  2558

2558 2557 2558 2557

( )

94,080 129,074 94,080 94,080

49,150 24,414 49,150 22,331

5,289 - - -

148,519 153,488 143,230 116,411

39,417 19,447 7,097 7,812

39,151 12,913 10,319 1,200

78,568 32,360 17,416 9,012

123,315 166,099 123,315 166,099

46,779 63,108 46,779 61,108

170,094 229,207 170,094 227,207

  0.5  4 

 
  

  31  2558   
1,225   13  (31  2557: 1,340   13 )
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 31  2558

 25  2559   
0.24   207.7  

  
  

 1   

 

  1 (  2558) 2559

  2 (  2558) 2559

  7 (  2558) 2559

  8 (  2558)   2559

  10 (  2558) 2559

  12 (  2558) 2559

  16 (  2558)  2559

  17 (  2558) 2559

  18 (  2558) 2559

  19 (  2558) 2559

  21 (  2558)  2559

  23 (  2558) 2559

  24 (  2558) 2559

  27 (  2558) 2559

  28 (  2558) 2559

  33 (  2558) 2559

  34 (  2558) 2559

  36 (  2558) 2559

  37 (  2558)    2559

  38 (  2558) 2559

  40 (  2558) 2559
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    ( ) 

 31  2558

 2557  2558 

2557

( )

2,116,051 (92,289) 2,023,762

181,595 92,289 273,884

 119,254 9,411 128,665

(1,403,926) 98,042 (1,305,884)

(265,396) (98,042) (363,438)

(356,829) (9,411) (366,240)

-

4,613,262 11,648 4,624,910

1,530,857 33,313 1,564,170

952,115 (44,961) 907,154

-
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To the Shareholders of Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited

I have audited the accompanying consolidated and separate financial statements of Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), and of Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited (the “Company”), respectively, which comprise the 
consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 31 December 2015, the consolidated and separate statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements in 
accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

My responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on my audit. I conducted 
my audit in accordance with Thai Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and separate financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. 

Opinion

In my opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Group and the Company, respectively, as at 31 December 2015 and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards.

����������������������������
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

(Orawan Chunhakitpaisan)
Certified Public Accountant
Registration No. 6105

KPMG Phoomchai Audit Ltd.
Bangkok
25 February 2016
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Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statement.

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

31 December 31 December

Assets Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 515,679 340,634 81,870 95,521 

Current investments 6 951,111 433,832 951,111 432,775 

Trade accounts receivable 4, 7 2,253,362 2,023,762 1,268,257 1,173,501 

Other receivables 4, 8 232,598 273,884 55,327 92,733 

Short-term loan to related party 4 - - - 30,000 

Inventories 9 2,066,616 1,649,471 625,518 438,213 

Advances to suppliers and distributors 149,878 128,665 53,799 40,095 

Total current assets 6,169,244 4,850,248 3,035,882 2,302,838 

Non-current assets

Investments in associate 10 - - - - 

Investments in subsidiaries 11 - - 71,574 59,923 

Other long-term investments 6 - 506,539 - 506,539 

Property, plant and equipment 12 1,031,495 980,141 629,961 620,959 

Intangible assets 13 232,700 230,211 191,429 187,912 

Deferred tax assets 14 105,716 93,416 37,910 21,302 

Other non-current assets 73,392 71,295 64,504 62,720 

Total non-current assets 1,443,303 1,881,602 995,378 1,459,355 

Total assets 7,612,547 6,731,850 4,031,260 3,762,193 
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Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statement.

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

31 December 31 December

Liabilities and equity Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Current liabilities

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from financial 
institutions 15 543,270 354,188 264,041 262,865 

Trade accounts payable 4, 16 1,604,214 1,305,884 170,516 154,488 

Other payables 4, 17 331,033 363,438 75,612 12,089 

Short-term loan from and interest payable to related 
party 4, 15 - - - 2,543 

Current portion of long-term loans from financial 
institutions 15 82,543 75,392 48,435 44,239 

Current portion of finance lease liabilities 15 8,421 198 69 75 

Income tax payable 80,143 55,497 30,116 13,720 

Accrued expenses 445,617 366,240 74,819 50,901 

Total current liabilities 3,095,241 2,520,837 663,608 540,920 

Non-current liabilities

Long-term loans from financial institutions 15 67,954 137,173 48,000 87,795 

Finance lease liabilities 15 16,318 185 - 69 

Deferred tax liabilities 14 1,349 2,877 - - 

Employee benefit obligations 18 94,422 90,111 52,740 56,783 

Other non-current liabilities 2,595 2,405 - - 

Total non-current liabilities 182,638 232,751 100,740 144,647 

Total liabilities 3,277,879 2,753,588 764,348 685,567 
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Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

31 December 31 December

Liabilities and equity Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Equity

Share capital: 19

Authorised share capital 436,951 436,951 436,951 436,951 

Issued and paid-up share capital 432,625 432,625 432,625 432,625 

Additional paid in capital:

Premium on ordinary shares 19 2,138,104 2,138,104 2,138,104 2,138,104 

Warrants 20 20,004 8,431 20,004 8,431 

Retained earnings

Appropriated

Legal reserve 21 49,088 49,088 43,695 43,695 

Corporate social responsibility reserve 21 23,400 10,000 23,400 10,000 

Unappropriated 1,839,761 1,507,232 609,084 443,771 

Other components of equity 21 (168,292) (167,200) - - 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 4,334,690 3,978,280 3,266,912 3,076,626 

Non-controlling interests (22) (18) - - 

Total equity 4,334,668 3,978,262 3,266,912 3,076,626 

Total liabilities and equity 7,612,547 6,731,850 4,031,260 3,762,193 

�������������������������������
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statement.
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Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statement.

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Income

Revenue from sales of goods and rendering of services 22, 27 7,944,741 7,730,049 2,538,691 2,262,166

Investment income 28,098 17,416 27,761 321,839

Net foreign exchange gain 101,918 - 81,452 6,673

Other income 21,973 20,447 11,694 8,002

Total income 8,096,730 7,767,912 2,659,598 2,598,680

Expenses

Cost of sales of goods and rendering of services 9, 22, 24 4,538,300 4,624,910 1,355,419 1,429,865

Selling expenses 24 1,717,121 1,564,170 418,258 263,425

Administrative expenses 24 1,000,777 907,154 315,304 243,488

Net foreign exchange loss - 16,407 - -

Finance costs 25 12,542 17,134 6,741 11,317

Total expenses 7,268,740 7,129,775 2,095,722 1,948,095

Profit before income tax expense 827,990 638,137 563,876 650,585

Income tax expense 26 (132,249) (90,289) (37,118) (18,916)

Profit for the year 22 695,741 547,848 526,758 631,669

Other comprehensive income

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss

Defined benefit plan actuarial gain (losses) 18 5,434 (823) 7,207 (4,300)

Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss

Foreign currency translation differences  
for foreign operations (1,090) (27,217) - -

Other comprehensive income for the year,  
net of income tax 4,344 (28,040) 7,207 (4,300)

Total comprehensive income for the year 700,085 519,808 533,965 627,369
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Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company 695,747 547,880 526,758 631,669

Non-controlling interests (6) (32) - -

Profit for the year 695,741 547,848 526,758 631,669

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 700,089 519,838 533,965 627,369

Non-controlling interest (4) (30) - -

Total comprehensive income for the year 700,085 519,808 533,965 627,369

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in Baht) 28 0.80 0.63 0.61 0.73

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statement.
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Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 695,741 547,848 526,758 631,669
Adjustments for
Depreciation and amortisation 145,243 131,432 72,646 65,857
Provision for obsolescense and decline in value of inventories 16,740 16,818 3,418 2,923
Investment income (28,098) (17,416) (27,761) (321,839)
Finance costs 12,542 17,134 6,741 11,317
Provision for doubtful accounts 29,839 1,887 16,928 -
Unrealised (gain) loss on exchange rate (39,048) 46,804 (48,124) 7,470
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (513) (1,850) - -
Employee benefit obligations 15,547 11,948 7,716 9,201
Employee stock option 11,573 8,431 1,431 835
Income tax expense 132,249 90,289 37,118 18,916

991,815 853,325 596,871 426,349
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Trade accounts receivable (172,805) (361,068) (63,907) (656,304)
Other receivables 32,185 (99,198) 52,240 (43,244)
Inventories (427,490) 8,078 (190,723) 62,104
Advances to suppliers and distributors (22,727) (27,869) (13,516) (11,143)
Restricted deposits at financial institutions - 10,626 - 196
Other non-current assets (1,978) 2,460 (1,784) -
Trade accounts payable 275,903 162,429 15,959 4,227
Other payables (24,243) 171,766 62,326 (20,300)
Accrued expenses 79,493 5,415 23,918 (28,061)
Other non-current liabilities 112 - - -
Utilisation of corporate social responsibility reserve (500) - (500) -
Employee benefit obligations paid (4,065) (490) (2,750) (238)
Cash generated from (used in) operating activities 725,700 725,474 478,134 (266,414)
Income taxes paid (116,578) (111,257) (39,132) (15,567)
Net cash from (used in) operating activities 609,122 614,217 439,002 (281,981)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLO�S
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statement.
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statement.

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 13,417 14,033 13,080 18,344
Dividend received - - - 300,000
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (181,067) (159,892) (80,594) (79,346)
Investment in subsidiaries - - (1,509) (165)
Short-term loan to related party - - - (300,000)
Receipt of short-term loan to related party - - 30,000 670,000
Advance payment for land - (35,280) - (35,280)
Purchase of intangible assets (12,154) (23,500) (4,571) -
Sale of property, plant and equipment 6,172 2,210 - -
Redemption of current investments 433,932 - 432,775 -
Purchase of current investments (444,572) (433,832) (444,572) (432,775)
Purchase of long-term investments - (506,539) - (506,539)
Net cash used in investing activities (184,272) (1,142,800) (55,391) (365,761)

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance costs paid (12,524) (17,313) (6,766) (11,550)
Dividends paid (353,576) (242,551) (353,576) (242,529)
Finance lease payments (2,720) (299) (75) (99)
Increase (decrease) in bank overdrafts and short-term  
loans from financial institutions, net 188,768 (338,032) 2,767 (78,030)

Repayment of borrowings (66,651) (73,212) (37,069) (43,652)
Repayment of short-term loans from related party - - (2,543) -
Net cash used in financing activities (246,703) (671,407) (397,262) (375,860)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 178,147 (1,199,990) (13,651) (1,023,602)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 340,634 1,540,309 95,521 1,119,123
Effect of exchange rate changes on balances held in 
foreign currency (3,102) 315 - -

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 5 515,679 340,634 81,870 95,521

Non-cash transactions
Acquisition of assets by means of finance lease 39,736 - - -

STATEMENT OF CASH FLO�S
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Note Contents

1 General information

2 Basis of preparation of the financial statements

3 Significant accounting policies

4 Related parties 

5 Cash and cash equivalents

6 Other investments

7 Trade accounts receivable

8 Other receivables

9 Inventories

10 Investments in associate

11 Investments in subsidiaries

12 Property, plant and equipment

13 Intangible assets 

14 Deferred tax

15 Interest-bearing liabilities

16 Trade accounts payable

17 Other payables

18 Employee benefit obligations

19 Share capital

20 Warrants

21 Reserves

22 Segment information

23 Employee benefit expenses

24 Expenses by nature

25 Finance costs

26 Income tax expense 

27 Promotional privileges

28 Earnings per share

29 Dividends

30 Financial instruments

31 Commitments with non-related parties

32 Events after the reporting period

33 Thai Financial Reporting Standards (TFRS) not yet adopted

34 Reclassification of accounts
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements issued for Thai statutory and regulatory reporting purposes are prepared in the Thai language. These 
English language financial statements have been prepared from the Thai language statutory financial statements, and were 
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 February 2016.

1 General information

Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited, “the Company”, is incorporated in Thailand and has its registered office at No. 
384, Moo 4, Bangpoo Industrial Estate, Praksa, Muang - Samutprakarn, Samutprakarn, Thailand.

The Company has representative offices in Vietnam, Uganda, Ukraine and Kenya and representative offices under Mega 
Lifesciences PTY Limited, a subsidiary, in Sri Lanka, Vietnam, Myanmar, Indonesia, Uzbekistan, Ukraine, Malaysia, Philippines, 
Kenya, India, Russia, Kazakhstan and Ghana.

The immediate and ultimate holding company during the financial year was Unistretch Limited, which is incorporated in Thailand. 

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand on 19 November 2013.

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale through independent distributors of health food supplements, 
branded prescription pharmaceutical products, over-the-counter products, herbal products, vitamins and fast moving consumer 
goods as well as the provision of distribution services relating to such products. 

Details of the Company’s associate and subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are given in notes 4, 10 and 11.

2 �a�i� of preparation of t�e financial �tatement�

(a) Statement of compliance

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Thai Financial Reporting Standards (TFRS); guidelines promulgated 
by the Federation of Accounting Professions (“FAP”); and applicable rules and regulations of the Thai Securities and Exchange 
Commission.

The FAP has issued new and revised TFRS effective for annual accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.The 
initial application of these new and revised TFRS has resulted in changes in certain of the Group’s accounting policies. These 
changes have no material effect on the financial statements.

In addition to the above new and revised TFRS, the FAP has issued a number of other new and revised TFRS which are 
effective for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 and have not been adopted in the preparation of 
these financial statements. Those new and revised TFRS that are relevant to the Group’s operations are disclosed in note 33. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

(b) Basis of measurement 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following item, which is measured on 
an alternative basis on each reporting date.

Item Measurement bases

Employee benefit obligations Present value of the defined benefit obligation,  
limited as explained in Note 3 (l)

(c) Functional and Presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Thai Baht, which is the Company’s functional currency. All financial information 
presented in Thai Baht has been rounded in the financial statements and notes to the financial statements to the nearest 
thousand unless otherwise stated. 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with TFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
prospectively.

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustments 
to the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:

Note 7 Recoverability of trade accounts receivable
Note 9 Valuation of inventories
Note 13 Recoverability of trademark

Measurement of fair values

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values, for both financial and 
non-financial assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The valuation team regularly reviews significant unobservable inputs and valuation adjustments. If third party information, such 
as broker quotes or pricing services, is used to measure fair values, then the valuation team assesses the evidence obtained 
from the third parties to support the conclusion that such valuations meet the requirements of TFRS, including the level in 
the fair value hierarchy in which such valuations should be classified.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Group Audit Committee.

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair values 
are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. 

as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair value 
hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the 
lowest level input that is significant to the entirety measurement.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the 
change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following notes:

• Note 20 share-based payment arrangements
• Note 30 financial instruments

� Significant acco�nting policie�

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements relate to the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and 
the Group’s interests in associate.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The 
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control 
commences until the date on which control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Associate

Associate is the entity in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial and 
operating policies. 

Interest in associate is accounted for using the equity method. It is recognised initially at cost, which includes transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income of an associate, until the date on which significant influence ceases. When the Group’s 
share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the Group’s carrying amount of that interest is reduced to zero and 
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation or has made payments 
on behalf of the associate.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income or expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are 
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the 
same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

(b) Foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange 
rate at the reporting date.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at cost in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in profit or loss. 

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Thai Baht at the exchange rates at the reporting date.

The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Thai Baht at rates approximating the exchange rates ruling 
at the dates of transactions.



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 291

Ov
er

vie
w

Ma
na

ge
m

en
t

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Go

ve
rn

an
ce

Fin
an

cia
l I

nf
or

m
at

ion
Ge

ne
ra

l I
nf

or
m

at
ion

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Foreign exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the foreign currency translation 
reserve, except to extent that the translation difference is allocated to non-controlling interest.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control or significant influence is lost, the cumulative 
amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss 
on disposal. If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion of the 
cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes of only part of an associate while 
retaining significant influence, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in 
the foreseeable future, exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item are considered to form part of a net 
investment in a foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency 
translation reserve in equity until disposal of the investment.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statements of cash flows comprise cash balances, call deposits and highly liquid short-term 
investments. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand are a component of financing activities for the purpose of the 
statement of cash flows.

(d) Trade and other accounts receivable

Trade and other accounts receivable are stated at their invoice value less allowance for doubtful accounts.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is assessed primarily on analysis of payment histories and future expectations of customer 
payments. Bad debts are written off when incurred. 

(e) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 

Cost of inventories is calculated using the weighted average cost and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories 
and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs to complete 
and to make the sale. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

(f) Investments

Investments in associate and subsidiaries

Investments in associate and subsidiaries in the separate financial statements of the Company are accounted for using the 
cost method. Investment in associate in the consolidated financial statements is accounted for using the equity method.

Disposal of investments

On disposal of an investment, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount together with the 
associated cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

If the Group disposes of part of its holding of a particular investment, the deemed cost of the part sold is determined using 
the weighted average method applied to the carrying value of the total holding of the investment.

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Owned assets

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working 
condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are 
located, and capitalised borrowing costs. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 
capitalised as part of that equipment. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items 
(major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from 
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and are recognised net within other income in profit or loss. 

Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Group substantially assumes all the risk and rewards of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. Property, plant and equipment acquired by way of finance leases is capitalised at the lower of its fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments at the inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to the profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it 
is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Group, and its cost can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant 
and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation 

Depreciation is calculated based on the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other amount substituted for 
cost, less its residual value. 

Depreciation is charged to the profit or loss on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an 
item of property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Land improvements 5 years

Building 10 - 20 years

Building improvements 10 years

Leasehold improvements 3-5 years

Machinery and equipment 4-10 years

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3-10 years

Vehicles 5-10 years

No depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets under construction.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

(h) Intangible assets

Computer software

Computer software that are acquired by the Group, which have finite useful lives, are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Trademark

Trademark is classified under intangible assets. Trademark that is acquired by the Group and has indefinite useful life is 
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Trademark that has indefinite useful life is reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment for that asset. 
If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite should be accounted for as a change in an 
accounting estimate. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Amortisation

Amortisation is based on the cost of the asset, or other amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. 

Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other 
than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption 
of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows:

Computer software  3 - 10 years

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted if appropriate.

(i) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets 
that have indefinite useful lives or are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of a non-financial asset is the greater of the asset’s value in use and fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that 
does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods in respect of non-financial assets are assessed at each reporting date for any 
indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, 
if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

(j) Interest-bearing liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing liabilities are 
stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss over the 
period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.

(k) Trade and other accounts payable

Trade and other accounts payable are stated at cost.

(l) Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. 

Defined benefit plans

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount 
of future benefit that employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting that amount. 

The calculation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, actuarial gain or loss are recognized immediately in OCI. The Group 
determines the interest expense on the net defined benefit liability for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure 
the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit 
liability during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related 
to defined benefit plans are recognized in profit or loss. 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in benefit that relates to past service 
or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised immediately in profit or loss. The Group recognises gains and losses on the 
settlement of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 

Other long-term employee benefits

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. That benefit is discounted to determine its present value. 
Remeasurements are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and 
when the Group recognizes costs for a restructuring. If benefits are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of 
the end of the reporting period, then they are discounted. 

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected 
to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided 
by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Share-based payments 

The grant-date fair value of equity–settled share-based payment awards granted to employees is generally recognised as an 
expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The amount recognised as an expense 
is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected 
to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and 
non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the 
grant-date fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences 
between expected and actual outcomes. 

The Company recognized warrants granted to employees of subsidiaries in the separate financial statement as investment 
in subsidiaries.

(m) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 

Onerous contracts

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are 
lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting the Group’s obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present 
value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. 
Before a provision is established, the Group recongnises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

(n) Revenue

Revenue excludes value added taxes and other sales taxes and is arrived at after deduction of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

Sale of goods and services rendered

Revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. 
No revenue is recognised if there is continuing management involvement with the goods or there are significant uncertainties 
regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs or the probable return of goods. Service income is recognised 
as services are provided.

Investments

Revenue from investments comprises dividend and interest income from investments and bank deposits.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date the Group’s right to receive payments is established. 

Interest income

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it accrues.

(o) Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions and contingent consideration.

Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

(p) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. 

Contingent lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining term of the lease 
when the lease adjustment is confirmed. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease. A specific asset 
is the subject of a lease if fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of that specified asset. An arrangement 
conveys the right to use the asset if the arrangement conveys to the Group the right to control the use of the underlying asset. 

At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Group separates payments and other consideration required by 
such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If the Group 
concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, an asset and a liability are recognised 
at an amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and 
an imputed finance charge on the liability is recognised using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

(q) Income tax

Income tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit 
or loss except to the extent that they relate to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following 
temporary differences: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that 
it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which the Group expects, 
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

In determining the amount of current tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether 
additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax 
years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies 
on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become 
available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to 
tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and 
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(r) Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding and share options granted to employees. 

(s) Segment reporting

Segment results that are reported to the Group’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Coach include items directly 
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly 
other administrative expense and income tax expense.

� Relate� partie�

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group has the ability, 
directly or indirectly, to control or joint control the party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and 
operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to common control or common significant 
influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Relationships with subsidiaries and associates are described in notes 10 and 11. Relationships with key management and 
other related parties were as follows:

Name of entities Country of 
incorporation/ 

nationality

Nature of relationships

Unistretch Limited Thailand Ultimate parent of the Group

Al-Mayoni For Trading Services Ltd. Yemen Common shareholders

Magnus Pharmaceuticals Ltd. Yemen Common shareholders

Ambika Tours Agency Limited Thailand Common shareholders and directors

InsurExcellence Insurance Brokers Ltd. Thailand Common shareholders and directors

Linaria Chemical (Thailand) Limited Thailand Common shareholders and directors

Mechai Pattana School Thailand Common chairman

Key management personnel Persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any 
director (whether executive or otherwise) of the 
Group. 

The pricing policies for particular types of transactions are explained further below: 

Transactions Pricing policies

Sale of goods and rendering of service Market price minus margin

Purchase of goods and raw materials Cost plus margin

Interest income and interest expense Agreed rates stipulated in the agreements

Other income and other expenses Contractually agreed prices
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Significant transactions for the years ended 31 December with related parties were as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

Year ended 31 December 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Subsidiaries

Sale of goods and rendering of service - - 1,063,760 1,059,199

Purchase of goods or receiving of service - - 71,149 62,720

Commission expense - - 34,762 20,748

Interest expense - - 24 43

Interest income - - 113 4,826

Other income - - 822 1,254

Advertisement expense - - 18,005 19,183

Support service expense - - 33,465 -

Key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation 

Short-term employee benefit 126,391 79,503 16,740 15,668

Post-employment benefits 1,131 1,227 721 859

Expense for employee stock option plan 286 167 286 167

Total key management personnel Compensation 127,808 80,897 17,747 16,694

Directors’ remuneration 7,440 7,440 7,440 7,440

Other related parties

Sale of goods 14,341 41,038 14,341 41,038

Purchase of goods or receiving of services 13,742 20,419 7,826 8,331

Advertisement expenses 19,421 - 19,421 -

Donations given 500 - 500 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Balances as at 31 December with related parties were as follows:

Trade accounts receivable - related parties
Consolidated 

financial statements 
Separate 

financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Subsidiaries - - 527,424 549,563

Other related parties 36,626 62,524 36,626 62,524

Total 36,626 62,524 564,050 612,087

Other receivables - related parties
Consolidated 

financial statements 
Separate 

financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Subsidiaries - - 12,120 33,932

Other related parties 106 450 - -

Total 106 450 12,120 33,932

Loans to related party Interest rate 
Consolidated 

financial statements 
Separate 

financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Short-term loan (% per annum) (in thousand Baht)

Subsidiary - 1.65 - - - 30,000

Short-term loan to related party - - - 30,000

Movements during the years ended 31 December of loans to related parties were as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Subsidiary

At 1 January - - 30,000 400,000

Increase - - - 300,000

Decrease - - (30,000) (670,000)

At 31 December - - - 30,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Trade accounts payable - related parties
Consolidated 

financial statements 
Separate 

financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Subsidiaries - - 17,668 21,108

Total - - 17,668 21,108

Other payables - related parties
Consolidated 

financial statements 
Separate 

financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Subsidiaries - - 13,616 -

Other related parties 244 481 - -

Total 244 481 13,616 -

Loan from and interest payable to related party Interest rate 
Consolidated 

financial statements 
Separate 

financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Short-term loan (% per annum) (in thousand Baht)

Subsidiary - 1.70 - - - 2,543

Short-term loan from related party - - - 2,543

Movements during the years ended 31 December of loan from related party were as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Subsidiary

At 1 January - - 2,543 2,603

Increase - - 724 43

Decrease - - (3,267) (103)

At 31 December - - - 2,543
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Significant agreements with related parties

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had the following significant agreements with related parties.

Commission agreement

The Company entered into a commission agreement with Mega Lifesciences (Australia) Pty. Limited, a subsidiary, whereas 
Mega Lifesciences (Australia) Pty. Limited grants the Company an exclusive right to market, sell and distribute product namely 
Nat-C either by itself or through third parties. The Company shall pay the commission at the rate of 25% of the sale value 
on a quarterly basis. This agreement is effective on 1 January 2015, and shall remain valid till it is changed and shall be 
co-terminous with the said agreements. The agreement shall be automatically renewed after one year with such terms as the 
parties may agree.

Loan agreement

On 28 February 2014, the Company entered into a loan agreement with a subsidiary for an amount of Baht 300 million, with 
an interest rate which the Company pays to the bank in obtaining the loan and at the rate on fixed deposits in case of the 
Company’s repayment to the bank in full. This loan was fully repaid during 2015.

Supply agreement

The Company has supply agreements with Mega Lifesciences PTY Limited, a subsidiary, whereby the Company agrees to 
manufacture and supply the product as per required specification and as per Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP). These 
agreements are effective on the agreement date and shall be terminated by either party giving at least 30 days notice in 
writing to the other party.

Support service agreement

On 1 April 2015, the Company entered into a support service agreement with Mega Lifesciences Private Limited, a subsidiary, 
whereby Mega Lifesciences Private Limited agrees to provide, on a non-exclusive basis, the preparatory and auxillary services 
including information collection, liaising and co-ordination. The Company has agreed to pay service fee at a mark-up of 13% 
on the operating costs incurred by Mega Lifesciences Private Limited on a quarterly basis. This agreement is effective on the 
agreement date and shall be terminated by either party giving at least 90 days notice in writing to the other party.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

5 Ca�� an� ca�� e��ivalent�

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Cash on hand 15,593 29,262 4,728 18,539

Cash at banks - current accounts 454,826 241,147 76,042 76,982

Cash at banks - savings accounts 37,753 70,101 1,100 -

Highly liquid short-term investments 7,507 124 - -

Total 515,679 340,634 81,870 95,521

The currency denomination of cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December was as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Thai Baht (THB) 285,767 159,695 81,857 95,500

United States Dollars (USD) 100,229 75,999 13 21

Burmese Kyat (MMK) 32,082 54,229 - -

Nigerian Naira (NGN) 61,919 16,284 - -

Vietnamese Dong (VND) 11,675 13,144 - -

Australian Dollars (AUD) 5 11,170 - -

Others 24,002 10,113 - -

Total 515,679 340,634 81,870 95,521
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

� Ot�er inve�tment�

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Current investments

Short-term deposits at financial institutions 951,111 433,832 951,111 432,775

951,111 433,832 951,111 432,775

Other long-term investments 

Long-term deposits at financial institutions - 506,539 - 506,539

- 506,539 - 506,539

Total 951,111 940,371 951,111 939,314

Other investments at 31 December 2015 consist of term deposits of Baht 444.57 million with annual interest rate of 1.73% 
and Baht 506.54 with an annual interest rate of 3% (2014: 3%) and will mature in 7 months and 1 month, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, a restricted deposit at a financial institution of a subsidiary of Baht 1.16 million 
was redeemed. The Group reclassified the investment from current investments to cash and cash equivalents.

The currency denomination of other investments as at 31 December was as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Thai Baht (THB) 951,111 939,314 951,111 939,314

United States Dollars (USD) - 1,057 - -

Total 951,111 940,371 951,111 939,314
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

7 Tra�e acco�nt� receiva�le

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Related parties 4 36,626 62,524 564,050 612,087

Other parties 2,243,911 1,970,555 721,135 561,414

Total 2,280,537 2,033,079 1,285,185 1,173,501

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (27,175) (9,317) (16,928) -

Net 2,253,362 2,023,762 1,268,257 1,173,501

Bad and doubtful debts expense for the year 29,839 1,887 16,928 -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Aging analyses for trade accounts receivable are as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Related parties

Within credit terms 19,247 33,314 384,309 531,189

Overdue:

Less than 3 months 8,380 6,285 142,275 33,221

3 - 6 months 7,434 7,457 28,916 19,891

6 - 12 months 1,565 12,552 6,423 19,643

Over 12 months - 2,916 2,127 8,143

36,626 62,524 564,050 612,087

Other parties

Within credit terms 1,640,695 1,496,552 503,796 388,931

Overdue:

Less than 3 months 384,509 352,791 116,460 150,974

3 - 6 months 132,854 65,695 68,049 17,872

6 - 12 months 60,817 25,572 25,918 3,130

Over 12 months 25,036 29,945 6,912 507

2,243,911 1,970,555 721,135 561,414

Less allowance for doubtful accounts (27,175) (9,317) (16,928) -

2,216,736 1,961,238 704,207 561,414

Net 2,253,362 2,023,762 1,268,257 1,173,501

The normal credit term granted by the Group ranges from 30 days to 360 days.

The aging is calculated by counting the age of trade accounts receivable from the day the Group delivers products and issues 
an invoice to the local importers or distributors. However, revenue is not recognised until such local importers or distributors 
complete the sale of products to the end consumers. Consequently, there is a time lag between when the aging is commenced 
and when the revenue is recognised. This results in an apparent high level of overdue trade accounts receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The currency denomination of trade accounts receivable as at 31 December was as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

United States Dollars (USD) 1,451,911 1,290,445 892,012 709,997

Thai Baht (THB) 460,856 462,112 340,000 419,131

Vietnamese Dong (VND) 145,664 109,007 - -

Australian Dollars (AUD) 77,549 55,183 - 26,094

Nigerian Naira (NGN) 62,433 56,407 - -

Euro (EUR) 43,854 18,279 43,854 18,279

Others 38,270 41,646 9,319 -

Total 2,280,537 2,033,079 1,285,185 1,173,501

� Ot�er receiva�le�

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Related parties 4 106 450 12,120 33,932

Other parties

Advance for distribution business 85,540 92,289 - -

Prepaid expenses 38,460 41,166 7,449 5,621

Deposits 23,513 30,134 448 2,279

Advance to directors and employees 22,230 17,631 2,113 2,390

Accrued interest income 18,591 3,910 18,591 3,910

Advance for operating expense 9,781 7,117 9,143 6,992

Export tax rebate and refundable import duty 5,101 8,561 2,536 3,020

Value added tax receivable 4,408 40,107 1,623 33,367

Others 24,868 32,519 1,304 1,222

232,492 273,434 43,207 58,801

Total 232,598 273,884 55,327 92,733
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

9 Inventorie�

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Finished goods 1,699,497 1,369,117 380,793 235,336

Raw materials 189,212 138,486 147,116 106,290

Work in progress 54,342 52,184 46,823 44,718

Packing materials 51,905 46,090 43,814 38,396

Spare parts and supplies 1,741 1,239 - -

Goods in transit 85,579 53,094 16,249 19,332

2,082,276 1,660,210 634,795 444,072

Less allowance for obsolescense and  decline in value (15,660) (10,739) (9,277) (5,859)

Net 2,066,616 1,649,471 625,518 438,213

Inventories recognised as an expense in ‘cost of sales of 
goods and rendering of  services’:

- Cost of sales of goods and rendering of services 4,521,560 4,608,092 1,352,001 1,426,941

- Write-down to net realisable value 16,740 16,818 3,418 2,924

Net total 4,538,300 4,624,910 1,355,419 1,429,865
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

31 December

2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Current assets 30,835 54,331

Non-current assets 4,110 3,752

Total assets 34,945 58,083

Current liabilities 45,364 67,153

Total liabilities 45,364 67,153

Total revenues 43,833 84,561

Total expenses 44,297 83,825

Profit (loss) (464) 736

11 Inve�tment� in ����i�iarie�

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

At 1 January 59,923 52,162

Increase 11,651 7,761

At 31 December 71,574 59,923
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Employee stock option plan

Additional investments in subsidiaries during the year 2015 of Baht 10.1 million (2014: Baht 7.6 million) resulted from Employee 
Stock Option Plan granted to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries (see note 20).

Additional investment in direct subsidiaries

During 2015, the Company made an additional investment of Baht 1.3 million in the issued and paid up capital of Mega 
Lifesciences Limited, a direct subsidiary in Ukraine, in order to expand the business. 

During 2015, the Company made an additional investment of Baht 0.2 million in the issued and paid up capital of Mega We 
Care Limited, a direct subsidiary in Thailand, in order to expand the business.

During 2014, the Company registered a wholly owned subsidiary in Ukraine, Mega Lifesciences Limited, amounting to Baht 
0.2 million.

Additional investment in indirect subsidiaries

During 2015, Mega Lifesciences PTY Limited, a subsidiary, made an additional investment of Baht 38.9 million in the issued 
and paid up capital of Mega Lifesciences (Australia) Pty. Limited, an indirect subsidiary of the Company, in order to expand 
the business. 

During 2014, Mega Lifesciences PTY Limited, a subsidiary, made an additional investment of Baht 45.0 million in the issued and 
paid up capital of Mega Lifesciences (Vietnam) Limited, an indirect subsidiary of the Company, in order to expand the business.

During 2014, Mega Lifesciences PTY Limited, a subsidiary, made an additional investment of Baht 31.4 million in the issued 
and paid up capital of Mega Lifesciences (Australia) Pty. Limited, an indirect subsidiary of the Company, in order to expand 
the business. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

1� Intangi�le a��et�

Consolidated financial statements

Computer Software under

Trademarks software installation Total

(in thousand Baht)

Cost

At 1 January 2014 185,399 38,846 1,962 226,207

Additions - 7,257 16,244 23,501

Transfer - 1,437 (1,437) -

Disposal - (48) - (48)

Effect of movements in exchange rates - (789) - (789)

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 185,399 46,703 16,769 248,871

Additions - 6,984 5,169 12,153

Transfer - 14,245 (14,245) -

Disposal - (100) - (100)

Effect of movements in exchange rates - (2,627) - (2,627)

At 31 December 2015 185,399 65,205 7,693 258,297

Amortisation

At 1 January 2014 - 13,191 - 13,191

Amortisation charge for the year - 5,689 - 5,689

Disposal - (46) - (46)

Effect of movements in exchange rates - (174) - (174)

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 - 18,660 - 18,660

Amortisation charge for the year - 7,555 - 7,555

Disposal - (100) - (100)

Effect of movements in exchange rates - (518) - (518)

At 31 December 2015 - 25,597 - 25,597

Net book value

At 1 January 2014 185,399 25,655 1,962 213,016

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 185,399 28,043 16,769 230,211

At 31 December 2015 185,399 39,608 7,693 232,700
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Separate financial statements

Computer 

Trademarks software Total

(in thousand Baht)

Cost

At 1 January 2014 185,399 8,823 194,222

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 185,399 8,823 194,222

Additions - 4,571 4,571

At 31 December 2015 185,399 13,394 198,793

Amortisation

At 1 January 2014 - 5,470 5,470

Amortisation charge for the year - 840 840

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 - 6,310 6,310

Amortisation charge for the year - 1,054 1,054

At 31 December 2015 - 7,364 7,364

Net book value

At 1 January 2014 185,399 3,353 188,752

At 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2015 185,399 2,513 187,912

At 31 December 2015 185,399 6,030 191,429

On 12 December 2012, the Company entered into various agreements with DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company of Vietnam 
to purchase the trademarks, intellectual property rights and regulatory documentation related to products manufactured and 
sold under the Eugica brand in Vietnam for a consideration of USD 6 million. On 9 July 2013, when the acquired assets were 
transferred to the Company, the asset was then reclassified to trademarks. The Group acquired the brand Eugica with an 
intention to further expand its value in Vietnam and the region.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

1� �eferre� ta�

Deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December were as follows:

Consolidated financial statements

Assets Liabilities

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Total 342,269 283,875 (237,902) (193,336)

Set off of tax (236,553) (190,459) 236,553 190,459

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) 105,716 93,416 (1,349) (2,877)

Separate financial statements 

Assets Liabilities

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Total 56,437 29,983 (18,527) (8,681)

Set off of tax (18,527) (8,681) 18,527 8,681

Net deferred tax assets 37,910 21,302 - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Movements in total deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year were as follows:

Consolidated financial statements

(Charged) / Credited to:

At 1  
January  
2015

profit or loss 
(Note 26)

Other 
comprehensive 

income
Exchange 
differences

At 31 
December

2015

(in thousand Baht)

Deferred tax assets

Accounts receivables 243,339 59,587 - 13 302,939

Provision for employee benefits 15,872 5,724 (1,358) (113) 20,125

Loss carry forward 22,157 (3,639) - (510) 18,008

Others 2,507 (1,272) - (38) 1,197

Total 283,875 60,400 (1,358) (648) 342,269

Deferred tax liabilities

Inventories 189,920 44,478 - - 234,398

Property, plant and equipment 3,416 422 - (334) 3,504

Total 193,336 44,900 - (334) 237,902

Net 90,539 15,500 (1,358) (314) 104,367
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Consolidated financial statements

(Charged) / Credited to:

At 1  
January  
2014

profit or loss 
(Note 26)

Other 
comprehensive 

income
Exchange 
differences

At 31 
December

2014

(in thousand Baht)

Deferred tax assets

Accounts receivables 245,138 (1,803) - 4 243,339

Provision for employee benefits 14,989 1,109 - (226) 15,872

Loss carry forward 25,826 (1,715) - (1,954) 22,157

Others 2,614 37 - (144) 2,507

Total 288,567 (2,372) - (2,320) 283,875

Deferred tax liabilities

Inventories 204,658 (14,738) - - 189,920

Property, plant and equipment 7,621 (4,214) - 9 3,416

Total 212,279 (18,952) - 9 193,336

Net 76,288 16,580 - (2,329) 90,539

Separate financial statements

(Charged) / Credited to:

At 1  
January  
2015

profit or loss 
(Note 26)

Other 
comprehensive 

income

At 31 
December

2015

(in thousand Baht)

Deferred tax assets

Accounts receivables 21,234 24,406 - 45,730

Provision for employee benefits 8,539 3,811 (1,802) 10,548

Others 120 39 - 159

Total 29,983 28,256 (1,802) 56,437

Deferred tax liabilities

Inventories 8,681 9,846 - 18,527

Total 8,681 9,846 - 18,527

Net 21,302 18,410 (1,802) 37,910
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Separate financial statements

(Charged) / Credited to:

At 1  
January  
2014

profit or loss 
(Note 26)

Other 
comprehensive 

income

At 31 
December

2014

(in thousand Baht)

Deferred tax assets

Accounts receivables 20,224 1,100 - 21,324

Provision for employee benefits 7,727 812 - 8,539

Others 185 (65) - 120

Total 28,136 1,847 - 29,983

Deferred tax liabilities

Inventories 10,149 (1,468) - 8,681

Total 10,149 (1,468) - 8,681

Net 17,987 3,315 - 21,302

Deferred tax assets arising from accounts receivable relate to export of finished goods from Thailand to other countries for which 
tax becomes payable upon export of the goods but for which revenue is recognised in the statement of income subsequently 
at the moment the goods are sold to third parties outside the Group. Deferred tax liabilities arising from inventories also 
relate to export of finished goods for which the cost becomes deductible for tax upon export but for which the cost of sales 
is recognised in the statement of income at the moment the goods subsequently are sold to third parties outside the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

15 Intere�t��earing lia�ilitie� 

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Current

Bank overdrafts - unsecured 4,341 3,753 - 3,753

Short-term loans from financial institution - 
unsecured

Trust receipts and packing credit 262,267 239,094 260,579 195,202

Export bills discounted with recourse 276,662 111,341 3,462 63,910

Bank overdrafts and short- term loans from 
financial institutions 543,270 354,188 264,041 262,865

Current portion of long-term loans from financial 
institutions - unsecured 82,543 75,392 48,435 44,239

Short-term loan from and interest payable to 
related party 4 - - - 2,543

Current portion of finance lease liabilities 8,421 198 69 75

Total current interest-bearing liabilities 634,234 429,778 312,545 309,722

Non-current

Long-term loans from financial institutions - 
unsecured 67,954 137,173 48,000 87,795

Finance lease liabilities 16,318 185 - 69

Total non-current interest-bearing liabilities 84,272 137,358 48,000 87,864
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The periods to maturity of interest-bearing liabilities as at 31 December were as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Within one year 634,234 429,778 312,545 309,722

After one year but within five years 84,272 137,358 48,000 87,864

Total 718,506 567,136 360,545 397,586

Long-term loans from financial institutions

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

The Company:

U.S. Dollars 6 million Loan Facility Agreement, payable in 
quarterly instalments of USD 334,000, commencing in 
September 2013 with annual interest USD LIBOR plus 
margin of 2.15% per annum. (2014: USD LIBOR+2.15% 
per annum) 96,435 132,034 96,435 132,034

Subsidiary:

U.S. Dollars 4 million Loan Facility Agreement, payable in 
monthly instalments of USD 78,400, commencing in June 
2013 with annual interest rate 1 month USD LIBOR plus 
margin of 1.90% per annum. (2014: USD LIBOR+1.90% 
per annum) 54,062 80,531 - -

Total 150,497 212,565 96,435 132,034

According to conditions under the loan agreement, the Group has to maintain financial ratio, ownership in Eugica brand and 
comply with the other conditions as prescribed in the loan agreement.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had unutilised credit facilities totaling Baht 1,228 million (2014: Baht 1,685 million) and 
the Company had unutilised credit facilities totaling Baht 1,009 million (2014: Baht 1,331 million).



ANNUAL REPORT 2015��0

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Finance lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities as at 31 December were as follows:

Consolidated financial statements

2015 2014

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments Interest

Present 
value of 
minimum 

lease 
payments

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments Interest

Present 
value of 
minimum 

lease 
payments

(in thousand Baht)

Within one year 11,101 2,680 8,421 210 12 198

After one year but within five years 18,210 1,892 16,318 189 4 185

Total 29,311 4,572 24,739 399 16 383

Separate financial statements

2015 2014

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments Interest

Present 
value of 
minimum 

lease 
payments

Future 
minimum 

lease 
payments Interest

Present 
value of 
minimum 

lease 
payments

(in thousand Baht)

Within one year 73 4 69 87 12 75

After one year but within five years - - - 73 4 69

Total 73 4 69 160 16 144

The currency denomination of interest-bearing liabilities as at 31 December was as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

United States Dollars (USD) 689,425 558,587 360,476 386,733

Thai Baht (THB) 186 8,549 69 10,853

Australian Dollars (AUD) 4,341 - - -

Burmese Kyat (MMK) 24,554 - - -

Total 718,506 567,136 360,545 397,586



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 ��1

Ov
er

vie
w

Ma
na

ge
m

en
t

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Go

ve
rn

an
ce

Fin
an

cia
l I

nf
or

m
at

ion
Ge

ne
ra

l I
nf

or
m

at
ion

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

1� Tra�e acco�nt� pa�a�le

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Related parties 4 - - 17,668 21,108

Other parties 1,604,214 1,305,884 152,848 133,380

Total 1,604,214 1,305,884 170,516 154,488

The currency denomination of trade accounts payable as at 31 December was as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

United States Dollars (USD) 1,202,485 1,058,289 88,820 39,046

Thai Baht (THB) 317,590 208,791 42,056 84,757

Burmese Kyat (MMK) 1,319 321 - -

Euro (EUR) 29,930 13,204 20,000 9,523

Vietnamese Dong (VND) 32,344 17,017 - -

Australian Dollars (AUD) 14,860 7,810 17,668 21,108

Others 5,686 452 1,972 54

Total 1,604,214 1,305,884 170,516 154,488
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

17 Ot�er pa�a�le�

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Related parties 4 244 481 13,616 -

Others

Payables for advertisement 200,419 150,578 13,643 -

Advances received from customers 55,494 163,044 16,544 1,883

Value added tax payable 16,932 16,330 - -

Others 57,944 33,005 31,809 10,206

330,789 362,957 61,996 12,089

Total 331,033 363,438 75,612 12,089
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

1� Emplo�ee �enefit o�ligation� 

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Statement of financial position obligations for:

Retirement benefit and severance payment according to 
the Thai labour law 81,270 79,088 52,740 56,783

Other long-term benefits to employees 13,152 11,023 - -

Total 94,422 90,111 52,740 56,783

For the year ended 31 December

Statement of comprehensive income

Recognised in profit or loss:

Retirement benefit and severance payment according to 
the Thai labour law 13,009 13,259 7,716 9,201

Other long-term benefits to employees 2,538 (1,311) - -

15,547 11,948 7,716 9,201

Recognised in other comprehensive income:

Actuarial losses (gains) recognized in the year (6,792) 823 (9,009) 4,300

Exchange difference (379) (756) - -

(7,171) 67 (9,009) 4,300

Retirement benefit and severance payment according to the Thai labour law

The Company and subsidiaries in Thailand operate a defined retirement and severance payment plan based on the requirement 
of Thai Labour Protection Act B.E 2541 (1998) to provide retirement benefits to employees based on pensionable remuneration 
and length of service.

The defined benefit plans expose the Group to actuarial risks, such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and 
market risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The statement of financial position obligation was determined as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Present value of unfunded obligations 94,422 90,111 52,740 56,783

Statement of financial position obligation 94,422 90,111 52,740 56,783

Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations:

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Defined benefit obligations at 1 January 90,111 78,586 56,783 43,520

Included in profit or loss: 23

Current service cost 13,713 9,436 6,413 7,238

Interest on obligation 1,834 2,512 1,303 1,963

15,547 11,948 7,716 9,201

Included in other comprehensive income:

Actuarial losses (gains) (6,792) 823 (9,009) 4,300

Effect of movements in exchange rates (379) (756) - -

(7,171) 67 (9,009) 4,300

Other:

Benefits paid (4,065) (490) (2,750) (238)

(4,065) (490) (2,750) (238)

Defined benefit obligations at 31 December 94,422 90,111 52,740 56,783



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 ��5

Ov
er

vie
w

Ma
na

ge
m

en
t

Co
rp

or
at

e 
Go

ve
rn

an
ce

Fin
an

cia
l I

nf
or

m
at

ion
Ge

ne
ra

l I
nf

or
m

at
ion

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Actuarial losses (gains) recognized in other comprehensive income arising from:

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Financial assumptions (2,778) 4,526 (5,873) 6,508

Experience adjustment (4,014) (3,703) (3,136) (2,208)

Total (6,792) 823 (9,009) 4,300

Actuarial assumptions 

The following were the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages).

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

%

Discount rate 0.93 - 2.94 3.92 - 4.28 2.89 4.11

Future salary growth 4.44 - 5.00 1.50 - 7.00 5.00 7.00

Assumptions regarding future mortality have been based on published statistics and mortality tables. 

At 31 December 2015, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 27.2 years. (2014 : 28.2 years). 

Sensitivity analysis 

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions 
constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown below.

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

Defined benefit obligation 31 December 2015

(in thousand Baht)

Increase Decrease Increase Decrease

Discount rate (1% movement) (8,712) 10,547 (6,161) 7,395

Future salary growth (1% movement) 10,702 (8,988) 7,490 (6,364)

Although the analysis does not take account of the full distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an 
approximation of the sensitivity of the assumptions shown.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

19 S�are capital

Par value  
per share

2015 2014

Number Baht Number Baht

(in Baht) (thousand shares / thousand Baht)

Authorised

At 1 January

- ordinary shares 0.5 873,901 436,951 873,901 436,951

At 31 December

- ordinary shares 0.5 873,901 436,951 873,901 436,951

Issued and paid-up

At 1 January

- ordinary shares 0.5 865,249 432,625 865,249 432,625

At 31 December

- ordinary shares 0.5 865,249 432,625 865,249 432,625

Share premium 

Section 51 of the Public Companies Act B.E. 2535 requires companies to set aside share subscription monies received in 
excess of the par value of the shares issued to a reserve account (“share premium”). Share premium is not available for 
dividend distribution.

20 �arrant� 

Employee Stock Option Plan

At the extra ordinary general meeting of Shareholders held on 7 June 2013, the shareholders approved the issue and offering 
of warrants to purchase ordinary shares of the Company to full-time employees at assistance manager level or above of the 
Group. The Group communicated terms and conditions of the scheme to the employees during June 2014.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Significant descriptions of the Employee Stock Option Plan

Securities type Warrants to purchase the ordinary shares of the Company

Qualifications of employees 
eligible for warrants

Full-time employees, at level of assistant manager or above of the Company, its 
subsidiaries and/or affiliates on or after the date the date on which the issuance 
and offering of warrants is announced, including those who have been transferred 
or seconded to any other company while continuing to be employed by the 
Company, its subsidiaries and/or affiliates.

Type of warrants Warrants with specified name and non-transferable unless otherwise transferred in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the warrants

Term Not exceeding 5 years from the date of issuance of the warrants

Grant date 6 June 2014

Number of warrants issued 8,652,400 units

Offer price per unit Baht 0 (zero Baht)

Exercise ratio 1 unit of warrant per 1 ordinary share, subject to change according to the 
conditions for adjustment of rights as prescribed under the terms and conditions of 
the warrants.

Exercise price Baht 17.50 per share which is equivalent to the IPO price.

Exercise period On the last day of each month of the 6 month period commencing
from the end of 4th year 6 month anniversary

Fair value of warrants 8.35 Baht per unit

The Group measure fair value of options using the Black-Scholes model with the assumption that all of the options will be 
exercised during the exercisable period. The Group measured volatility based on three-month historical volatility per month 
extrapolated to 12 months.

Principal assumptions for options fair-value valuation are as follow;

Ordinary share price per share (Baht) 22.25

Exercise price per option (Baht) 17.50

Expected volatility 28.25%

Options term life (Years) 5

Expected dividend per share (Baht) 0.18

Risk-free interest rate 3.09%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The Group recorded the transaction for the employee stock option plan as follow;

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Statement of financial position as at 31 December

Investments in subsidiaries - - 17,738 7,596

Warrants (20,004) (8,431) (20,004) (8,431)

Statement of comprehensive income  
for the year ended 31 December

Administrative expenses 11,573 8,431 1,431 835
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

21 Re�erve�

Reserves comprise:

Appropriations of profit and/or retained earnings

Legal reserve

Section 116 of the Public Companies Act B.E. 2535 Section 116 requires that a public company shall allocate not less than 
5% of its annual net profit, less any accumulated losses brought forward, to a reserve account (“legal reserve”), until this 
account reaches an amount not less than 10% of the registered authorised capital. The legal reserve is not available for 
dividend distribution.

Corporate social responsibility reserve

The shareholders approved the appropriation up to maximum of 2% of its consolidated profit after tax to support its corporate 
social responsibility activities. The Group recorded corporate social responsibility reserve during the year ended 31 December 
2015 of Baht 13.9 million (2014: Baht 10.0 million) in the consolidated and the separate financial statements. During the year 
ended 31 December 2015, the Company donated an amount of Baht 0.5 million (2014: nil) to Mechai Pattana School and 
reduced such amount from the corporate social responsibility reserve in the consolidated and the separate statements of 
changes in equity.

Other components of equity

Currency translation differences

The currency translation differences account within equity comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation 
of the financial statements of foreign entities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

22 Segment information 

Business segments

The Group comprises the following main business segments:

Segment 1 Brands 
Segment 2 Distribution
Segment 3 OEM (“Original Equipment Manufacture”)

“Brands” represents a business segment in which goods are manufactured and sold under brands owned by the Group.

“Distribution” represents a service business segment in which the Group provides logistical and marketing services for goods 
trading purpose and sale of goods manufactured by third parties.

“OEM” represents a business segment in which goods are manufactured for third parties under brands not owned by the Group.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is included below. Performance is measured based on segment 
profit before tax, as included in the internal management reports that are reviewed by the Group’s CODM. Segment profit 
before tax is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating 
the results of certain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries.

Inter-segment charge

The distribution segment provides service to the brand segment in which the inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s 
length basis.

Segment profit before tax 

The segment profit before tax is derived from reportable segment revenue minus allocated cost for each segment and inter-
segment charges.

Segment assets and liabilities 

Segment assets and liabilities are based on the allocation to each segment of the assets and liabilities which are used for 
the operations of each segment
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Reconciliation of reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities

2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Profit or loss

Total profit for reportable segments 1,089,157 925,365

Unallocated amounts:

Other corporate expenses (138,216) (162,378)

Depreciation and amortization (145,243) (131,431)

Finance costs (12,542) (17,134)

Other income 34,834 23,715

Income tax expenses (132,249) (90,289)

Consolidated profit 695,741 547,848

Assets 

Total assets for reportable segments 4,505,377 3,858,631

Other unallocated amounts 3,107,170 2,873,219

Consolidated total assets 7,612,547 6,731,850

Liabilities 

Total liabilities for reportable segments 1,564,584 1,230,758

Other unallocated amounts 1,713,295 1,522,830

Consolidated total liabilities 3,277,879 2,753,588
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

2� Emplo�ee �enefit e�pen�e� 

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Management

Salaries, wages and bonus 126,391 79,503 16,740 15,668

Contribution to provident fund 413 409 268 266

Contribution to retirement fund 718 818 453 593

Expense for employee stock option plan 286 167 286 167

Total 127,808 80,897 17,747 16,694

Other employees

Salaries, wages and bonus 1,213,918 1,168,710 399,024 342,932

Contribution to provident fund 39,291 19,956 5,809 5,704

Contribution to retirement fund 14,829 11,131 7,263 8,608

Expense for employee stock option plan 11,287 8,264 1,145 668

Total 1,279,325 1,208,061 413,241 357,912

The defined contribution plans comprise provident funds established by the Group for its employees. Membership to the 
funds is on a voluntary basis. Contributions are made monthly by the employees and by the Group at rates of 3% of the 
employees basic salaries. The provident funds are registered with the Ministry of Finance as juristic entities and are managed 
by a licensed Fund Manager.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

2� E�pen�e� �� nat�re

The statements of comprehensive income include an analysis of expenses by function. Expenses by nature disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of various TFRS were as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Included in cost of sales of goods and  
rendering of services:

Changes in inventories of finished goods  
and work in progress (332,539) (5,066) (147,562) 23,271

Raw materials and consumables used 4,126,827 3,895,583 962,693 887,865
Personnel expenses 410,933 397,521 290,669 267,901
Depreciation and amortisation 87,648 80,602 67,456 61,130
Others 245,431 256,270 182,163 189,698
Total 4,538,300 4,624,910 1,355,419 1,429,865

Included in selling expenses:
Advertising and promotion expenses 989,551 910,372 313,573 206,118
Personnel expenses 495,879 442,333 6,186 (7,409)
Freight expenses 109,974 105,237 47,459 35,610
Commission fees 2,701 4,557 37,463 25,305
Depreciation and amortization 1,558 1,669 - -
Others 117,458 100,002 13,577 3,801
Total 1,717,121 1,564,170 418,258 263,425

Included in administrative expenses:
Personnel expenses 500,321 449,104 134,133 114,114
Traveling expenses 122,152 133,546 27,710 25,839
Depreciation and amortization 56,037 49,160 5,190 4,727
Operating lease expense 48,649 46,880 2,728 2,951
Bad debt expense 29,839 1,887 16,928 -
Drug developments expenses 29,108 24,598 19,935 13,516
Professional fees 26,152 32,672 10,715 15,814
Support service expense - - 33,465 -
Others 188,519 169,307 64,500 66,527
Total 1,000,777 907,154 315,304 243,488
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

25 Finance co�t�

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Interest expense: 

Subsidiaries 4 - - - 43

Bank loans and overdrafts 11,329 17,116 6,729 11,256

Total interest expense 11,329 17,116 6,729 11,299

Other finance costs 1,213 18 12 18

Total 12,542 17,134 6,741 11,317

2� Income ta� e�pen�e

Income tax recognised in profit or loss

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Current tax expense

Current year 141,341 112,546 55,528 27,838

Adjustment for prior years 6,408 (5,677) - (5,607)

147,749 106,869 55,528 22,231

Deferred tax expense 

Movements in temporary differences 14 (15,500) (16,580) (18,410) (3,315)

Total income tax expense 132,249 90,289 37,118 18,916
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

Consolidated financial statements

2015 2014

Rate Rate

(%) (in thousand Baht) (%) (in thousand Baht)

Profit before income tax expense 827,990 638,137

Income tax using the Thai corporation tax rates 20 165,598 20 127,627

Effect of difference tax rates in foreign 
jurisdictions 30,107 8,775

Income not subject to tax

- Promotional privileges (75,851) (45,668)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 5,987 5,232

Adjustments for prior years 6,408 (5,677)

Total 16 132,249 14 90,289

Separate financial statements

2015 2014

Rate Rate

(%) (in thousand Baht) (%) (in thousand Baht)

Profit before income tax expense 563,876 650,585

Income tax using the corporation tax rate 20 112,775 20 130,117

Income not subject to tax

- Dividends - (60,000)

- Promotional privileges (75,851) (45,668)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 194 74

Adjustments for prior years - (5,607)

Total 7 37,118 3 18,916

Income tax reduction

Royal Decree No. 577 B.E. 2557 dated 10 November 2014 grants the reduction of the corporate income tax rate to 20% of 
taxable profit for the accounting period 2015 which begins on or after 1 January 2015.

On 22 January 2016, The National Legislative Assembly has approved a reduction of the statutory corporate income tax rate 
from 30% to 20% of net taxable profit for the accounting period which begins on or after 1 January 2016.

The Group has applied the tax rate of 20% in measuring deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 
in accordance with the clarification issued by the FAP in 2012.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

27 Promotional privilege�

By virtue of the provisions of the Industrial Investment Promotion Act of B.E. 2520, the Company has been granted privileges 
by the Board of Investment relating to manufacturing of medicines starting from 31 July 2012. The privileges granted include:

(a) exemption from payment of import duty on machinery approved by the Board; 

(b) exemption from payment of income tax for certain operations for a period of five years from the date on which the income 
is first derived from such operations;

As promoted companies, the Company must comply with certain terms and conditions prescribed in the promotional certificates.

Summary of revenue from promoted and non-promoted businesses:

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014

Non- Non-

Promoted promoted Promoted promoted

businesses businesses Total businesses businesses Total

(in thousand Baht)

Export sales 1,013,677 926,878 1,940,555 865,225 679,213 1,544,438

Local sales 383,297 214,839 598,136 454,078 263,650 717,728

Total revenues 1,396,974 1,141,717 2,538,691 1,319,303 942,863 2,262,166
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

2� Earning� per ��are

Basic and diluted earnings per share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 were based on 
the profit of the Company and the number of ordinary shares for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders outstanding 
during the years as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements 

Separate 
financial statements 

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht / thousand shares)

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
the Company 695,747 547,880 526,758 631,669

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 865,249 865,249 865,249 865,249

Basic and diluted earnings per share (in Baht) 0.80 0.63 0.61 0.73

Diluted earnings per share

During 2014, the Company issued warrants to employees, the issue of warrants (note 20) does not have a dilutive effect on 
the earnings per share calculation because the fair value of the service yet to be rendered together with the exercise prices 
exceeds the average market price of ordinary shares during the financial period.

29 �ivi�en��

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 13 August 2015, the directors approved the appropriation of interim dividends 
of Baht 0.16 per share, amounting to Baht 138.4 million. The interim dividends were paid during September 2015.

At the annual general meeting of the shareholders of the Company held on 10 April 2015, the shareholders approved the 
appropriation of dividends of Baht 0.25 per share, amounting to Baht 216.3 million. The dividends were paid during April 2015.

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 13 August 2014, the directors approved the appropriation of interim dividends 
of Baht 0.10 per share, amounting to Baht 86.5 million. The interim dividends were paid during September 2014.

At the annual general meeting of the shareholders of the Company held on 11 April 2014, the shareholders approved the 
appropriation of dividends of Baht 0.18 per share, amounting to Baht 156.0 million. The dividends were paid during May 2014.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

�0 Financial in�tr�ment�

Financial risk management policies

The Group is exposed to normal business risks from changes in market interest rates and currency exchange rates and from 
non-performance of contractual obligations by counterparties. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments 
for speculative or trading purposes.

Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group. The Group has a system of controls in place to create an 
acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The management continually 
monitors the Group’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved.

Capital management 

The Board of Directors’ policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. The Board monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as 
result from operating activities divided by total shareholders’ equity, excluding non-controlling interests and monitors the level 
of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that future movements in market interest rates will affect the results of the Group’s operations 
and its cash flows because loan interest rates are mainly float. The Group is primarily exposed to interest rate risk from its 
borrowing (Note 15).

The sensitivity of the interest expense of the Group is the hypothetical change in interest expense as a result of possible 
changes in market rates. A change in the interest rate of the Group by 1% will change the interest expense of the Group by 
Baht 7 million (2014: Baht 6 million).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The effective interest rates of fixed deposits at financial institutions and short-term loan to related party as at 31 December 
and the periods in which those fixed deposits mature or re-price were as follows

Consolidated financial statements 

Effective 
interest rate

Within 1 year After 1 year but 
within 5 years

Total

(% per annum) (in thousand Baht)

2015

Current 

Fixed deposit - Financial institutions 1.73 - 3.00 951,111 - 951,111

Total 951,111 - 951,111

2014

Current 

Fixed deposit - Financial institutions 3.00 433,832 - 433,832

Non-current

Fixed deposit - Financial institutions 3.00 - 506,539 506,539

Total 433,832 506,539 940,371

Separate financial statements

Effective  
interest rate

Within 1 year After 1 year but 
within 5 years

Total

(% per annum) (in thousand Baht)

2015

Current 

Fixed deposit - Financial institutions 1.73 - 3.00 951,111 - 951,111

Total 951,111 - 951,111

2014

Current 

Fixed deposit - Financial institutions 3.00 432,775 - 432,775

Short-term loan to related party 1.65 30,000 - 30,000

Non-current

Fixed deposit - Financial institutions 3.00 - 506,539 506,539

Total 462,775 506,539 969,314
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

The effective interest rates of interest-bearing financial liabilities as at 31 December and the periods in which those liabilities 
mature or re-price were as follows:

Consolidated financial statements 

Effective 
interest rate

Within 1 year After 1 year but 
within 5 years

Total

(% per annum) (in thousand Baht)

2015

Current 

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans from  
financial institutions 1.12 - 6.85 543,270 - 543,270

Current portion of long-term loans  
from financial institutions 2.09 – 2.73 82,543 - 82,543

Current portion of finance lease liabilities 3.10 - 12.83 8,421 - 8,421

Non-current

Long-term loans from financial institutions 2.09 - 2.73 - 67,954 67,954

Finance lease liabilities 3.10 - 12.83 - 16,318 16,318

Total 634,234 84,272 718,506

2014

Current 

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans  
from financial institutions 1.10 - 1.51 354,188 - 354,188

Current portion of long-term loans  
from financial institutions 2.05 - 2.44 75,392 - 75,392

Current portion of finance lease liabilities 3.63 - 10.97 198 - 198

Non-current

Long-term loans from financial institutions 2.05 - 2.44 - 137,173 137,173

Finance lease liabilities 3.63 - 10.97 - 185 185

Total 429,778 137,358 567,136
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Separate financial statements

Effective 
interest rate

Within 1 year After 1 year but 
within 5 years

Total

(% per annum) (in thousand Baht)

2015

Current 

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans  
from financial institutions 1.31 264,041 - 264,041

Current portion of long-term loans  
from financial institutions 2.73 48,435 - 48,435

Current portion of finance lease liabilities 10.97 69 - 69

Non-current

Long-term loans from financial institutions 2.73 - 48,000 48,000

Total 312,545 48,000 360,545

2014

Current 

Bank overdrafts and short-term loans  
from financial institutions 1.49 262,865 - 262,865

Current portion of long-term loans  
from financial institutions 2.44 44,239 - 44,239

Current portion of finance lease liabilities 10.97 75 - 75

Loans payable - related parties 1.70 2,543 - 2,543

Non-current

Long-term loans from financial institutions 2.44 - 87,795 87,795

Finance lease liabilities 10.97 - 69 69

Total 309,722 87,864 397,586
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk relating to purchases, sales, borrowing and investment which are denominated 
in foreign currencies.

At 31 December, the Group and the Company were exposed to foreign currency risk in respect of financial assets and liabilities 
denominated in the following currencies:

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

United States Dollars (USD)

Cash and cash equivalents 5 100,229 75,999 13 21

Fixed deposits at financial institutions 6 - 1,057 - -

Trade accounts receivable 7 1,451,911 1,290,445 892,012 709,997

Interest-bearing liabilities 15 (689,425) (558,587) (360,476) (386,733)

Trade accounts payable 16 (1,202,485) (1,058,289) (88,820) (39,046)

Gross balance sheet exposure (339,770) (249,375) 442,729 284,239

Australian Dollars (AUD)

Cash and cash equivalents 5 5 11,170 - -

Trade accounts receivable 7 77,549 55,183 - 26,094

Interest-bearing liabilities 15 (4,341) - - -

Trade accounts payable 16 (14,860) (7,810) (17,668) (21,108)

Gross balance sheet exposure 58,353 58,543 (17,668) 4,986

Euro (EUR)

Trade accounts receivable 7 43,854 18,279 43,854 18,279

Trade accounts payable 16 (29,930) (13,204) (20,000) (9,523)

Gross balance sheet exposure 13,924 5,075 23,854 8,756

Nigerian Naira (NGN)

Cash and cash equivalents 5 61,919 16,284 - -

Trade accounts receivable 7 62,433 56,407 - -

Gross balance sheet exposure 124,352 72,691 - -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Note 2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Vietnamese Dong (VND)

Cash and cash equivalents 5 11,675 13,144 - -

Trade accounts receivable 7 145,664 109,007 - -

Trade accounts payable 16 (32,344) (17,017) - -

Gross balance sheet exposure 124,995 105,134 - -

Burmese Kyat (MMK)

Cash and cash equivalents 5 32,082 54,229 - -

Interest-bearing liabilities 15 (24,554) - - -

Trade accounts payable 16 (1,319) (321) - -

Gross balance sheet exposure 6,209 53,908 - -

Others

Cash and cash equivalents 5 24,002 10,113 - -

Trade accounts receivable 7 38,270 41,646 9,319 -

Trade accounts payable 16 (5,686) (452) (1,972) (54)

Gross balance sheet exposure 56,586 51,307 7,347 (54)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the potential financial loss resulting from the failure of a customer or counterparty to settle its financial and 
contractual obligations to the Group as and when they fall due.

Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations 
are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. At the reporting date there were no significant 
concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial 
asset in the statement of financial position. However, due to the large number of parties comprising the Group’s customer 
base, Management does not anticipate material losses from its debt collection. 

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management 
to finance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amount of the following financial assets: cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivable, current investments 
and advance to suppliers and distributors and that of financial liabilities: bank overdraft and short-term loans from financial 
institutions, trade and other payable, short-term loan to related party, income tax payable and accrued expense are the 
reasonable approximation of fair value because they are mostly short term in nature. Carrying amount of long-term loans from 
financial institution approximates fair value as they are referent to floating interest rates index.

Financial liabilities are not measured at fair value

Financial lease liabilities are not measured at fair value and for which there is a significant difference with carrying value as 
of 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

(in thousand Baht)

Finance lease liabilities 24,739 23,512 69 69

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair values have been determined for measurement 
and/or disclosure purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions 
made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

�1 Commitment� wit� non�relate� partie�

Consolidated 
financial statements

Separate 
financial statements

2015 2014 2015 2014

(in thousand Baht)

Capital commitments

Contracted but not provided for:

Land 94,080 129,074 94,080 94,080

Buildings and other constructions 49,150 24,414 49,150 22,331

Vehicles 5,289 - - -

Total 148,519 153,488 143,230 116,411

Non-cancellable operating lease Commitments

Within one year 39,417 19,447 7,097 7,812

After one year but within five years 39,151 12,913 10,319 1,200

Total 78,568 32,360 17,416 9,012

Other commitments

Purchase orders for goods and supplies 123,315 166,099 123,315 166,099

Bank guarantees 46,779 63,108 46,779 61,108

Total 170,094 229,207 170,094 227,207

Operating lease agreements

The Group has various operating lease agreement for office and warehouse rental. The period of agreements is variable from 
0.5-4 years.

Distribution and service agreements

The Group has entered into usually exclusive distribution and service agreements with third parties in various countries. The 
compensation for the distributors is variable and depends on the volume of business carried out. The compensation accruing 
to the Group is usually fixed and revised periodically. The agreements can usually be terminated within a year without the 
Group incurring significant obligations.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2015, the Company had contingent liabilities with financial institutions to guarantee the Company’s 
subsidiaries in respect of line of credit use for amount up to Baht 1,225 million and U.S. Dollars 13 million (31 December 
2014: Baht 1,340 million and U.S. Dollars 13 million).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

�2 Event� after t�e reporting �ate

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 25 February 2016, the Board approved the appropriation of dividends 
of Baht 0.24 per share, amounting to Baht 207.7 million. The dividends are subject to the approval by the annual general 
shareholders’ meeting. 

�� T�ai Financial Reporting Stan�ar�� �TFRS� not �et a�opte� 

A number of new and revised TFRS have been issued but are not yet effective and have not been applied in preparing these 
financial statements. Those new and revised TFRS that may be relevant to the Group’s operations, which become effective 
for annual financial periods beginning on or after 1 January in the year indicated, are set out below. The Group does not plan 
to adopt these TFRS early.

TFRS Topic Year effective

TAS 1 (revised 2015) Presentation of Financial Statements 2016

TAS 2 (revised 2015) Inventories 2016

TAS 7 (revised 2015) Statement of Cash Flows 2016

TAS 8 (revised 2015) Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates 
and Errors

2016

TAS 10 (revised 2015) Events After the Reporting Period 2016

TAS 12 (revised 2015) Income Taxes 2016

TAS 16 (revised 2015) Property, Plant and Equipment 2016

TAS 17 (revised 2015) Leases 2016

TAS 18 (revised 2015) Revenue 2016

TAS 19 (revised 2015) Employee Benefits 2016

TAS 21 (revised 2015) The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates 2016

TAS 23 (revised 2015) Borrowing Costs 2016

TAS 24 (revised 2015) Related Party Disclosures 2016

TAS 27 (revised 2015) Separate Financial Statements 2016

TAS 28 (revised 2015) Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 2016

TAS 33 (revised 2015) Earnings Per Share 2016

TAS 34 (revised 2015) Interim Financial Reporting 2016

TAS 36 (revised 2015) Impairment of Assets 2016

TAS 37 (revised 2015) Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 2016

TAS 38 (revised 2015) Intangible Assets 2016

TAS 40 (revised 2015) Investment Property 2016

TFRS 2 (revised 2015) Share-based Payment 2016

TFRS 8 (revised 2015) Operating Segments 2016
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mega Lifesciences Public Company Limited and its Subsidiaries

for the year ended 31 December 2015

TFRS Topic Year effective

TFRS 10 (revised 2015) Consolidated Financial Statements 2016

TFRS 11 (revised 2015) Joint Arrangements 2016

TFRS 12 (revised 2015) Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 2016

TFRS 13 (revised 2015) Fair Value Measurement 2016

TFRIC 10 (revised 2015) Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment 2016

The Group has made a preliminary assessment of the potential initial impact on the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of these new and revised TFRS and expects that there will be no material impact on the financial statements in 
the period of initial application. 

�� Recla��ification of acco�nt�

Certain accounts in the 2014 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in the 2015 financial 
statements. The significant reclassifications were as follows:

2014

Consolidated financial statements

Before reclass. Reclass. After reclass.

(in thousand Baht)

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 

Trade accounts receivable 2,116,051 (92,289) 2,023,762

Other receivables 181,595 92,289 273,884

Advances to suppliers and distributors 119,254 9,411 128,665

Trade accounts payable (1,403,926) 98,042 (1,305,884)

Other payables (265,396) (98,042) (363,438)

Accrued expenses (356,829) (9,411) (366,240)

-

Statement of comprehensive income  
for the year ended 31 December

Cost of sales of goods and rendering of services 4,613,262 11,648 4,624,910

Selling expenses 1,530,857 33,313 1,564,170

Administrative expenses 952,115 (44,961) 907,154

-

The reclassifications have been made because, in the opinion of management, the new classification is more appropriate to 
the Group’s business. 
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THE MEGA VALUES 
RESPECT eac� ot�er� �ifference�

FREE�OM in �o�r wor� an� per�onal live� 
TRUST �o�r a� an a��lt

TRUTH in w�at we �o ever��a�

THE MEGA �A� 
i� to ��il� a t�in�ing organi�ation 

w�ic� will c�ange �efore 
it i� force� to an� live an� 
grow �e�on� eac� of ��

THE MEGA 
O��ECTIVE  

i� to create val�e �� mar�eting 
an� �elling me�icine� in 

�eveloping co�ntrie�

THE MEGA 
COMMITMENT

committe� to provi�e ��alit� pro��ct� 
an� �ervice� to o�r c��tomer� t�ro�g� 

con�tant improvement an�
Innovation




